

# **COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT**

Between

# **MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY**

and

MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY ADMINISTRATIVE-PROFESSIONAL SUPERVISORS ASSOCIATION

November 18, 2023 – September 30, 2027

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Article		Page
	PURPOSE AND INTENT	9
1	TERMS OF AGREEMENT	9
	Agreement	9
	Successor Negotiations	10
	Effective Date	10
2	DEFINITIONS	12
	Employment Status	12
	Status of Employment	12
	Hours of Employment Status	13
	Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Service Months	13
	Proportional Benefits	15
	Definition of Terms	15
3	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND SECURITY	16
	Management Rights	17
	Management Security	17
4	ASSOCIATION RECOGNITION	18
	Recognition	18
	Certified and/or Recognition of the Association	18
5	ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	21
	Rights	21
	Rules and Regulations	21
	No Discrimination	21
	Bargaining Unit Work	21
	Release Time	22
	Association President	22
	Association Representative	22
	Election Committee	23
	Bargaining Committee	23
	Lost Time	23
	Education Classes	23
	A COOCUATION CECUBITY	2.5
6	ASSOCIATION SECURITY	24
	Membership Charles off	24
	Check-off	24

	Disputes Concerning Compliance	25
	Revocation Cards	25
	Aid to Other Labor Organizations	25
	Other Agreements	25
7	SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES	26
	Employee Rights	26
	Grievance Committee	27
	Time Limits	27
	Waiver of Grievance Steps	27
	Computation of Back Wages	27
	Reprimand, Suspension or Discharge	27
	Grievances Concerning Discipline	28
	Grievance Definition and Procedure	28
	Definition of Grievance	28
	Group Grievance	28
	Association Assistance	29
	Formal Grievance Procedure	29
	Step 1	29
	Step 2	29
	Step 3	30
	Arbitration	30
	Arbitrator's Powers	30
	Excluded From Arbitration	31
	Finality of Decisions	31
	Special Conferences	31
	Association-Employer Meetings	31
	Medical Disputes	32
8	FLEXIBLE APPOINTMENTS	33
	Definition	33
	General Provisions	33
	Flexible Positions	34
	Flexible Appointments	34
	Fringe Benefits	35
	Probationary Periods	36
	Other Employment	36
	Return to Active Employment	36
	Salary Payments	37
	Hours Worked Records	37
	Position Maintenance	37
	Expedited Disputes	37

	Notice Requirements	37
9	REDUCTION IN FORCE	38
	General Provisions	38
	Units	40
	Recall from Layoff	51
	Layoff Transition Adjustment	52
	Termination	53
	Unused Sick Leave Credits	54
10	FILLING VACANT POSITIONS	55
	Procedure	55
	Interviews	56
11	CLASSIFICATION/RECLASSIFICATION OF POSITIONS	57
	New Classifications and Rates	57
	Reclassifications	57
	Interim Assignments	57
	Salary Rate	57
12	PROMOTION/DEMOTION	59
	Promotion	59
	Demotion	59
13	PROBATIONARY/TRIAL PERIOD	60
	Probationary Period	60
	Written Evaluations	60
	Trial Period	60
14	SENIORITY	62
	Definition	62
	Loss of Seniority	62
45	OFFICIAL DEDCOMMEL FOLDED(C)	62
15	OFFICIAL PERSONNEL FOLDER(S)	63
	Right to Examine	63
	Procedure Notice and Employee Statements	63
	Notice and Employee Statements	63
	Past Counseling Memorandums	63
	Past Counseling Memorandums	64
16	ADSENCES	65
16	ABSENCES	65 65
	Procedure	05

17	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	65
	Absences Without Pay [Ten (10) Days or Less]	65
	Absences Without Pay Including Layoff [Exceeding Ten (10) Days]	65
	Usage	66
	Educational Leave of Absence for Veterans	67
18	COMPENSATION PROGRAMS	68
	Salary Progression	68
	Salary Increase 2023	69
	Salary Increase 204	69
	Salary Increase 2025 - 2026	69
	Minimum Hiring Levels	69
	New Minimum Rates	69
	Overtime	70
	Longevity Pay	71
	Payment Schedule	72
	Benefit Overview	72
19	HEALTH BENEFITS	73
	Health Care Coverage	73
	Dental Plan	74
20	INSURANCE PROGRAMS	75
	Employee Paid Life Plan	75
	Accidental Death and Dismemberment	76
	Basic Life Plan	76
	Travel Accident Plan	76
	Retire/Over 65 Life Plan	76
21	LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITH PAY	77
	General Provisions	77
	Bereavement Leave	77
	Holidays	78
	Jury Duty Pay	79
	Maternity Leave	79
	Military Duty Pay	80
	Personal Leave Days	80
	Sick Leave	81
	General Provisions	81
	Coordination with Other Types of Pay or Benefits	82
	Full-Time Part-Time Status Considerations	83

	Other Provisions	83
	Vacation Pay	84
	Usage Requirements	84
22	EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS	86
	Educational Assistance	86
	Tuition Reimbursement	88
	Release Time	88
	Eligibility	88
	Tuition Waiver	88
	Non-Credit Courses	89
	Course Fee Courtesy Policy	90
	Course Fee Courtesy Program	90
23	RETIREMENT BENEFITS	93
	Contributions	93
	Other Retirement Information	94
24	WORKERS' COMPENSATION AND DISABILITY	95
5	Workers' Compensation	95
	Workers' Compensation (Long Term)	95
	Extended Disability Leave	95
	Long Term Disability Plan	96
25	SPECIAL PROVISIONS	97
25		
	Scheduling On-Call	97
		97 97
	Patrol Sergeants-Uniform Division-Twelve (12) Hour Work Shifts  8 Hour Work Days	99
	Fallen Officer Leave	102
	Holiday/Special Pass Days	102
	Automobiles and Equipment	102
	Uniforms	103
	Miscellaneous	103
	Salary Progression	103
26		10-
26	SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR COMMUNITY DIRECTORS	107
	Compensation	107
	Automatic Progression Level (APL)	108
	Notices	108
	APPENDIX I	109

Job Classifications and Levels	109
 LETTERS OF AGREEMENT	125
 Overtime, Call-back, Shift Differential	125
Electronic Copy of Agreement	128
Paid Parental Leave	129
Additional Pay for Non-Standard Schedules	132
Drug Testing	133
DPPS Scheduling	134
 Classification Review	135

# **PURPOSE AND INTENT**

- -1 Both parties mutually agree that it is the intent and purpose of this Agreement to assure sound and mutually beneficial working and economic relationships between the parties hereto, to provide an orderly and peaceful means of resolving any misunderstandings or differences which may arise, and to set forth herein the basic agreement between the parties concerning rates of pay, wages, hours of employment and other conditions of employment. It is further agreed that the parties will, at all times, abide by the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth and agreed upon.
- -2 The parties recognize that the interest of the Employer and job security of the Employees depend upon the Employer's success in establishing a proper service to the State.
- -3 To these ends, the Employer and the Administrative Professional Supervisors Association encourage to the fullest degree friendly and cooperative relations between the respective representatives at all levels and among all Employees.
- The University and the Association recognize the moral principles involved in the area of civil rights, fair employment practices and affirmative action, and have reaffirmed in their Collective Bargaining Agreement their commitment not to discriminate because of age, color, creed, familial status, gender, gender identity, disability, height, marital status, national origin, political persuasion, race, religion, sexual orientation, veteran status, weight, or hair texture and protective hairstyles.

# ARTICLE 1

#### TERMS OF AGREEMENT

#### AGREEMENT

- -5 THIS AGREEMENT, entered into this 18th day of November, 2023, is effective November 18, 2023, between the Board of Trustees of Michigan State University (hereinafter referred to as the "Employer") and the Michigan State University Administrative Professional Supervisors Association (hereinafter referred to as the "Association", "Union", or "APSA").
- -6 Whenever the words University or Employer appear in this Agreement, they shall mean Michigan State University.
- -7 Whenever the words Association, Union, or APSA appear in this Agreement, it shall mean Michigan State University Administrative Professional Supervisors Association.

- -8 The Association will furnish the Office of Employee Relations with the names of its Executive Board members and such changes as may occur from time to time with such personnel. The Employer will in return, keep the Association advised as to its representatives.
- -9 No provision of this Agreement or any supplement thereto shall be waived or modified in any way unless such waiver or modification is agreed to in writing between the Employer and the Association.
- -10 Throughout this Agreement, any reference made to gender shall be gender inclusive.
- -11 For the purpose of this Agreement, it is expressly understood and agreed by the parties hereto, that introductory titles or headings preceding the Articles set forth herein, shall not be held to in any way affect the substance, meaning or intent of any of the terms or provisions of said Article(s) contained in this Agreement.
- -12 If any provision of this Agreement, or any supplement thereto, is found invalid by operation of law or by any board or court of competent jurisdiction, or if compliance with or enforcement of any provision should permanently be restrained by any such court, the remainder of this Agreement, and any supplements thereto, shall remain in full force and effect, and the Employer and the Association at the request of either party, shall enter into negotiations for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for such provision or supplement.

# **SUCCESSOR NEGOTIATIONS**

- -13 This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until 11:59 p. m. , September 30, 2027.
- Notice to modify, alter, amend, renegotiate or change, or any combination thereof, the provisions of this Agreement shall be given no later than sixty (60) days nor earlier than one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the expiration of the Agreement. Notice shall be sufficient if sent by email to the Association and if to the Employer, to the Office of Employee Relations.

# **EFFECTIVE DATE**

- -15 Except as specifically stated, this Agreement shall become effective on October 1, 2023 or upon full ratification, whichever is later.
- -16 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, by affixing their signatures below, the individuals signing this Agreement certify that they possess the necessary authority to legally bind and commit their respective party to the terms and conditions as set forth in it and have, therefore, set their hands this \_\_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2024.

# MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY ADMINISTRATIVE PROFESSIONAL SUPERVISORS ASSOCIATION

# **MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY**

Jose Martin Garza	Thomas Glasmacher, Interim Executive
APSA President	Vice President for Administration
	. 0.
Mike Ouderkirk	Amy B. Holda, Interim Director
APSA Vice President	Office of Employee Relations
	Additional University bargaining team members:
Aaron Minnis	Suzanne Konkle
APSA Vice President	Sr. Human Resources Professional I
	Office of Employee Relations
	Jordan Skjaerlund
Karla Bauer	<b>Business Applications Analyst II</b>
APSA Membership Secretary	HR Information Technology
	Peggy Gallandt, Human Resources Analyst
	Human Resources
Randy Brown	
APSA Corresponding Secretary	Sherri Reese, Director of Talent
	Human Resources
	Michelle Rutkowski
James Terrill	Sr. Human Resources Officer
APSA Director	Infrastructure, Planning and Facilities
- 10	Kelly High McCord, HR Director
	Student Life & Engagement Human Resources
Sam Fortino APSA Director	
APSA Director	Charles Tobey, Employee Relations Manager
	Student Life & Engagement Human Resources
	Narayanan Parameswaran
	Professor of Physiology and Senior Associate
	Dean, College of Human Medicine

# **DEFINITIONS**

# **EMPLOYMENT STATUS**

-17 Employees have an employment status designated as regular, flexible, or off-date appointments. The number of hours regularly scheduled to be worked each week may range from full-time to part-time.

#### STATUS OF EMPLOYMENT

-18

Regular: Employee works a continuing schedule of predetermined hours each

week.

Flexible: Type 1: Full-time active employment for nine (9), ten (10), or eleven

(11) months per year with a prescheduled unpaid leave of absence with continued benefits ("flex-leave") during the

remaining months.

Type 2: 75-89% of a 40 hour per week active employment over the

entire calendar year (30-35 hours per week) with part-time

equivalent salary.

Off-Date: At the time of appointment to the position an estimated ending or

"off-date" is given. This ending date is the latest date the Employee is intended to work. It may be extended by written mutual agreement. The Employee shall be provided a sixty (60) day notice of non-renewal of an

off-date appointment.

Off-date Employees hired for nine (9) months or more are designated

"Regular."

Off-date Employees are not eligible for University layoff procedures.

An Off-date Employee with at least two (2) years of University service whose appointment is not continued shall be permitted to apply as if an on-campus candidate for vacant positions under the provisions of Article 10, Filling Vacant Positions, for a period of two (2) years following the end

of the Off-date appointment.

# **HOURS OF EMPLOYMENT STATUS**

- -19 A. Full-time Employee An Employee who regularly works from thirty-six (36) hours to forty (40) hours per week.
  - B. Three-Quarter-Time Employee An Employee who regularly works twenty-six (26) hours but less than thirty-six (36) hours per week. A Flex Time Type 2 appointment is not a three-quarter time appointment.
  - C. Half-Time Employee An Employee who regularly works twenty (20) hours but less than twenty-six (26) hours per week.
  - D. Full-time Employees who are involuntarily reduced to eighty-nine (89%) percent time or less shall have bypass rights to vacant lateral or lower-level positions. The employing unit will determine, by interview, if the Employee seeking bypass possesses the qualifications and ability to fill the vacant position.

# **FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE) SERVICES MONTHS**

- E. Full-time equivalent (FTE) service months is defined as the cumulative full-time equivalent (FTE) months of service for University employment of 50. 0% or greater. FTE service months will be used in determining eligibility for University benefits which require a service waiting period.
- F. FTE service months will be credited each month as follows:
  - a) 1. 00 credit per month for full-time (90% 100%) Employees
  - b) . 75 credit per month for 3/4 time (65% 89. 9%) Employees
  - c) . 50 credit per month for 1/2 time (50% 64. 9%) Employees
- G. For new hires, terminations, percent of employment changes, etc., FTE service months will be credited based on an Employee's status as of the 15th of the month.
- H. Employees on paid and unpaid leaves of absence or layoff will continue to accrue FTE service months for up to two (2) years of the leave based on their percent of employment immediately before the leave/layoff.
- I. An official retiree requires a minimum of fifteen (15) or more years of service and at least age sixty-two (62) or twenty-five (25) years of service at any age. Employees meeting the minimum official retirement requirements, and whose most recent hire date is prior to July 1, 2010, may receive a University contribution toward health, prescription, and dental coverage. The level of University contribution will be determined by the Employee's full-time equivalent (FTE)

service months at retirement, position, and date of hire. In addition, official retirees may be eligible to participate in other University sponsored benefits.

1. If an Employee whose most recent hire date is prior to July 1, 2010 retires with fifteen (15) or more years of service and is at least age sixty-two (62), the following FTE service month ranges will determine their health, prescription drug coverage and dental contribution level during retirement.

FTE Service Months			
			Full
	1/2 Contribution	3/4 Contribution	Contribution
	(50% - 64. 9%)	(65% - 89. 9%)	(90% - 100%)
Service			
Months	90. 00 - 116. 99	117. 00 - 161. 99	162. 00 - 999. 99

2. If an Employee whose most recent hire date is prior to July 1, 2010 retires with twenty-five (25) or more years of service at any age, the following FTE service month ranges will determine their health, prescription drug coverage and dental contribution level during retirement.

FTE Service Months			
			Full
	1/2 Contribution	3/4 Contribution	Contribution
	(50% - 64. 9%)	(65% - 89. 9%)	(90% - 100%)
Service			270. 00 – 999.
Months	150. 00 – 194. 99	195. 00 – 269. 99	99

J. University Contribution Criteria toward retiree Health and Dental.

University retiree contribution levels are based on the number of Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Service Months at retirement.

Employee whose most recent hire date is prior to 7/01/02	University contribution toward the premium will apply to the lowest cost MSU health, prescription, and dental coverage for the retiree, spouse, and eligible dependents.
Employee whose most recent hire date is on or after 7/01/02 and prior to 7/01/10	University contribution toward the premium will apply to the lowest cost MSU health, prescription, and dental coverage for the retiree only. The retiree may elect to continue coverage for spouse and eligible dependents by paying the applicable premium.
Employee whose most recent hire date is on or after 7/01/10	The retiree may elect to continue coverage for the retiree, spouse, and eligible dependents by paying the applicable premium.

K. Other Eligible Individual (OEI):

Continuation of health and dental coverage in retirement, with MSU contribution, for an Other Eligible Individual and eligible dependents may occur if the Other Eligible Individual was officially registered on or before January 1, 2009 and the MSU Employee was retired or had met the minimum retirement eligibility criteria on or before January 1, 2009.

If either of the above conditions were not met as of January 1, 2009, the Other Eligible Individual is not eligible to receive the MSU contribution; however, the Other Eligible Individual is eligible to enroll and purchase a health/dental plan consistent with the plan the retiree is enrolled in.

# **PROPORTIONAL BENEFITS**

-20 Provisions of this Agreement, unless specifically modified, shall be apportioned to persons assigned less than full-time in the following manner:

26 hours but less than 36 hours.....75% 20 hours but less than 26 hours.....50%

# **DEFINITION OF TERMS**

- -21 Base Rate of Pay is the per hour rate of the Employee not including shift differential or overtime computations.
- -22 Regular Rate of Pay is the per hour rate of the Employee including shift differential.
- -23 "Full" Workers' Compensation is the payment of workers' compensation including sick, vacation or personal accrual supplementation.
- -24 "Regular" Workers' Compensation is the payment of workers' compensation with no sick, vacation or personal leave accrual supplementation.
- -25 Layoff an involuntary separation from active employment due to lack of funds, lack of work, and/or other cause.

# MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND SECURITY

# **MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

- -26 Except as provided in this Agreement, nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to limit the Employer in any way in the exercise of the regular and customary functions of management. Such regular and customary functions include, but are not limited to, the right to
  - A. hire, promote, transfer, assign and layoff because of lack of funds, lack of work and/or other cause; discipline, suspend, demote and discharge for just cause;
  - B. decide the work to be performed, the number and location of Employees and units;
  - C. determine the methods, schedules and means of conducting activities; and promulgate policies, procedures, rules and regulations for the orderly and efficient operation of the University;
  - D. control of its properties and the maintenance of order and efficiency of the workforce;
  - E. to determine the type, kind, and schedule of services to be rendered and the work to be performed by Employees covered by this Agreement;
  - F. to make all financial decisions, including decisions concerning all accounting, bookkeeping, and other record keeping methods and procedures;
  - G. to determine the number, location, or relocation of facilities, buildings, and rooms;
  - H. to determine its organizational and business structure;
  - I. to purchase services from others;
  - J. to determine the necessity for work by Employees; and
  - K. to determine the amount and type of supervision.

The Employer and the Union expressly agree that, except as abridged by this Agreement, all powers, rights, and authority of the Employer are reserved by the Employer, and that the Employer retains sole and exclusive control over any and all matters concerning the operation, management, and administration of the University.

The Employer may require Employees to have a fitness-for-duty examination as directed by the University Physician. The Employer, for cause, may direct an Employee to go on leave but not for disciplinary action.

#### MANAGEMENT SECURITY

- -27 The parties of this Agreement mutually recognize that the services performed by Employees covered by this Agreement are services essential to the efficient operation of the University. The Association, therefore, agrees that there shall be no interruption of these services, for any cause whatsoever.
- -28 The Association recognizes that strikes by public Employees are prohibited by Act 336, Public Acts of 1947, as amended by Act 379, Public Acts of 1965 as amended, and agrees that it will comply with said Act.
- -29 The Association and its officials will not cause, support, or condone, nor shall any Employee or Employees take part in any action against or any interference with the operations of the University during the term of this Agreement.

During the term of this agreement the Employer will not lockout Employees.

#### ASSOCIATION RECOGNITION

# **RECOGNITION**

-30 Pursuant to and in accordance with all applicable Provisions of Act 379 of the Public Acts of 1965, as amended, the Employer does hereby recognize the Michigan State University Administrative Professional Supervisors Association as the exclusive collective bargaining representative for those Employees in the defined bargaining unit for the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment and other conditions of employment.

# **CERTIFIED AND/OR RECOGNITION OF THE ASSOCIATION**

-31 On April 4, 1978, the Michigan State University Supervisors Association was certified by the Michigan Employment Relations Commission in Case No. R77 F-350, as the representative for all supervisory Employees excluding teaching Employees, members of the bargaining unit represented by the Michigan State University Administrative Professional Association, students and all other Employees of Michigan State University.

On April 16, 1985, The Michigan State University Administrative Professional Supervisors Association was certified by the Michigan Employment Relations Commission in Case No. R84 H-208 as the exclusive representative for all Supervisory Administrative-Professional Employees including within that unit the following:

All regular, administrative and professional Employees serving in a supervisory capacity and located upon the main campus of Michigan State University, East Lansing (and Lansing), Ingham County, Michigan;

Excluding: Employees employed less than one-half (1/2) time, executive and non-supervisory Employees, and confidential and all other Employees.

On April 30, 2009, the parties mutually agreed that the Employer would voluntarily recognize Administrative Professional Supervisors Association as the representative for all regular, administrative and professional Employees serving in a supervisory capacity who work at the Grand Rapids, Michigan, College of Human Medicine Headquarters. Effective October 17, 2019, the parties agree the Employer will voluntarily recognize the Association as the representative for all regular, administrative and professional Employees serving in a supervisory capacity at the College of Human Medicine in Kent County, Michigan.

On April 30, 2009, as a material part of the above voluntary recognition the parties agreed further that:

To the extent legally permissible, MSU will voluntarily recognize APSA in the future when campus-

based headquarters of APSA represented groups are relocated to other areas outside of the geographic boundaries of the contract. In return APSA agrees to exclude non-represented Employees working outside of the contractual geographic boundaries in the following areas from future requests including, but not limited to, voluntary recognition, unit clarification and accretion:

- Non-campus based, statewide operations (specifically College of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Experiment Station, Extension Service, Outreach & Engagement, mentoring and research);
- b. Brook Lodge;
- Kellogg Biological Station/Hidden Lake Gardens;
- d. Bioeconomy Institute (Holland Pfizer facility);
- e. Non-campus based Medical or Clinical operations which are engaged in the direct provision of medical services;
- f. Management Education Center.

On August 25, 2009, Michigan State University and the Administrative Professional Supervisors Association signed agreements to voluntarily recognize Employees who work at the College of Osteopathic Medicine satellite locations of Detroit Medical Center and Macomb Community College's University Center and any other satellite locations not previously excluded.

On January 1, 2015, Michigan State University and the Administrative Professional Supervisors Association signed an agreement to voluntarily recognize Employees who work at the Flint, Michigan, College of Human Medicine location.

On May 31, 2011, the Michigan Employment Relations Commission certified the MSU Administrative Professional Supervisors Association in Case No. R11 C-028 as the exclusive representative for all Employees in such unit described as:

All regular, full-time sworn Employees of the Michigan State University Police Department whose positions are classified as Sergeants.

# Excluding:

All other Employees in this Department are excluded from recognition in this bargaining unit such as Employees in positions classified as Director, Police Officers, crossing guard, student clerical personnel and full-time parking enforcement personnel.

On August 21, 2018, the Michigan Employment Relations Commission certified the MSU Administrative Professional Supervisors Association in case no. r18 c-032 as the exclusive representative for all employees in such unit described as:

all Community Directors.

Excluding: Employees employed less than one-half (1/2) time, executive and non-supervisory Employees, and confidential and all other Employees.

On March 26, 2018, the Michigan Employment Relations Commission clarified the bargaining unit represented by the Union to include the position of Neighborhood Director. This decision was affirmed by the court of appeals on April 23, 2019. The positions were renamed Engagement Center Managers and placed into the unit effective September 1, 2019.

On May 30, 2019, the University and the APSA signed an agreement to fully integrate MSU College of Law Employees to the University.

This section is effective January 1, 2024: REMOTE WORK

- 1. Positions subject to remote work agreements will remain within the bargaining unit where said positions had been placed or would have been placed within the bargaining unit. This paragraph is subject to the following:
  - a. The inclusion of said positions in the bargaining unit complies with all applicable laws of the state of Michigan, the United States, and other relevant U. S. states, nations, and entities.
  - b. The inclusion of said positions in the bargaining unit does not create any obligations on the University beyond those imposed by the collective bargaining agreement between the University and the Union and the laws of the United States and the state of Michigan.
  - c. The parties agree to meet to discuss any case where items 1(a) and/or 1(b) are an issue.

#### **ASSOCIATION RIGHTS**

# **RIGHTS**

- -32 Employees have the right to engage in any lawful concerted action or activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or for the mutual aid and protection of the Association and Employees.
- -33 The Association shall be permitted to schedule meetings on University property so long as such meetings are not disruptive of the duties of the Employees of the University or the efficient operation of the University.
- -34 The Association President shall have the right to enforce the provisions of this Agreement. Grievances may be filed on behalf of an individual Employee by the Association President unless the Employee indicates that a grievance shall not be filed on their behalf.
- -35 The parties are mutually committed to promoting respect, civility, teamwork and empowerment in the work place.
- -36 The Employer shall continue to provide the Association necessary and relevant information to enable the Association to conduct its daily business as it has in the past. When the Employer deems necessary, a reasonable charge may be assessed to the Association for such materials provided the Association has been notified of the charges in advance.

# **RULES AND REGULATIONS**

-37 The Employer shall have the right to adopt reasonable rules and regulations not inconsistent herewith. If after transmittal to the Association President of rules and regulations, and the Association has not processed a grievance alleging unreasonableness within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt, the rules and regulations shall no longer be grievable. Thereafter, grievances related to rules and regulations shall be limited to their enforcement and penalties resulting therefrom.

#### **NO DISCRIMINATION**

-38 There shall be no discrimination against any Employee because of their duties as an Association official, representative or committee member.

#### **BARGAINING UNIT WORK**

-39 The Employer agrees that bargaining unit work will not be eliminated for the purpose of undermining the Association.

#### **RELEASE TIME**

-40 For the purpose of release time, the number of Executive Board Officers may not exceed fifteen (15). The total aggregate number of working hours of release time for these Employees shall not exceed forty-five (45) hours per month, excluding time afforded the President and Vice Presidents acting as a Grievance Officer. The Office of Employee Relations must receive notice of individuals and release time to be used at least five (5) working days in advance, excluding the President and Vice President acting as a Grievance Officer.

Separate and apart from the release time stated in the paragraph immediately above, the Treasurer shall be authorized up to a total of three (3) hours per week paid release time to carry out the responsibilities of their office, the Membership Secretary shall be authorized up to four (4) hours per week and the Correspondence Secretary shall be authorized up to four (4) hours per week. Scheduling of any release time will be mutually agreed upon with the supervisor. These hours will not accumulate from week to week.

-41 Within one month of a new Employee's hire date, thirty (30) minutes of release time will be made available for the new Employee and a designee of the Association to meet. Such meeting shall be scheduled with the new Employee's supervisor with forty-eight (48) hours notice. The Employee has the right to not participate in such meeting.

# **ASSOCIATION PRESIDENT**

-42

- A. The Association President shall normally be released from their regular work assignment without loss of time, pay or other benefits as set forth in Paragraph 43 below.
- B. When the Association President relinquishes their office, they shall have the right to return to the same classification in their former unit that they held immediately prior to becoming Association President. If a position in the Association President's classification no longer exists in their former unit, then they shall have full rights under Article 9.

For purposes of Article 9, when the Association President relinquishes their office, they shall be deemed to have the greatest length of service and will be recalled to vacant positions first subject to Paragraph 140 of Article 9, provided they meet the minimum requirements and is capable of performing the duties of the position within a ninety (90) day evaluation period.

If the Association President who relinquishes their office meets the minimum requirements for a vacant position and is denied the ninety (90) day evaluation period they shall receive written reasons why they were not selected for the evaluation period with a copy to the President of the Association.

-43 Such time off shall not exceed forty (40) hours per week except with the specific approval of the Employer.

# **ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATIVE**

-44 The Employer agrees that designated representatives of the Association shall have reasonable access to the premises of the Employer during regular business hours to conduct Association business. Such representatives shall give advanced notice of their presence to the supervisor concerned and such visits shall not be disruptive of the Employer's operation.

# **BARGAINING COMMITTEE**

-45 The bargaining committee of the Association will include not more than seven (7) bargaining unit members and two (2) alternate members employed by the University. It may also include non-employed representatives of the Association, not more than two (2) in number. The Association will give to the Employer, in writing, the names of its Employee representatives on the bargaining committee at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration date of this Agreement.

#### **LOST TIME**

-46 Employee members of the bargaining committee will be paid by the Employer for time spent in negotiations with the Employer, but only for the straight time hours they would otherwise have worked on their regular work schedule. For the purpose of computing overtime, time spent in negotiations shall be considered as hours worked to the extent of the regular work schedule hours which otherwise would have been worked by the committee member.

# **EDUCATION CLASSES**

-47 Release time with pay will be granted to those Employees who are elected or selected by the Association to attend education classes conducted or sponsored by the Association. The number will not exceed five (5) Employees at any one time and the total number of hours will not exceed one hundred (100) hours in any one (1) calendar year. The Association agrees to give the Office of Employee Relations as much advance notice as possible concerning such requests for release time.

#### **ASSOCIATION SECURITY**

#### **MEMBERSHIP**

-48 Employees in the bargaining unit may voluntarily elect to tender Association dues to the Association as set forth in the Bylaws of the Michigan State University Administrative Professional Supervisors Association.

# **CHECK-OFF**

-49 The Association upon notification of an Employee entering or re-entering the bargaining unit, may present them an application for membership and an authorization for checkoff of dues, such form to be provided by the Association, and approved by the Employer.

If the Employee desires to join the APSA, the Employee shall complete both the application for membership and authorization card for checkoff of dues and return them to the APSA Membership Secretary.

- -50 The Employer agrees to deduct membership dues from the pay of each Employee who executes or has executed the authorization for checkoff of dues.
- -51 The initial deduction for any Employee shall not begin unless the authorization for checkoff of dues and the certified amount of dues, as provided by the APSA Membership Secretary, have been sent to the Employer's payroll department at least fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the effective pay day.
- -52 All monies deducted by the Employer shall be remitted to APSA once each month by the twentieth (20th) calendar day of the month following the month in which deductions were made together with a list of current Employees showing the amount of Association dues deducted from each Employee.
- -53 In cases where a deduction was made which duplicates a payment already made to APSA by an Employee, or not in accordance with the Bylaws of the Michigan State University Administrative Professional Supervisors Association, refunds to the Employee shall be made by the APSA or the Employer, whichever is applicable. The Employer will notify the APSA Membership Secretary or President via email when the Employer is refunding dues to an Employee.
- -54 The Employer shall not be liable to APSA, by reason of Paragraph 50 of this Article, for the remittance or payment of any sum other than that constituting actual deduction made from the pay earned by the Employee.

- -55 The Employer shall not, during the life of this Agreement, deduct dues from Employees in this bargaining unit for any labor organization other than the Association without APSA's written permission.
- -56 APSA shall protect and save harmless the Employer from any and all claims, demands, suits, and other forms of liability by reason of action taken or not taken by the Employer for the purpose of complying with this Article.

# **DISPUTES CONCERNING COMPLIANCE**

-57 The Association shall protect and save harmless the Employer from any and all claims, demands, suits, and other forms of liability by reason of action taken or not taken by the Employer for the purpose of complying with this Agreement.

# **REVOCATION**

-58 An Employee may revoke their voluntary checkoff authorization at any time by submitting notice on an authorized form to the Employer's Payroll Office. Such forms shall be processed within thirty (30) days of receipt. The Employer will notify the Association monthly of the names of Employees who leave or transfer out of the bargaining unit and who remain in the Bargaining Unit but have revoked their checkoff authorization.

# AID TO OTHER LABOR ORGANIZATIONS

-59 The Employer will not aid, promote or finance any labor group or organization which purports to engage in collective bargaining or make any agreement with any such group or organization for the purpose of undermining the Association.

# **OTHER AGREEMENTS**

-60 The Employer shall not enter into any other agreements with Employees in this bargaining unit, individually or collectively which in any way conflicts with the Provisions hereof.

#### **SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES**

# **EMPLOYEE RIGHTS**

- -61 At any hearing, conference or meeting which may result in disciplinary action to an Employee in the bargaining unit, the Employee may and is encouraged to request the presence of an Association representative. The Employer must, if requested by the Employee, allow sufficient time for the Employee to arrange to have Association representation.
- -62 An Employee has the right to be informed prior to the investigatory interview of the subject matter of the interview.
- -63 An Employee is entitled to a pre-interview conference with their Association representative.
- -64 The parties agree that any individual Employee at any time may present grievances to the Employer and have the grievances adjusted, without intervention of the Association, if the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of this Collective Bargaining Agreement now in effect, providing that the Association has been given the opportunity to be present at such adjustment.

# **GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE**

- -65 Grievances may be handled by Association representatives, and/or designated nonemployee Association representatives in the processing or hearing of any grievance not to exceed three (3) persons, excluding the aggrieved Employee. Employee representatives of the Association engaged in processing or hearing any grievance during regular scheduled working hours shall be paid for such time lost at the regular rate of pay, but in no event will more than three (3) Employee representatives of the Association be paid for participation in any one session.
- -66 The Association President and/or Vice President acting as a Grievance Officer may represent the Employee at all steps of the grievance procedure.
- -67 The Association Vice President acting as a Grievance Officer shall be allowed time off without loss of pay, to investigate grievance(s) to be discussed or which have been discussed with the Employer upon having received permission from their supervisor to do so. The Association shall notify the Employer as to the name of its Vice Presidents acting as a Grievance Officer.
- -68 An alternative Grievance Officer shall be designated by the Association to act in the absence of the Grievance Officer.

# **TIME LIMITS**

-69 When reference to calendar days is made in this Article, holidays shall not be considered in these time periods. Time limits set forth in this grievance procedure shall be strictly adhered to unless such time shall be extended by mutual written agreement of the parties.

# **WAIVER OF GRIEVANCE STEPS**

- -70 Steps of the grievance procedure may be waived in writing by mutual agreement of both parties. The grievant may withdraw a grievance at any step of the procedure. Grievances so withdrawn shall not be reinstated.
- -71 If the Employer fails to schedule a meeting or answer the grievance within the designated time limits, the grievance may be appealed to the next step of this grievance procedure upon the date of the expiration of the applicable time limit.
- -72 If the Union fails to appeal a grievance after receipt of the previous step answer, the Employer's failure to schedule a meeting, or the Employer's failure to timely answer the grievance, the grievance shall be considered settled on the basis of the Employer's last answer and not be subject to further review.

# **COMPUTATION OF BACK WAGES**

-73 No claim for back wages shall exceed the amount of salary the Employee would otherwise have earned at their regular rate, including offsets for unemployment compensation, workers' compensation and any wages earned.

# REPRIMAND, SUSPENSION OR DISCHARGE

- In the event an Employee is disciplined, demoted, or discharged, copies shall be given to the Employee and provided to the Association at the time it is given to the Employee and a copy placed in the Employee's official personnel folder. Such notice shall be specific and outline the reasons for the disciplinary action or discharge. The Employer promotes a policy of progressive discipline; i. e. , discipline shall gradually increase depending on the severity and/or frequency of the infractions. Normally, disciplinary action begins with a verbal warning for the first offense and culminates with discharge only after repeated attempts to correct the Employee's behavior have failed. Serious infractions may warrant the immediate imposition of a written reprimand, suspension, demotion, or discharge, as appropriate.
- -75 The affected Employee will be allowed to discuss their disciplinary action with an Association representative, and the Employer will make available an area where they may do so if they are required to leave the premises.

-76 In imposing any discipline on a current charge, the Employer will not take into account any prior infractions where the resulting discipline was issued more than eighteen (18) months previously if there has been no further disciplinary action taken during that time. The time frame in the previous sentence shall be six (6) years in cases of discipline arising from violations of the University Policy on Relationship Violence and Sexual Misconduct and Title IX Policy and/or the Anti-Discrimination Policy.

#### **GRIEVANCES CONCERNING DISCIPLINE**

-77 Should the disciplinary action or discharge be considered without just cause, it shall be appealed as a grievance within fourteen (14) calendar days after written notification of the discipline is received by the affected Employee and the Association. A grievance over a written record of verbal warning or a written reprimand shall be submitted at Step 2 of the grievance procedure; whereas, all other disciplines shall be submitted at Step 3. Failure to submit a written grievance within the time limits shall constitute a waiver of all claims concerning such disciplinary action or discharge.

# **GRIEVANCE DEFINITION AND PROCEDURE**

# **DEFINITION OF GRIEVANCE**

- -78 A grievance shall be defined as a dispute, reduced to writing, concerning the interpretation, application and alleged violation of any of the terms of this Agreement.
- -79 Any Employee having a dispute over the interpretation or application of the terms of this Agreement, shall present it to the Employer in the following manner.

#### **GROUP GRIEVANCE**

-80 A group grievance shall be only one in which the fact(s) in question and the provisions of the Agreement alleged to be violated are the same as they relate to all Employees in the identified group. In the event that Employees have a group grievance, the President or Vice President acting as a Grievance Officer shall submit the grievance on behalf of all affected Employees. When the affected group is contained within one department, college, or division, the grievance shall be initiated at Step 1 of the grievance procedure. Any other group grievance shall be filed at Step 2.

# **ASSOCIATION ASSISTANCE**

-81 At each step of the grievance procedure, the Employee may request the presence of the Association President or Vice President acting as the Grievance Officer.

-82 If an Employee believes they have a problem in connection with their employment, they are encouraged to discuss it with their immediate supervisor.

# **FORMAL GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

#### STEP 1

-83 A grievance must be reduced to writing and presented to the administrative head or designee within fourteen (14) calendar days after its alleged occurrence in order to be a proper matter for the grievance procedure. The grievance shall be dated and signed by the aggrieved Employee and the Association President or Vice President acting as the Grievance Officer, and shall set forth the facts, including the dates and provisions of this Agreement that are alleged to have been violated, and the remedy desired. The grievance shall not be considered submitted until the immediate administrative head or designee receives the written grievance. The administrative head or designee will schedule a meeting with the grievant and the President or Vice President acting as the Grievance Officer, if requested by the Employee, within fourteen (14) calendar days from the day the written grievance was received. The administrative head or designee will then answer the grievance in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days from the meeting at which the grievance was discussed.

# STEP 2

If the answer from the administrative head or designee is not satisfactory, the Association shall submit an appeal within fourteen (14) calendar days of the receipt of the Step 1 answer to the Director of Employee Relations or designee, indicating the reasons why the written answer of the administrative head or designee was unsatisfactory. The Office of Employee Relations will schedule a meeting between no more than three (3) representatives of the Association, excluding the grievant, and three (3) representatives of the Employer within fourteen (14) calendar days from the date the appeal is received to discuss the grievance. The Office of Employee Relations will then answer the grievance in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days from the date of the meeting at which the grievance was discussed.

#### **ARBITRATION**

# STEP 3

-85 If the Office of Employee Relations' answer is unacceptable, settlement may be determined by a decision of an arbitrator selected by the parties. The Association will notify the Office of Employee Relations within thirty (30) calendar days after the receipt of the Step 3 answer if the Association wishes to appeal the grievance to arbitration by filing a demand for arbitration with the American Arbitration Association (AAA) with a copy to the Office of Employee Relations.

The following paragraph applies to any grievance filed to arbitration after October 1, 2024. Any arbitration hearing over a grievance on an employee's suspension without pay of five (5) working days or longer and/or discharge shall be commenced within one hundred twenty (120) calendar days of the arbitrator's acceptance of the appointment or selection through AAA. The parties may extend the time on mutual agreement. If the arbitrator cannot offer dates within the one hundred twenty (120) calendar days, the parties will then request a conference with the arbitrator to select a mutually agreeable date.

The fees and approved expenses of an arbitrator will be borne equally by the University and the Association.

The rules of the AAA shall apply to all arbitration hearings.

The use of a court reporter will be permitted at the request of either party. A copy of the transcript will be provided without cost to the party not requesting the court reporter.

#### ARBITRATOR'S POWERS

- -86 The arbitrator shall have no power to add to or subtract from or modify any of the terms of this Agreement nor shall they substitute their discretion for that of the Employer or the Association where such discretion has been retained by the Employer or the Association, nor shall they exercise any responsibility or function of the Employer or the Association. Where either party challenges the jurisdiction of the arbitrator, the hearing will be held to determine whether the arbitrator does have jurisdiction before the hearing can be held on the merits.
- -87 The arbitrator shall have no authority to establish wage and salary scales, to change any wage or salary rate, or change classification descriptions except as otherwise provided in this Agreement.

#### **EXCLUDED FROM ARBITRATION**

-88 Excluded from arbitration are disputes and unresolved grievances concerning merit increase decisions, those matters provided for in provisions on probationary Employees and filling vacant positions.

# **FINALITY OF DECISIONS**

-89 The arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding upon the Association and its members, the Employee or Employees involved and the Employer, provided however, either party retains all legal rights to challenge arbitration decisions thereof where such action is beyond the power of the arbitrator or where the award was procured by fraud, misconduct or unlawful means.

# **SPECIAL CONFERENCES**

- -90 The Employer and the Association agree to meet and confer upon the call of either party and shall be scheduled within fourteen (14) calendar days of the request to meet, unless mutually agreed otherwise. Each party shall be represented by not more than four (4) persons at special conferences.
- -91 Employees released to attend the special conference may meet, if on the Employer's property, at a place designated by the Employer, for a period not to exceed one-half (1/2) hour immediately preceding the conference.
- -92 Employees released to attend special conferences will be paid by the Employer for time spent in special conferences, but only for the straight time hours they would otherwise have worked on their regular work schedule.

# ASSOCIATION-EMPLOYER MEETINGS

- -93 The Employer and the Association shall meet and confer through their respective committees (four [4] representatives of the Employer and four [4] representatives of the Association) on at least a quarterly basis to deal with matters of mutual interest, such as but not limited to, grievances, merit pay allotments, hours of employment, conditions of work, and quality of work life to increase job satisfaction, problem-solving and decision making.
- -94 The parties shall present an agenda to each other at least two (2) weeks in advance of the meetings and official minutes of the meetings inclusive of agreements and items addressed will be kept and distributed to the committee members. Emergency items may be added at the request of either party.

# **MEDICAL DISPUTES**

-95 In the event of a dispute involving any Employee's ability to perform their job at the University when the Employee is not satisfied with the determination of the University's physician, they may submit a report from a medical doctor their own choosing and at their own expense. If the dispute still exists, at the request of the Association, the University's physician and the Employee's doctor shall agree upon a third medical doctor to submit a report to the Employer and the Employee, and the decision of such third party will be binding on both parties. The expenses of the report of the third party shall be shared equally by the Employer and the Employee.

#### FLEXIBLE APPOINTMENTS

# **DEFINITION**

- -96 A flexible appointment is a voluntary commitment by a staff member to a specific schedule of work which provides between 75% and 92% time equivalent salary over a calendar year, with some benefit coverages equivalent to full-time appointments. Flexible appointments are subject to approval by MSU Human Resources.
- -97 There are two types of flexible appointments:
  - Type 1: Full-time active employment for nine (9), ten (10), or eleven (11) months per year with a prescheduled unpaid leave of absence with benefits ("flex-leave") during the remaining month(s). The Employee's position is held for their return at the end of the flex-leave, subject to the position being eliminated and the provisions of the Layoff-Reduction in Force as applicable.
  - Type 2: 75-89% of a 40 hour per week active employment over the entire calendar year (30-35 hours per week) with part-time equivalent salary. As with any bargaining unit position, job demands may require work outside (overtime pay may be granted in accordance with the overtime provision) and in addition to those of the regularly scheduled flexible schedule.
- -98 Where a Type 1 flexible appointment includes a leave with benefits, the Employee's position is held for their return at the end of the flex-leave, subject to the conditions specified below.
- -99 The objective of flex-year appointments is to achieve budget flexibility where departmental functions can be accomplished with 75% employment, through a combination of benefits and other incentives.
- -100 Departments identify positions for flexible appointments. Regular Employees, and persons to be employed in those pre-identified positions, may agree to be placed in flexible appointments. Employees desiring flexible appointments, but whose positions are necessarily full-time may apply for transfers to flexible appointments, subject to relevant policies. When a department desires to change a position from full-time to a flexible appointment and the incumbent does not volunteer for that status, reduction in force procedures may be initiated to achieve the reduction within the department. If a flexible appointment position is subsequently eliminated, reduction in force procedures will be initiated. Employees with flexible appointments who later desire a change in appointment may apply for other positions as they become available.

#### **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

# **FLEXIBLE POSITIONS**

- -101 The department administrator shall identify the positions appropriate for flexible appointments, and, if specific duties are to be eliminated, indicate in writing the duties of such positions which are to be eliminated. This designation must be approved by MSU Human Resources, after receiving Employee input.
- -102 Once a position is officially designated as flexible, only flexible appointments are acceptable.
- -103 A flexible position shall maintain that designation until the departmental administrator acts to designate it otherwise by submitting the appropriate form for the approval of MSU Human Resources.

# **FLEXIBLE APPOINTMENTS**

- -104 A flexible appointment, either as an initial appointment or as a change of appointment, may be granted only with the agreement of a prospective or current staff member. Without agreement, a current staff member may be subject to the Reduction in Force policy.
- -105 A flexible appointment must be arranged in advance with an Employee, and approved by the departmental administrator and MSU Human Resources.
- -106 All flexible appointments will annually provide a minimum of 1,560 hours of scheduled work (subject to necessary reductions in force).
- -107 A flexible appointee's FTE salary is the amount that would be paid if an entire year was worked full-time (e. g. ,  $$1,000/month \times 12 months = $12,000$ ). The base salary is the actual expected pay during the year. For example, if the FTE salary is \$12,000, base salary at 75% would be:

```
Type 1: $1,000 \times 9 \text{ months} = $9,000
Type 2:$750 \times 12 \text{ months} = $9,000
```

- -108 Flexible appointees are regular Employees.
- -109 Leaves with benefits may be established for periods of one (1) month or more, up to a maximum of three (3) months (in increments of one (1) month).
- -110 Leaves with benefits are only those that are prearranged as part of an approved flexible appointment.

- -111 No Unemployment Compensation is paid during a leave with benefits. (Inasmuch as appointees on flex-leave have neither been laid off nor terminated but are on a mutually agreed upon leave of absence, they are ineligible for Unemployment Compensation. If Unemployment Compensation is sought by the Employee, the leave with benefits is voided and the Employee shall be placed on layoff status, without application of reduction in force provisions).
- -112 If the flexible appointment converts to a full-time status, the Employee will receive an appropriate salary adjustment.
- -113 Employees volunteering for flex-leaves must appropriately document their voluntary concurrence with their change in status. This action is subject to the review and approval by MSU Human Resources.

# **FRINGE BENEFITS**

-114 A flexible appointee's benefit eligibility during active flexible status and unpaid flex-leave is as follows:

Benefits Programs. Flexible appointees:

Receive the full University contribution toward health care coverage.

Have Long Term Disability, Dental, and Basic Life Coverage. (Subject to all current eligibility requirements. Employees otherwise eligible for Long Term Disability continue their eligibility during the leave with benefits as well as active employment; however, benefit payments do not commence during the leave with benefits. The base salary for the period of active employment prior to the flex-leave is used for the determination of benefits.)

May maintain optional Employee-paid life and accidental death and dismemberment coverage. MSU Human Resources will bill Employees for applicable employee deductions related to benefits.

- -115 Educational Assistance is available, subject to all other eligibility requirements. However, Type 1 flexible appointees will be allowed to "bank" educational assistance for use during non-work flex-leave periods for six (6) classes up to fourteen (14) credits per MSU academic year.
- -116 Personal Leave Days will be credited on a proportionate basis, i. e.: three-quarter (3/4) time service (either Type 1 or 2 Flex) will receive up to eighteen (18) hours in credits each year according to the Personal Leave Days schedule.
- -117 Full service credit is given toward retirement, benefits eligibility waiting periods, and vacation service months.

- -118 Paid leave accruals are proportionate, and are accrued as follows:
  - Type 1: During active full-time service, the Employee accrues leave as a full-time Employee. During a flex-leave, paid leave does not accrue and may not be utilized (they are frozen subject to relevant policies).
  - Type 2: During the entire calendar year, the Employee accrues leave at a proportionate rate (unless additional leaves without pay are taken or the Employee's status changes).
- -119 University contribution to the MSU 403(b) Base Retirement Plan and Social Security. (Subject to all current eligibility requirements.)
  - Type 1: During active full-time service, the Employee receives University contributions based on their full-time salary. No University contributions are made while the Employee is on a leave with benefits.
  - Type 2: The Employee receives the University contributions during the entire year based upon their part-time equivalent salary.
- -120 All salary-related benefits (paid leave, Employee-Paid Life, 403(b) Base Retirement Plan, Long Term Disability, Basic Life Plan, Extended Disability, and longevity) are based upon the flexible appointee's base salary. The longevity cap will be that of full-time Employees.

#### **PROBATIONARY PERIODS**

-121 Flex-leaves may begin during a probationary period; however, the time spent on the flex-leave will not count toward completion of the probationary period.

#### OTHER EMPLOYMENT

-122 Employees may work for other Employers while on flex-leave.

# **RETURN TO ACTIVE EMPLOYMENT**

-123 Employees returning from a flex-leave are assigned to their previously held positions, unless the circumstances of the University change to the extent that the position no longer exists. Those affected by a reduction in force while on flex-leave are eligible for the provisions of the reduction in force policy. Affected Employees will be given written notice as soon as practicable, but no less than that stipulated in the reduction in force policy.

### **SALARY PAYMENTS**

-124 Flexible appointees receive their base salary during their period of active service and no salary during flex-leave.

### **HOURS WORKED RECORDS**

-125 Departments are responsible for maintaining record of hours worked for nonexempt Employees with flexible appointments.

# **POSITION MAINTENANCE**

- -126 A position, held by an Employee, which is changed to a flexible appointment, and some of whose duties are thereby eliminated, shall not be downgraded or eliminated as a direct result of the flexible appointment.
- -127 Disagreements in the interpretation or application of the flexible appointment policy shall be subject to the grievance procedure and immediately proceed to Step 2.

# **NOTICE REQUIREMENTS**

- -128 At the time of presentation of a voluntary flexible appointment form to any Employee, the Employee shall be advised in writing:
- -129 If a Type 1 flexible appointment, the length of time of the unpaid leave, the time or times when said leave must be taken.
- -130 If a Type 2 flexible appointment, the schedule of each week which the Employee shall be required to work.
- -131 In addition, each Employee shall receive at least ten (10) working days' written notice of the proposed flexible appointment, or modifications thereto, before being required to respond. An affected Employee may consult with a representative of the Association prior to making a voluntary election to accept a flexible appointment.

### **REDUCTION IN FORCE**

- -132 The University endeavors to provide continuing employment for Employees. Reductions in work force may be necessary due to lack of funds, lack of work, and/or other cause, not to undermine the Association. A reduction in force will not be used for constructive discharge. An Employee may exhaust accrued vacation at the time of layoff but doing so will not extend the Employer's health care contributions.
- -133 Whenever practicable, reductions should be made by:
  - A. restricting recruitment,
  - B. transfers to vacant lateral or lower-level positions where the Employee is capable of performing the work, and/or
  - C. normal attrition,

but if deemed necessary by the University, layoffs will be utilized.

### **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

- -134 Employees to be laid off shall be given a minimum of sixty (60) calendar days notice--a copy of which will be sent to the Association President--not to be offset by accrued vacation.
- -135 In the event of a National, State or University declaration of a state of disaster or state of emergency directly affecting the University's normal operations:
  - A. Where no work is available due to such conditions Employees shall be granted up to three (3) work days of paid administrative leave to cover their absence from their normally scheduled hours of work. Employees who are absent due to sick or annual leave usage or who have previously scheduled annual leave during the declared emergency are not entitled to paid administrative leave. An Employee required to work during such declared emergencies shall, at a minimum, in addition to pay, be granted paid time off equal to the number of hours worked, unless said Employees are entitled to overtime compensation pursuant to other contractual provisions;
  - B. With notification to the Association, after the three (3) work days of paid administrative leave days provided in subsection (A) above, the Employer may temporarily layoff Employees for an additional period of twenty-seven (27) work days without providing to affected Employees the minimum sixty (60) day written notification required by Paragraph 138, provided, however, the Employer shall

give such affected Employees and the Association a written confirmation of their layoff status as soon as is administratively possible under the circumstances. Employees placed on temporary layoff may use accrued vacation leave, accrued personal leave and/or compensatory time to cover the period of the temporary layoff or choose to be placed on unpaid leave; provided, however, while on temporary layoff, an Employee may request a change to sick leave usage for time taken for a documented illness; Employees without sufficient accrued vacation leave, accrued personal leave and/or compensatory time to cover all of the period of the temporary layoff shall be placed on an unpaid leave for all the uncovered balance of the temporary layoff period. An Employee who incurs unpaid leave as a result of the temporary layoff shall have continued coverage under their current plan with the existing level of University contribution for Employer-paid health care coverage, prescription drug, dental, life insurance and insurance programs from the time of layoff continued during the temporary layoff;

- C. Upon expiration of the temporary layoff period provided for by this Paragraph, all Employees affected by the temporary layoff shall be recalled to their respective major units, unless notified in advance in writing, with a copy to the Association, that he or she is being continued on an indefinite layoff. Nothing in this subparagraph shall preclude a grievance being filed by the Association on behalf of such affected Employees seeking to enforce Paragraphs 132-133, 137 and 143-150of this Article;
- D. The Association and the Employer shall meet in a special conference as soon as possible but no later than seventy-two (72) hours following the declaration of any emergency, and in subsequent meetings as needed upon the call of either party. One of the special conference issues which shall be addressed will be the impact of the emergency upon the bargaining unit.
- E. For purposes of this Paragraph, "emergency" shall mean an occurrence or threat of widespread or severe damage, injury, or loss of life or property resulting from a natural or man-made cause, including, but not limited to, fire, flood, snowstorm, ice storm, tornado, windstorm, wave action, oil spill, water contamination, utility failure, hazardous peacetime radiological incident, major transportation accident, hazardous materials incident, epidemic or public health emergency, air contamination, blight, drought, infestation, explosion, or hostile military action, or similar occurrences resulting from terrorist activities, riots, or civil disorders.
- -136 Within a unit, by classification, probationary Employees will be separated before non-probationary Employees are laid off, where it is determined that the non-probationary Employees are likely to be capable of performing the work within a ninety (90) days.
  - A. Where capability to perform the work remaining is equal, the Employer will follow these priorities for reduction in force:

- 1. Employees with unsatisfactory records before Employees with satisfactory records. An Employee shall not be considered unsatisfactory until the Employee's performance is determined to be unsatisfactory in two consecutive evaluations.
- 2. Employees with short service (seniority) before Employees with long service (seniority).
- -137 Upon request, prior to the effective date of the layoff, representatives of the Association will be given the opportunity to meet and discuss the circumstances of the layoff with the Employer.
- -138 For purposes of layoff only, layoffs shall be by classification within units identified below.
- -139 it is understood by the parties that the organizational business structure below is everchanging and reflects a snapshot, accurate at the time of contract signatures. The Employer will update the Union annually with the most recent snapshot. Layoffs will be administered based on the unit structure at the time of the intended action.

### UNITS

# OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT

COWLES HOUSE
OFFICE OF AUDIT, RISK AND COMPLIANCE
MSU UNION
TRAVEL CLINIC UNIVERSITY PHYSICIAN
UNIVERSITY PHYSICIAN
VICE PRESIDENT FOR STRATEGIC INITIATIVES
RESOURCE AND SUPPORT COORDINATION
INTERNATIONAL STUDIES & PROGRMS PRES OFC
MIDWEST UNIV CONSORTIUM INTERNATIONAL
PRESIDENTS OFFICE OPERATIONS
SECRETARY OF BOARD OF TRUSTEES

### **INVESTMENT OFFICE**

**INVESTMENT OFFICE** 

### **OFC CIVIL RIGHTS AND TITLE IX**

OFFICE OF INSTITUTIONAL EQUITY
CIVIL RIGHTS AND TITLE IX EDUC AND COMP
TITLE IX PREVENTION OUTREACH AND EDUC

# **GOV COMMUNICATIONS AND ADVANCEMENT**

EVP GOV COMMUNICATIONS AND ADVANCEMENT

# **UNIVERSITY COMMUNICATIONS**

BIG TEN NETWORK

MKTG, PUBLIC REL, AND DIGITAL STRATEGY

UNIVERSITY LICENSING

MEDIA AND PUBLIC INFORMATION

VP AND STRATEGIC DIR UNIV COMMUNICATIONS

### **HEALTH SCIENCES**

CLINICAL AND TRANSLATIONAL SCIENCES
HEALTH SCIENCES EVP
HFHS MSU HEALTH SCIENCES
HEALTH SCIENCES IT

### **MSU HCI CLINICAL SERVICES**

MSU HCI CLINICAL SERVICES
MSU HCI THERAPY SERVICES
MSU HCI PRIMARY CARE SERVICES
MSU HCI PEDIATRIC SERVICES
MSU HCI SPECIALTY SERVICES

MSU HCI ORTHOPEDIC SERVICES
MSU HCI CANCER SERVICES
MSU HCI PSYCHIATRY SERVICES
MSU HCI RADIOLOGY SERVICES

INSTITUTIONAL DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

INSTITUTIONAL DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

**DEPARTMENT OF POLICE AND PUBLIC SAFETY** 

DEPARTMENT OF POLICE AND PUBLIC SAFETY

INTERCOLLEGIATE ATHLETICS

INTERCOLLEGIATE ATHLETICS

TEACHING AND LEARNING INNOVATION

CENTER, TEACHING AND LEARNING INNOVATION

**HEALTH AFFAIRS** 

**APAVP HEALTH AFFAIRS** 

STUDENT HEALTH, WELLNESS AND SAFETY

**UNIVERSITY ARTS AND COLLECTIONS** 

ART MUSEUM MUSEUM

PERFORMING ARTS FACILITIES & PROGRAMS

WJ BEAL BOTANICAL GARDEN

ASC PROV UNIVERSITY ARTS AND COLLECTIONS

**UNIVERSITY HEALTH AND WELLBEING** 

RESOURCE CTR FOR PERSONS W DISABILITIES

UNIVERSITY HEALTH PROGRAMS

DOMESTIC SHELTER

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM HEALTH PROMOTION PROGRAM CAMPUS HEALTH SERVICES

**WORKLIFE OFFICE** 

COUNSELING AND PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES

**CENTER FOR SURVIVORS** 

UNIVERSITY HEALTH AND WELLBEING ADMIN MENTAL HEALTH AND TRAUMA SERVICES MSU HEALTH PROMOTION AND OUTREACH

**COLLEGE OF AGRICULTURE AND NAT RESOURCES** 

ANR COMMUNICATIONS

PLANT SOIL AND MICROBIAL SCIENCES SOUTH CAMPUS ANIMAL FARMS CANR

OFF OF ACADEMIC AND STUDENT AFFAIRS CANR

**CANR EXTERNAL RELATIONS** 

AGRICULTURAL FOOD AND RESOURCE

**ECONOMICS** 

BIOSYSTEMS AND AGRICULTURAL ENGINEERING

AGRICULTURAL TECHNOLOGY INSTITUTE

ANIMAL SCIENCE DEPARTMENT ANR

**BAILEY SCHOLARS** 

PLANT BIOLOGY ANR

SCHOOL OF PLANNING DES CONSTRUCTION ANR

**CANR PUBLIC SERVICE ACTIVITIES** 

OFF OF DIVERSITY EQUITY AND INCLUSION

**CANR RESEARCH ACTIVITIES** 

OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM AGR NAT RES

CANR ADMINISTRATION DEAN ANR

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY

ENTOMOLOGY AGRICULTURE AND NATURAL RES

FISHERIES AND WILDLIFE

FOOD LAWS AND REGULATIONS INSTITUTE

FOOD SCIENCE AND HUM NUTRITION ANR

**FORESTRY** 

HORTICULTURE ANR

CANR INTERNATIONAL PROGRAMS

KELLOGG BIOLOGICAL STATION AG NAT RES ANR RESEARCH AND EXTENSION CENTERS CANR

CENTER FOR MICROBIAL FCOLOGY ANR

**PACKAGING** 

ANR TECHNOLOGY SERVICES

WATER RESEARCH INSTITUTE ANR

**COLLEGE OF ARTS AND LETTERS** 

AFRICAN AMERICAN AND AFRICAN STUDIES

AMERICAN STUDIES

WRITING, RHETORIC, AND CULTURES

ART HISTORY AND DESIGN

ARTS AND LETTER DEAN

A L INTERDEPARTMENTAL PROGRAMS

CTR FOR INTEGRAT STD ARTS AND HUMANITIES

**CANADIAN STUDIES CENTER** 

**CENTENNIAL REVIEW** 

CLARION WORKSHOP
OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PRG ARTS AND LETTERS
ENGLISH
ENGLISH LANGUAGE CENTER
GREAT LAKES CULTURE, CENTER FOR
HUMANITIES RESEARCH CENTER
JEWISH STUDIES PROGRAM
CENTER FOR LANGUAGE TEACHING
ADVANCEMENT
LINGUISTICS, LANGUAGES, AND CULTURES
ARTS AND LETTERS WRITING CENTER
PHILOSOPHY
RELIGIOUS STUDIES
ROMANCE AND CLASSICAL STUDIES
RUSSIAN AND EAST EUROPEAN STUDIES

# **ARTS & HUMANITIES, RESIDENTIAL COLL IN**

**RESIDENTIAL COLLEGE ARTS & HUMAN DEAN** 

PROGRAM IN WOMEN, GENDER, SOCIAL JUSTICE

# **ELI BROAD COLLEGE OF BUSINESS**

**THEATRE** 

**BURGESS INST ENTREPRENEURSHIP INNOVATION BROAD UNDERGRADUATE ACADEMIC SERVICES BROAD RESIDENTIAL BUSINESS COMMUNITY** ACCOUNTING AND INFORMATION SYSTEMS INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS CENTER MULTICULTURAL BUSINESS PROGRAMS ELI BROAD COLLEGE OF BUSINESS DEAN OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM BUSINESS **EXECUTIVE MBA PROGRAM EXECUTIVE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS FINANCE** THE SCHOOL OF HOSPITALITY BUSINESS RUSSELL PALMER CAREER MANAGEMENT CENTER MANAGEMENT MANAGEMENT EDUCATION CENTER DEPARTMENT OF SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT MBA PROGRAM DEPARTMENT OF MARKETING

# **COLLEGE OF COMMUNICATION ARTS SCIENCES**

ADVERTISING AND PUBLIC RELATIONS

COMMUNICATIVE SCIENCES DISORDERS CAS
COMMUNICATION ARTS AND SCIENCES DEAN
COMMUNICATION
OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM COMM ARTS
JOURNALISM
MEDIA AND INFORMATION
BROADCASTING SERVICES

### **COLLEGE OF EDUCATION**

CREATE FOR STEM
EDUCATIONAL ADMINISTRATION
EDUCATION POLICY CENTER
INST FOR RES TCH & LRN ACROSS LIFE SPAN
OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM EDUCATION
COUNSELING, EDUC PSYCH & SPEC EDUC
EDUCATION DEAN
KINESIOLOGY - ED
GRAD EDUC OVERSEAS CREDIT-CENTER SUPPORT
GRADUATE EDUC OVERSEAS CREDIT-PROGRAM
CENTER FOR STUDY OF CURRICULUM POLICY
SCIENCE & MATHEMATICS EDUC, DIV OF
TEACHER EDUCATION
YOUTH SPORTS

### **COLLEGE OF ENGINEERING**

COMPUTATIONAL MATH SCI AND ENGR EGR INSTITUTE FOR QUANTITATIVE HEALTH **BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING** DIV OF ENGINEERING COMPUTING SERVICES CHEMICAL ENGINEERING AND MATERIALS SCI **CROP BIOPROCESSING** CIVIL AND ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING COMPOSITE MATERIALS AND STRUCTURES CTR COMPOSITE MATERIAL MATERIALS PROCESSING COMPUTER SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM ENGINEERING ELECTRONIC AND SURFACE PROP OF MATERIAL **ELECTRICAL AND COMPUTER ENGINEERING ENGINEERING DEAN** ENGINEERING RESEARCH DIVISION OF GREAT LAKES BIOENERGY RESEARCH CTR EGR MECHANICAL ENGINEERING

### **COLLEGE OF HUMAN MEDICINE**

TRANSLATIONAL NEUROSCIENCE

**ANESTHESIA** 

**EMERGENCY MEDICINE** 

HEALTH INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY CHM

CHM FLINT

INSTITUTE FOR QUANTITATIVE HEALTH DEPARTMENT OF ORTHOPEDICS CHM

CS MOTT DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH

DERMATOLOGY OTOLARYNGOLOGY

**PATHOLOGY** 

RADIATION ONCOLOGY

UROLOGY

**NEUROSURGERY** 

AGING & LONG-TERM CARE, CENTER

BIOCHEMISTRY & MOLECULAR BIOLOGY CHM

**CANCER CENTER** 

CONSORTIUM FOR MICH HEALTH PROFESSIONALS

OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM HUMAN

MEDICINE

**EPIDEMIOLOGY AND BIOSTATISTICS** 

FAMILY MEDICINE, DEPARTMENT OF

PHYSIOLOGY/HUMAN PATHOLOGY - CHM

**HUMAN MEDICINE DEAN** 

**HUMAN MEDICINE DEAN ADMINISTRATION** 

THE INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH POLICY MEDICAL EDUCATION RESEARCH &

DEVELOPMENT

CENTER FOR BIOETHICS AND SOCIAL JUSTICE

**MEDICINE** 

MICROBIOLOGY & MOLECULAR GENETICS CHM

**OBSTETRICS GYNECOLOGY & REPRODUCTIVE BIO** 

**NEUROLOGY & OPHTHALMOLOGY CHM** 

PEDIATRICS AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

PHARMACOLOGY & TOXICOLOGY HUMAN

**MEDICINE** 

LEARNING AND ASSESSMENT CENTER CHM

PHYSIOLOGY HUMAN MEDICINE

OFFICE OF ACADEMIC PROGRAMS

**PSYCHIATRY HUMAN MEDICINE** 

**RADIOLOGY HUMAN MEDICINE** 

CHM WEST MICHIGAN

**SURGERY** 

### **JAMES MADISON COLLEGE**

OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM JAMES MADISON

JAMES MADISON COLLEGE DEAN

JAMES MADISON COLLEGE DEAN SPECIAL

THE MICHIGAN PROSPERITY CENTER

### LYMAN BRIGGS COLLEGE

OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM LYMAN BRIGGS

LYMAN BRIGGS DEAN

LYMAN BRIGGS DEAN SPECIAL

### **COLLEGE OF MUSIC**

BAND

**COMMUNITY MUSIC SCHOOL** 

OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM MUSIC

**MUSIC** 

### **COLLEGE OF NATURAL SCIENCE**

PROGRAM IN MATHEMATICS EDUCATION

**CREATE FOR STEM** 

**BIOMOLECULAR SCIENCE GATEWAY** 

COMPUTATIONAL MATH SCI AND ENGR CNS

INSTITUTE FOR QUANTITATIVE HEALTH

**ELEMENTAL HEALTH INSTITUTE CNS** 

ABRAMS PLANETARIUM

**BIOCHEMISTRY & MOLECULAR BIOLOGY CNS** 

BIOLOGICAL SCIENCE PROGRAM

**BIOTECHNOLOGY CENTER** 

PLANT BIOLOGY CNS

**BIOLOGICAL MODELING CENTER** 

**CHEMISTRY** 

OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM NAT SCIENCE

DREW LABORATORY

ECOLOGY, EVOLUTION AND BEHAVIOR

ADVANCED MICROSCOPY, CENTER FOR

**ENTOMOLOGY NATURAL SCIENCE** 

FOOD SCIENCE & HUMAN NUTRITION CNS

FUNDAMENTAL MATERIALS RESEARCH

**GENETICS PROGRAM** 

EARTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES

CTR FOR INTEGRATIVE STD - GENERAL SCI

GREAT LAKES BIOENERGY RESEARCH CTR - CNS

**KBS ECOLOGY PROJECT** 

KELLOGG BIOLOGICAL STATION NAT. SCI.

**MATHEMATICS** 

BIOMEDICAL LABORATORY DIAGNOSTICS PROGR

MICROBIOLOGY & MOLECULAR GENETICS CNS

CELL AND MOLECULAR BIOLOGY PROGRAM

NATURAL SCIENCE DEAN NEUROSCIENCE PROGRAM CNS - RESEARCH SERVICES

**PLANT PRODUCTS & TECHNOLOGIES** 

PHYSICS-ASTRONOMY

PHYSIOLOGY NATURAL SCIENCE

PLANT RESEARCH LABORATORY NAT SCIENCE

RESIDENTIAL INIT ON STDY OF ENVIRON

SCIENCE & MATHEMATICS EDUCATION, DIV OF

STATISTICS & PROBABILITY INTEGRATIVE BIOLOGY

### **COLLEGE OF NURSING**

HEALTH INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY NUR OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM NURSING

**NURSING** 

LEARNING AND ASSESSMENT CENTER NUR

### **COLLEGE OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE**

HEALTH INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY COM

PA MEDICINE

AGING AND LONG TERM CARE CENTER FOR

BIOCHEMISTRY AND MOLECULAR BIOLOGY COM

OSTEOPATHIC MANIPULATIVE MEDICINE

COMMUNITY HEALTH SCIENCE COM

OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM OSTEO MED

FAMILY AND COMMUNITY MEDICINE

PHYSIOLOGY HUMAN PATHOLOGY COM

INSTITUTE FOR GLOBAL HEALTH

OSTEOPATHIC MEDICAL SPECIALTIES COM

THE INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH POLICY

MICHIGAN CENTER FOR ENABLING TECHNOLOGY

MICROBIOLOGY AND MOLECULAR GENETICS COM

MEDICAID INTERGOVT TRANS ABATE COM

OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE DEAN

NEUROLOGY AND OPHTHALMOLOGY COM OSTEOPATHIC MEDICAL SERVICES PLAN **OSTEOPATHIC SURGICAL SPECIALTIES** 

OSTEO MED PROGRAM PLANNING & RESEARCH

OSTEO MED STAFF RESOURCES

**PEDIATRICS** 

PHARMACOLOGY TOXICOLOGY

LEARNING AND ASSESSMENT CENTER COM

PHYSICAL MEDICINE AND REHABILITATION

PHYSIOLOGY OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE

PSYCHIATRY OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE

RADIOLOGY OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE

MEDICAID INTERGOVERNMENTAL TRANSFER COM

OST MED RESEARCH AND ADV STUDY PROGRAMS

**DEPARTMENT OF ORTHOPEDICS COM** 

SE MI DETROIT MEDICAL CENTER

SE MI MACOMB UNIVERSITY CENTER

### **COLLEGE OF SOCIAL SCIENCE**

CNTR ANTI COUNTERFEIT AND PROD PROTECT CTR FOR ADV STUDY OF INTL DEVELOPM - CSS

MATRIX (HUM, ARTS, LETTERS & SOC SC ON-LINE)

ANTHROPOLOGY SOCIAL SCIENCE

SCHOOL OF PLANNING, DES&CONSTRUCTION-CSS

OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM SOC SCI

**CRIMINAL JUSTICE** 

**ECONOMICS** 

**ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE AND POLICY PROGRAM** 

**GLOBAL URBAN STUDIES** 

HUMAN DEVELOPMENT & FAMILY STUDIES - CSS

GEOGRAPHY ENVIRONMENT SPATIAL SCIENCES

GLOBAL CHG & EARTH OBSERVATIONS, CTR FOR

HISTORY

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LABOR RELATIONS

POLITICAL SCIENCE

PSYCHOLOGY SOCIAL SCIENCE

**PUBLIC UTILITIES INSTITUTE** 

CTR FOR INTEGRATIVE STD - SOCIAL SCIENCE

**SOCIAL SCIENCE DEAN** 

INST FOR PUBLIC POLICY & SOCIAL RESEARCH

SOCIAL WORK

SOCIOLOGY SOCIAL SCIENCE

PROGRAM IN WOMEN, GENDER, SOCIAL JUSTICE

# **HONORS COLLEGE**

DEBATE - HONORS COLLEGE HONORS COLLEGE DEAN

### **OFFICE OF UNDERGRADUATE EDUCATION**

TESTING CENTER
AEROSPACE STUDIES
MILITARY SCIENCE
UNDERGRADUATE EDUCATION ADMINISTRATION
MIGRANT STUDENT SERVICES
SUPPORTIVE SERVICES PROGRAM
NEIGHBORHOOD SUCCESS COLLABORATIVE

### SUMMER SCHOOL

**SUMMER SCHOOL** 

# **COLLEGE OF VETERINARY MEDICINE**

VETERINARY DIAGNOSTIC LABORATORY
VETERINARY MEDICINE AUXILIARY PROGRAMS
OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM VETERINARY MED
LARGE ANIMAL CLINICAL SCIENCES
MICROBIOLOGY AND MOLECULAR GENETICS CVM
PATHOBIOLOGY DIAGNOSTIC INVESTIGAT CVM
PHARMACOLOGY TOXICOLOGY
LEARNING AND ASSESSMENT CENTER CVM
PHYSIOLOGY VETERINARY MEDICINE
SMALL ANIMAL CLINICAL SCIENCES
VETERINARY TEACHING HOSPITAL
VETERINARY NURSING
VETERINARY MEDICINE DEAN

### **FACULTY AND ACADEMIC STAFF AFFAIRS**

FACULTY AND ACADEMIC STAFF DEVELOPMENT FACULTY AND ACADEMIC STAFF AFFAIRS HUMAN RELATIONS MINORITY PROGRAM HUMAN RELATIONS WOMENS PROGRAMS SECRETARY FOR ACADEMIC GOVERNANCE VISITING FACULTY PRG

### **FACILITY FOR RARE ISOTOPE BEAMS**

NAT'L SUPERCONDUCTING CYCLOTRON LAB FACILITY FOR RARE ISOTOPE BEAMS

# **PROVOST AND ACADEMIC AFFAIRS**

SPARROW MSU INNOVATION CENTER
APPLE DEVELOPER ACADEMY
INSTITUTIONAL RESEARCH
INSTITUTIONAL SPACE PLANNING MANAGEMENT
PROVOST COMMUNICATIONS AND EVENTS
FACULTY GRIEVANCE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION
OFFICE OF PLANNING AND BUDGETS
STUDENT ATHLETE SUPPORT SERVICES
UNIVERSITY OMBUDSPERSON
PROVOST EVP FOR ACADEMIC AFFAIRS

### **ENROLLMENT AND ACADEMIC STRAT PLANNING**

SPARTAN ONE STOP
ACCRDTN, ASSESSMENT, CURRIC, COMPLIANCE
OFFICE OF ADMISSIONS
AP ENRL AND ACADEMIC STRATEGIC PLANNING
REGISTRAR
REGISTRAR'S OFFICE - OVERSEAS
FINANCIAL AID

### **ASC PROV FOR UNIV OUTREACH & ENGAGEMENT**

**NATIVE AMERICAN INSTITUTE** JULIAN SAMORA RESEARCH INSTITUTE GIFTED AND TALENTED EDUCATION GATE ADMIN SUPPORT MLK INITIATIVE **UPWARD BOUND** COMMUNITIES OF PLACE **OUTREACH & ENGAGEMENT STRATEGIC INVSTMNT OUTREACH & ENGAGEMENT PARTNERSHIPS** USABILITY ACCESSIBILITY RSCH CONSULTING **UOE COMMUNICATION & INFORMATION TECHNOL UNIV OUTREACH & ENGAGEMENT - ADMIN** CENTER FOR COMMUNITY ENGAGED LEARNING COMMUNITY EVALUATION AND RSCH **COLLABRTVE** 

### **INTERNATIONAL STUDIES AND PROGRAMS**

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND SCHOLARSHIP

PRTNSHP CUT HUNGER POVERTY IN AFRICA VISITING INTNL PROFESSIONAL PROGRAM CTR FOR ADV STUDY OF INTL DEVELOP ISP AFRICAN STUDIES CENTER ASIAN STUDIES CENTER
CANADIAN STUDIES CENTER
OFFICE OF INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS SCHOL
CANR INTERNATIONAL PROGRAMS ISP
GLOBAL INNOV IN DEV, ENGAGE AND SCHSHP
INTERNATIONAL EXTENSION CREDIT PROGRAM
INTERNATIONAL STUDIES AND PROGRAMS DEAN
LATIN AMERICAN STUDIES CENTER
EDUCATION ABROAD CENTER SUPPORT
EDUCATION ABROAD CREDIT PROGRAM
CENTER FOR EUROPEAN AND RUSSIAN STUDIES
CENTER FOR GENDER IN GLOBAL CONTEXT

# **MSU HEALTH TEAM**

MSU STUDENT HEALTH CENTER OSTEOPATHIC MANIPULATIVE MEDICINE HT **HEALTH INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY** FAMILY AND COMMUNITY MEDICINE HT FAMILY MEDICINE HT MSU HEALTH TEAM **HUMAN MEDICINE DEAN - HT** OSTEOPATHIC MEDICAL SPECIALTIES HT MEDICINE HT HEALTH SERVICES QUALITY MGMT OFFICE NURSING HT OBSTETRICS GYN REPRODUCT BIO HT OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE DEAN - HT NEUROLOGY OPHTHALMOLOGY HT OSTEOPATHIC SURGICAL SPECIALTIES HT PEDIATRICS HT PEDIATRICS AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT HT PHYSICAL MEDICINE REHABILITATION HT PSYCHIATRY HT RADIOLOGY HT DEPARTMENT OF ORTHOPEDICS HT SURGERY HT

# **LIBRARIES**

UNIVERSITY ARCHIVES AND HISTORIC COLLECT MSU PRESS LIBRARIES INFRASTRUCTURE TECHNOLOGY - LIBRARY LIBRARIES LIBRARIES, SPECIAL

### **VOICE LIBRARY**

# **MSU AGBIORESEARCH**

PHILOSOPHY MABR

PLANT SOIL AND MICROBIAL SCIENCES EXT COMMUNITY FOOD AND ENVIRONMENT MABR

CENTER FOR RESEARCH ON INGREDIENT SAFETY BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING

COMPUTATIONAL MATH SCI AND ENGR MABR

**GREENHOUSE FACILITIES MABR** 

SOUTH CAMPUS ANIMAL FARMS MABR

**ENGINEERING DEAN ABR** 

STATISTICS AND PROBABILITY ABR
ADVERTISING AND PUBLIC RELATIONS
AG NATURAL RESOURCES DEAN MABR
CANR EXTERNAL RELATIONS MABR
ANR COMMUNICATIONS MABR
AG FOOD RESOURCE ECON MABR
BIOSYSTEMS AG ENGINEERING MABR

VETERINARY DIAGNOSTIC LABORATORY MABR

ANIMAL SCIENCE DEPARTMENT MABR BIOCHEMISTRY MOLECULAR BIO MABR

MSU AGBIORESEARCH DIR OFC

PLANT BIOLOGY MABR

SCHL OF PLANNING DSGN CNST MABR BIOLOGICAL MODELING CENTER MABR

CEM ENGINEERING MATERIALS SCIENCE MABR

**CHEMISTRY MABR** 

CIVIL ENVIRONMENTAL EGR MABR

OFF OF DIVERSITY EQUITY AND INCLUSION

**COMMUNICATION MABR** 

COMPOSITE MATERIALS STRUCT CTR MABR

**OUTREACH ENGAGE PART MABR** 

**CRIMINAL JUSTICE MABR** 

CANR ADMINISTRATION DEAN ANR MABR
DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY
ELECTRICAL COMPUTER ENGINEERING MABR
CENTER FOR ADVANCED MICROSCOPY MABR
DIVISION OF ENGINEERING RESEARCH MABR

**ENTOMOLOGY MABR** 

EPIDEMIOLOGY AND BIOSTATISTICS AGBIO ENVIRONMENTAL SCI POLICY PROG MABR

MSUE DIRECTORS OFFICE MABR

**HUMAN DEVELOPMENT FAM STUD MABR** 

FISHERIES AND WILDLIFE MABR

FOOD SCIENCE AND HUMAN NUTRITION MABR

**FORESTRY MABR** 

GEOGRAPHY ENVIRONMENT SPATIAL SCI MABR EARTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES MABR GLOBAL CHANGE EARTH OBSERVATIONS MABR

JULIAN SAMORA INSTITUTE MABR

HORTICULTURE MABR

HUMAN NUTRITION AND FOODS MABR
CANR INTERNATIONAL PROGRAMS MABR

JAMES MADISON DEAN MABR KELLOGG BIO STATION MABR CAMPUS ANIMAL RESOURCES

ANR RESEARCH AND EXTENSION CENTERS MABR

LARGE ANIMAL CLINICAL SCIENCES MABR MICROBIOLOGY MOLECULAR GEN MABR

MUSIC MABR

DEAN OF NATURAL SCIENCE MABR

PACKAGING MABR

PATHOBIOLOGY DIAGNOSTIC INVESTGN MABR PHARMACOLOGY AND TOXICOLOGY MABR

PHYSIOLOGY MABR

PLANT RESEARCH LABORATORY MABR

POLITICAL SCIENCE MABR

PSYCHOLOGY MABR SOCIAL WORK MABR SOCIOLOGY MABR

ANR TECHNOLOGY SERVICES MABR URBAN AFFAIRS CENTER MABR VETERINARY MEDICINE DEAN MABR

WATER RESEARCH INSTITUTE MABR

INTEGRATIVE BIOLOGY

EXT AGRICULTURE AGRIBUSINESS MABR

MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY EXTENSION

EPIDEMIOLOGY AND BIOSTATISTICS MSUE PLANT SOIL AND MICROBIAL SCIENCES SOUTH CAMPUS ANIMAL FARMS MSUE MSU AGBIORESEARCH DIR OFC MSUE ADVERTISING AND PUBLIC RELATIONS

**CANR EXTERNAL RELATIONS** 

ANR COMMUNICATIONS MSUE

AGRICULTURAL FOOD RESOURCE ECONOMICS
BIOSYSTEMS AND AG ENGINEERING MSUE
INSTITUTE OF AGRICULTURAL TECHNOLOGY
VETERINARY DIAGNOSTIC LABORATORY
ANIMAL SCIENCE DEPARTMENT - MSUE

**COMMUNICATIVE SCIENCES & DISORDERS MSUE** 

PLANT BIOLOGY MSUE

SCHL OF PLANNING, DESIGN&CNST-MSUE

**BROADCASTING SERVICES MSUE** 

CHEM ENGINEERING MATERIALS SCIENCE MSUE CIVIL & ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING MSUE OFF OF DIVERSITY EQUITY AND INCLUSION

**COMMUNICATION MSUE** 

OUTREACH & ENGAGEMENT PARTNERSHIPS MSUE COUNSELING, EDUC PSYCH & SPEC EDUC MSUE

**CRIMINAL JUSTICE - MSUE** 

CANR ADMINISTRATION/DEAN ANR MSUE

**EDUCATION DEAN MSUE** 

**DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY** 

**ENTOMOLOGY MSUE** 

**ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE & POLICY PROG MSUE** 

MSUE DIRECTORS OFFICE

**HUMAN DEVELOPMENT & FAMILY STUDIES-MSUE** 

FAMILY MEDICINE, DEPARTMENT OF - MSUE

FISHERIES AND WILDLIFE MSUE

FOOD SCIENCE AND HUMAN NUTRITION MSUE

**FORESTRY MSUE** 

GEOGRAPHY ENVIRONMENT SPATIAL SCI MSUE

KINESIOLOGY MSUE

JULIAN SAMORA INSTITUT MSUE

**HORTICULTURE - MSUE** 

**HUMAN MEDICINE DEAN - MSUE** 

CANR INTERNATIONAL PROGRAMS MSUE KELLOGG BIOLOGICAL STATION MSUE

ANR RESEARCH AND EXTENSION CENTERS MSUE

LARGE ANIMAL CLINICAL SCIENCES MSUE

NURSING MSUE PACKAGING - MSUE

PATHOBIOLOGY & DIAGNOSTIC INVESTIGATION

NATURAL FEATURES INVENTORY MSUE

PLANT RESEARCH LABORATORY

**PSYCHOLOGY - MSUE** 

SOCIAL WORK MSUE
SOCIOLOGY MSUE
ANR TECHNOLOGY SERVICES - MSUE
WATER RESEARCH INSTITUTE - MSUE
EXTENSION AGRICULTURE AND AGRIBUSINESS

EXTENSION CHILDREN AND YOUTH EXTENSION COMMUNITY FOOD AND ENVIRONMENT

**EXTENSION HEALTH AND NUTRITION** 

### **GRADUATE SCHOOL DEAN**

LAW SCHOOL PROGRAMMING
TEACHING ASSISTANT PROGRAMS
GRADUATE SCHOOL DEAN

# **MSU DUBAI**

DUBAI PROJECT
DUBAI PROJECT EAST LANSING

# **GENERAL UNIVERSITY ITEMS**

TREASURY AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
HEALTH ASSESSMENT SURVEY
ACADEMIC COMPETITIVENESS INITIATIVES
FINANCE UNIVERSITY ITEMS
YEAR END ITEMS
STUDENT LOAN PROGRAMS
UNDERGRADUATE SUMMER RESEARCH SUPPORT
INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH SPACE
BUILDING MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS
ADV MAT ENGINEERING EXP STATION MIDL
ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT GRAD ASSISTANTSHIP
OFF CAMPUS CREDIT PROGRAM
ENGINEERING RESEARCH FACILITY
RECYCLING WASTE REDUCT FLY ASH DISPOSL

MSU STUDENT HEALTH CENTER
KINSHIP CARE
KCP COLLEGE DAY PROGRAMS
SIS PERSONNEL SUPPORT

### MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF LAW

JURIS DOCTORATE PROGRAMS LAW GRADUATE AND INTERNATIONAL PROGRAMS COLL OF LAW CLINICS, CENTERS, INSTITUTES COLLEGE OF LAW DEAN

# **INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SERVICES**

MSU IT OFFICE OF THE ACIO
MSU IT EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGY
IT SERVICES INFRASTRUCTURE SUPPORT
MSU IT ENTERPRISE SERVICES
MSU TECHNOLOGY STORE
IT SERVICES CYBERINFRASTRUCTURE
IT SERVICES SECURITY
IT SERVICES PROJECT MANAGEMENT
MSU IT CLIENT EXPERIENCE
IT SERVICES COMMUNICATION AND TRAINING
IT SERVICES INNOVATION AND DEVELOPMENT
MSU IT HEALTH CARE TECHNOLOGY
IT SERVICES VP AND CIO
IT SERVICES ANALYTICS AND DATA SOLUTIONS
TEACHING AND LEARNING FUND

### **UNIVERSITY PROCUREMENT AND LOGISTICS**

MAIL SERVICES
SUPPLY CHAIN FULFILLMENT
UPL FINANCE AND ANALYTICS
OFFICE SERVICES
PROCUREMENT AND PAYMENT SYSTEMS
UPL ADMINISTRATION

# **HUMAN RESOURCES**

IT SERVICES NACIS

BENEFITS ADMINISTRATION
EMPLOYEE RELATIONS
HUMAN RESOURCES

### **ADMINISTRATION**

EVP ADMINISTRATION MSU FOUNDATION

### **INFRASTRUCTURE PLANNING AND FACILITIES**

IPF CAMPUS PLANNING AND ADMINISTRATION LAND MANAGEMENT
IPF STRATEGIC INITIATIVES
IPF BUILDING SERVICES

**IPF CAMPUS SERVICES** 

IPF REAL ESTATE AND CAPITAL PLANNING

IPF MAINT AND REPAIR STOCK

**IPF ADMINISTRATION** 

**IPF SUPPORT SERVICES** 

IPF PLANNING DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION

**IPF POWER AND WATER** 

### **FINANCE**

ENTERPRISE BUSINESS SYSTEMS PROJECTS
OFFICE OF SENIOR VP, CFO AND TREASURER
OFFICE OF FINANCIAL PLANNING AND BUDGET
TREASURY AND FINANCIAL MGMNT OPERATIONS
SPONSORED PROGRAMS ADMIN CGA
POSTAWARD

CONTROLLER

RISK MANAGEMENT

# **DIVISION OF STUDENT LIFE AND ENGAGEMENT**

UNIVERSITY LICENSING

AUXILIARY SPORTS GROUP

STU DEVELOPMENT AND EXTERNAL RELATIONS DIVERSITY EQUITY INCLUSION AND BELONGING

STUDENT DEVELOPMENT AND LEADERSHIP

**BRESLIN CENTER** 

**CULINARY SERVICES RETAIL OPERATIONS** 

**CULINARY SERVICES** 

FOREST AKERS GOLF COURSE

STUDENT LIFE AND ENGAGEMENT ADMIN

MSU TENNIS OPERATIONS

KELLOGG CENTER

LAUNDRY

AKERS/HUBBARD HALL

**AKERS SNACKSHOP** 

CENTRAL BAKERY

**BRODY COMPLEX** 

RESIDENCE EDUCATION AND HOUSING SER ADMN

**HOLMES HALL** 

SPARTAN HOSPITALITY GROUP

SHAW HALL

CASE WONDERS HALLS

### **OTHER**

ICE ARENA MUNN

PRESIDENTS COUNCIL STATE COLLEGES UNIVER

MICHIGAN VIRTUAL UNIVERSITY

STATE NEWS

**UNIVERSITY CLUB** 

# MSU UNIVERSITY RESEARCH ORGANIZATION

UNIVERSITY RESEARCH ORGANIZATION

### **RESEARCH AND INNOVATION**

INSTITUTE FOR INTEGRATIVE TOXICOLOGY

**FOOD SANITARIAN** 

MSU INNOVATION CENTER

MIDLAND ST ANDREWS

**BIOECONOMY INSTITUTE LANSING** 

PLANT RESILIENCE INSTITUTE

**GREENHOUSE FACILITIES SVPRI** 

**AXIA INSTITUTE** 

**ELEMENTAL HEALTH INSTITUTE** 

ORI POST AWARD GRANT MANAGEMENT

RESEARCH INNOVATION CNTRS AND INSTITUTES

ASSOCIATE VICE PRESIDENT FOR RESEARCH

RESEARCH TECHNOLOGY SUPPORT FACILTY

INSTITUTE FOR CYBER ENABLED RESEARCH

GREAT LAKES BIOENERGY RESEARC CTR VPRGS

**CAMPUS ANIMAL RESOURCES** 

**MSU TECHNOLOGIES** 

CTR FOR STATISTICAL TRAINING CONSULTING

OFFICE OF RESEARCH REGULATORY SUPPORT

**ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH AND SAFETY** 

OFFICE OF RESEARCH AND INNOVATION

**BIOECONOMY INSTITUTE** 

BIO/COMPUTATIONAL EVOLUTION IN ACTION

SPONSORED PROGRAMS ADMIN OSP PREAWARD

# **GOVERNMENT RELATIONS**

GOVERNMENT RELATIONS

FEDERAL RELATIONS

### **GENERAL COUNSEL**

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT OFFICE

**GENERAL COUNSEL** 

# **VICE PRES FOR STUDENT AFFAIRS & SERVICES**

**DEAN OF STUDENTS** 

OFFICE OF CULTURAL & ACADEMIC TRANSITION

ASSOCIATED STUDENTS OF MSU

**FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER** 

**COUNCIL OF GRADUATE STUDENTS** 

FM RADIO STATION WDBM

RECREATIONAL SPORTS AND FITNESS SERVICES

CAREER SERVICES AND PLACEMENT

**RESIDENCE HALL ASSOCIATION** 

SERVICE LEARNING CENTER

DEPARTMENT OF RESIDENCE LIFE

SPARTAN KID CARE, INC.

STUDENT ACTIVITIES - STUDENT LIFE

STUDENT AFFAIRS & SERVICES VICE PRES

**EDUCATIONAL AND SUPPORT SERVICES** 

STUDENT LIFE

STUDENT ORGANIZATIONS, REGISTERED

# **UNIVERSITY ADVANCEMENT**

**DEVELOPMENT DATA SERVICES** 

**ADVANCEMENT SERVICES** 

ALUMNI LIFELONG EDUCATION

CAPITAL CAMPAIGN

ASC VICE PRES FOR UNIVERSITY DEVELOPMENT

MSU ALUMNI OFFICE

ADVANCEMENT INFO SYS DONOR STRATEGY

ADVANCEMENT ENGAGEMENT

VICE PRESIDENT UNIVERSITY ADVANCEMENT

ADVANCEMENT ADMINISTRATION

# **VP GLOBAL ENGAGEMENT & STRATEGIC PRJCTS**

VP GLOBAL ENGAGEMENT AND STRATEG PROJS

### **RECALL FROM LAYOFF**

- -140 Recall is the reinstatement of a laid off Employee to active status within the period as defined in the provision on seniority as provided in Paragraph 142 below. In the event of recall, the Employee will retain the original service date and will receive FTE service credit for up to two (2) years for the period of layoff as specified in Full-time Equivalent Service Months, Article 2, H. Accrued sick leave will be reinstated when the Employee returns to work. Copies of notices of recall shall be sent to the Association President. Employees shall not be required to accept a bypass interview opportunity to a vacant position in a represented work location other than the current work location (i. e. , College of Human Medicine at Grand Rapids, College of Osteopathic Medicine Detroit Medical Center, College of Osteopathic Medicine at Macomb University Center or the City of Lansing/East Lansing campus). Should a bypass interview opportunity at another represented work location be offered and rejected by the Employee, no further bypass interview opportunity at another represented work location shall be offered for that represented work location during the remaining recall period.
- -141 Employees meeting the conditions for a bypass interview outlined in this Agreement, shall receive consideration for positions until the point when the position posting has been closed. The positions considered for an individual are subject to the conditions stipulated in this article and are further subject to the corresponding grade levels for which the Employee has indicated they wish to be considered.
- -142 The two (2) bargaining unit Employees with the greatest length of service who have been notified of imminent layoff or who have been laid off and who:
  - a. Meet the minimum requirements of a vacancy and
  - b. Are capable of performing the duties of the position within ninety (90) days.

will be added as a required interview as provided in Paragraph 154 where the position is at the same or lower salary grade, and at the same or lesser percentage time. The University may consider candidates as allowed by Paragraph 154 with no obligation to hire the bypass interview candidate.

-143 To be eligible for recall from layoff, the Employee must satisfy the following requirements:

Must be a regular Employee.

Must have been scheduled to work half-time or more.

Must have completed the probationary period.

- -144 Employees with the greatest length of service will be given the rights under Paragraph 139 first, provided they meet the minimum requirements and are capable of performing the duties of the position within ninety (90) days. An Employee who is one (1) of the two (2) most senior employees and who meets the minimum requirements for a vacant position but who is not added to the list of candidates to be interviewed shall receive written reasons documenting the Employer's decision with a copy to the President of the Association.
- -145 An Employee on layoff status will lose all recall rights and be terminated upon the occurrence of any of the following:

Expiration of the recall eligibility period referred to in the provision on seniority.

Unsuccessful termination from two (2) trial periods.

### LAYOFF TRANSITION ADJUSTMENT

- -146 An Employee shall be eligible for a Layoff Transition Adjustment if the affected Employee meets the following eligibility requirements:
  - A. The Employee must have six (6) or more years of service at the time of layoff.
  - B. The Employee must actually be laid off.
  - C. The Layoff Transition Adjustment is not payable until after the affected Employee is on layoff for a minimum of ninety (90) calendar days.
- -147 In the event the laid off Employee meets the criteria set forth above, the Employee may at their option, elect to accept a Layoff Transition Adjustment based on the following schedule:

<b>University Seniority</b>	<b>Transition Adjustment</b>
6 years	4 weeks salary
7 years	5 weeks salary
8 years	6 weeks salary
9 years	7 weeks salary
10 years	8 weeks salary
11 years	9 weeks salary
12 years	10 weeks salary
13 years	11 weeks salary
14 years	12 weeks salary
15 years	13 weeks salary
16 years	14 weeks salary
17 years and over	15 weeks salary

-148 An Employee who elects to receive the Layoff Transition Adjustment will no longer be eligible for recall. An Employee who may be eligible for University Retirement may elect the Layoff Transition Adjustment and still be eligible for all benefits afforded a retiree.

# **TERMINATION**

- -149 In case of termination, benefits will be affected as follows:
  - A. Dental coverage ceases on the last day of the month in which employment is terminated.
  - B. The Long-Term Disability, Basic Life, Optional Employee, Spouse and Child Life and Travel Accident coverage cease on the last day of the month in which employment ends.
  - C. Health care coverage may be converted to a direct pay plan by contacting the company involved within thirty-one (31) days.
  - D. Employee-Paid Life and Basic Life Plans may be converted, if desired, by contacting the company involved within thirty-one (31) days.
  - E. In accordance with the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act, most Employees and/or their covered dependents losing coverage or eligibility have rights to continue their health and dental benefits for specified periods of time. Details are available on the MSU Human Resources website.

### **UNUSED SICK LEAVE CREDITS**

-150 A laid-off Employee whose recall rights have expired and who is not otherwise eligible for payout of accrued sick leave under Paragraph 293 and 295 of this Agreement may receive partial payment for unused sick leave credits according to the schedule below.

<b>University Seniority</b>	Sick Leave Payout
2 years through 10 years	Unused sick leave, not to exceed one-eighth (1/8) of up to 1,400 hours
11 years through 15 years	Unused sick leave, not to exceed one-quarter (1/4) of up to 1,400 hours
16 years through 20 years	Unused sick leave, not to exceed three-eighths (3/8) of up to 1,400 hours
More than 20 years	Unused sick leave, not to exceed one-half (1/2) of up to 1,400 hours

- -151 For purposes of Paragraph 150, "University Seniority" is that which existed as of the effective date of the layoff.
- -152 An Employee who receives payment for unused sick leave under this section may also receive a Layoff Transition Adjustment, provided that eligibility requirements for that program have been met.

### FILLING VACANT POSITIONS

-153 The University agrees to the principle of career development of its Employees and will, in good faith, encourage career concepts of employment.

### **PROCEDURE**

- The recruitment of applicants and the filling of vacant positions is the responsibility of the Employer. The Employer is committed to the concept of promotion from within. All vacancies will be posted except where mutually agreed upon in writing with the Association and the University. All candidates who possess the posted qualifications shall be considered. MSU Human Resources will provide employing departments with a list of the candidates. If MSU Human Resources determines an applicant to be not qualified for a posted position, the Employee will be notified immediately. In any instance where there are five (5) or more on-campus bargaining unit candidates possessing the posted qualifications, at least five (5) of said candidates shall be interviewed along with up to two (2) bypass interview candidates under Paragraph 142.In the event fewer than five (5) bargaining unit candidates apply and possess the posted qualifications, each shall be interviewed along with up to two (2) bypass interview candidates under Paragraph 142.
- -155 The procedures for filling positions shall be by-passed using the procedures in Article 9 for persons for such reasons as, but not limited to:
  - · returning from leave of absence,
  - · receiving workers' compensation,
  - long-term disability,
  - · extended disability,
  - trial period termination,
  - · imminent layoff,
  - · layoff,
  - · hours reduction.

See Paragraph 140 for bypass interview opportunities offered to Employees working at other represented work locations.

-156 It is understood that the listing of bypass interview statuses is not a priority listing and no grievance shall be filed over the issue of priority status.

The University may utilize "pool postings" and "open rank" postings. A "pool posting" is a posting that will have multiple openings behind a single main posted advertisement for a vacancy. An "open rank" posting is a posting containing multiple classification levels for which the selected candidate may be hired based upon their credentials. The University will notify the Association when such postings are utilized.

### **INTERVIEWS**

- -157 The responsibility for determining which candidates shall be interviewed will reside with the employing department, except for the up to two (2) bypass candidates referred for interview. This determination will be based upon information obtained from the candidates' credentials. The department should take longevity of service into account when determining who will be interviewed, but capability to do the work shall be the prime factor for setting the interview list.
- -158 The Association shall be provided with a copy of the Position Vacancy Record which will contain the reasons for selection and non-selection. This shall be done in a timely manner. If the procedures outlined above have been followed, the determination will not be grievable.

# CLASSIFICATION/RECLASSIFICATION OF POSITIONS

-159 The Employer establishes and maintains a system for the evaluation and classification of all bargaining unit positions. The authority to classify new positions, reclassify existing positions and eliminate positions is vested in MSU Human Resources.

### **NEW CLASSIFICATIONS AND RATES**

-160 When a classification is established or modified, the grade level for the classification shall be fixed by the Employer and the Association shall be notified prior to implementation. The compensation level shall be in conformity with rates established for positions of similar responsibility. If there is a disagreement over the compensation assigned the position, a special conference may be scheduled with the Office of Employee Relations. If the disagreement is not resolved, the Association may file a demand for arbitration within fourteen (14) calendar days of the special conference. The Arbitrator shall be limited to determining the appropriateness of the compensation level assigned the position but shall be without power to assign a compensation level for the classification.

### RECLASSIFICATIONS

- -161 The Unit Administrator will normally initiate requests for position reclassification.
  - A. Requests for position reclassification may also be initiated by the Association.
    - 1. Requests will be directed to MSU Human Resources. Following MSU Human Resource's review of the request, MSU Human Resources will make a recommendation to the Director of Employee Relations whose decision on the request shall not be grievable, but may be the subject of a s special conference.
    - 2. A copy of the decision of the Director of Employee Relations on such requests, together with the reasons for denying or approving the request, will be given to the Association's President at the time the decision is made. The Director of Employee Relations shall make this decision withing forty-five (45) calendar days after receiving MSU Human Resource's recommendation.
  - B. A copy of all reclassification requests and supporting information (other than those made by the Association) will be given to the Association's President at the time that the request is reviewed by MSU Human Resources.
    - 1. If the reclassification process results in a change in grade level, between APSA positions only, that Employee shall be paid the new rate and any

- changed benefits and retirement contributions thirty (30) work days prior to the date of the request for reclassification.
- 2. An Employee whose position is reclassified will not be required to serve either a probationary period or trial period. However, when the Employee is still in their initial probationary period at the time of reclassification, they will serve the remainder of the probationary period.
- 3. In the event the Employer reclassifies a position in APSA and the incumbent in the position is also an Executive Board Member of APSA, the removal of the APSA Board Member from the bargaining unit shall be delayed for sixty (60) calendar days from the date of approval by Human Resources. In order to qualify for the sixty (60) day delay, the Executive Board Member must have been previously identified to the employer by the APSA. This provision shall not delay the removal of supervisory duties or other personnel changes, including changes in pay, associated with the reclassification.

### **SALARY RATE**

-162 The salary of an Employee whose position is reclassified to a higher grade level shall be no less than the minimum salary of the higher grade level.

# **INTERIM ASSIGNMENTS**

The University shall pay a minimum lump sum "special payment" of \$500 in any monthly pay period where the Employee has performed in an interim (or acting) assignment for fifteen (15) or more working days. The payment may be a temporary addition to base salary or a lump-sum special payment at the unit's discretion. A lump-sum special payment will not be subject to salary-based benefits, such as the Employer or Employee contributions under the MSU 403(b) base retirement plan, life insurance, etc.

In order to qualify for a special payment, the employee must be assigned to the interim (or acting) position by a supervisor or managerial university official. The interim (or acting) assignment must be to cover a vacancy or leave. The assignment will be in writing and must include the following components:

- A. Effective dates. Assignment may be extended on mutual agreement, ended at the employer's discretion, or ended by the employee with fourteen (14) working days, notice.
- B. Summary of duties.
- C. Compensation (either the minimum payment or higher amount).
- D. Employee continues to accrue seniority and benefits under the collective bargaining agreement and continues to be covered under the agreement.
- E. The Association continues to represent the employee.
- F. Assignment is at-will, not subject to the grievance procedure.

G. Employee will return to their prior position at the end of the interim assignment.

An assignment in an interim role does not constitute a reclassification and does not waive any probationary or trial period. An assignment to an interim role outside of the bargaining unit does not give rise to a claim that such work should be included in this bargaining unit. An interim assignment does not otherwise limit the University's or the Association's rights under this agreement.

### **ARTICLE 12**

# PROMOTION/DEMOTION

### **PROMOTION**

-163 A "promotion" is defined as the movement of an Employee to a higher grade level. An Employee promoted one grade level shall receive a minimum salary increase of five (5%) percent or placed at the minimum rate for the new level--whichever is greater. An Employee promoted two (2) or more grade levels shall receive a minimum salary increase of ten (10%) percent or placed at the minimum rate for the new grade level--whichever is greater. The Employer is not prohibited from giving APSA Employees salary increases that exceed these minimums. The higher rate and any benefits shall begin on the effective date of the promotion.

# **DEMOTION**

-164 A "demotion" is defined as the movement of an Employee to a lower grade level other than by reclassification. The pay rate of an Employee who is demoted will be reduced by five (5%) percent if the grade level is lowered one grade level and ten (10%) percent or more if the grade level is lowered two (2) or more grade levels. The Employer may make exceptions to this provision when deemed appropriate.

# PROBATIONARY/TRIAL PERIOD

### **PROBATIONARY PERIOD**

- -165 Employees shall serve a twelve (12) month probationary period beginning at the time of hire as a new Employee with the University, rehire to the University (if more than twelve (12) months after separation), or upon initial entry into the bargaining unit from other University employment. The Unit Employer-supervisor shall have the right to certify successful conclusion of the probationary period before the end of the twelve (12) months. The Association President shall be notified upon early certification of the early successful conclusion. For those rehired with twelve (12) months of separation, see Paragraph 178.
- -166 Transfer to another bargaining unit position during the twelve-month (12) probationary period will not terminate the probationary period. The employee will complete the remainder of the probationary period in the new position. If the remaining probationary period is less than six (6) months when beginning in the new position, they will serve six (6) months in the trial period running concurrent with the probation period. During this time, the employer rights under the probationary period language supersede the rights under the trial period language.
- -167 An interim written evaluation shall be prepared by the probationary Employee's supervisor, summarizing overall job performance, which shall be reviewed with the Employee. If a probationary Employee's performance is unsatisfactory, such fact shall be communicated to the Employee as soon as is practicable in order to give the Employee the opportunity, if possible, to improve their performance.
- -168 The Association shall represent probationary Employees for the purposes of collective bargaining with respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment and other conditions of employment; however, no matter concerning the discipline, layoff or termination of a probationary Employee shall be subject to the grievance or arbitration procedures.

# WRITTEN EVALUATIONS

- -169 Employees may receive a performance evaluation prior to the completion of the probationary period and thereafter, at least on an annual basis.
- -170 The Employer and the Association agree that members of the bargaining unit shall be subject to an appraisal process that is fair.
- -171 The Employer and the Association believe that appraisal systems for supervisors at Michigan State University should be bilateral and continuing in nature.
- -172 The objectives of the appraisal program are to:

- A. Enhance communications between an Employee and a supervisor. Dialogue between an Employee and supervisor should be continuous and include coaching, guiding, and clarification of job responsibilities in the context of larger organizational goals.
- B. Develop Employees. An Employee's development may be related to either current or future positions and should be continuous to ensure that the University is able to respond to its quickly-changing environment.
- C. Support continuous quality improvement throughout the organization.

# **TRIAL PERIOD**

- -173 An Employee who changes position within the bargaining unit by selection process, or a result of bypass, or who re-enters the bargaining unit from other University employment, other than by the reclassification procedure, shall serve a six (6) month trial period, which trial period may be extended by the Employer for an additional six (6) months upon providing to the Employee written notice with reasons, with copy to the Association not less than thirty (30) calendar days prior to the completion of the original six (6) month trial period. The determination to extend the six (6) month trial period for an additional six (6) months shall not be grievable.
- -174 In the event the trial period is unsatisfactory or the Employee does not wish to continue in the position. The Employer may place the Employee in their former position. The Employee's failure to accept placement in their former position will be considered a voluntary resignation from the University. If the Employer does not place the Employee in their former position or there is no position to be placed in, the Employee will be given mandatory bypass interview rights.

### **SENIORITY**

# **DEFINITION**

-175 Seniority is defined as the length of continuous employment, except as provided below, starting with the original date of hire with the University. Except as otherwise provided in this agreement, periods of authorized leaves of absence do not cause loss of seniority.

# **LOSS OF SENIORITY**

- -176 Seniority rights are relinquished by the Employee for the following reasons:
  - A. Voluntary resignation
  - B. Retirement
  - C. Termination for just cause
  - D. Failure to accept recall from layoff provided the position offered was at a comparable compensation grade level to provide the Employee eighty (80%) percent or more of their salary earned at the time of layoff.
  - E. Failure to return from leave of absence
  - F. Failure to be recalled from layoff based on the following:

# University SeniorityRecall Rights0 to 3 yearsLength of University SeniorityMore than 3 years3 years

- G. The recall rights set forth in this subparagraph are tolled for Employees who accept and occupy an off-date position during the recall period.
- -177 Employees will receive service month credit for part-time service to qualify for retirement benefits.
- -178 Employees returning to employment with the University within twelve (12) months of termination from University employment shall receive credit for all past seniority upon successful completion of a six (6) month trial period. Failure of this trial period will result in the termination of employment as the Employee has not regained seniority rights.

# OFFICIAL PERSONNEL FOLDER(S)

### **RIGHT TO EXAMINE**

-179 Each Employee shall have the right, upon request, to examine the content of their own Official Personnel Record, or portions thereof, as provided by Michigan law.

### **PROCEDURE**

- -180 The Employee shall make an appointment with the responsible managerial personnel to examine their Official Personnel Record, or portions thereof. Managerial personnel shall be present when the Employee examines their Official Personnel Record, or portions thereof and the Employee may be accompanied by a representative of the Association if the Employee so desires. The Employee may designate in writing their desire to have a representative of the Association examine their record in their absence in a disciplinary matter, and the designated representative shall be allowed to examine the Official Record, or portions thereof.
- -181 Employees have a right upon request to see the information out of their records that a "hiring manager" would be allowed to see if they requested to review the Employee's personnel file. To request such a review, the Employee should contact MSU Human Resources with a written or emailed request to do a "hiring manager review" of contents from their Personnel Record. This section does not restrict an Employee's rights to access other desired information as allowed under the Bullard-Plawecki Act or FOIA but is intended to allow Employees to ascertain what information from their Personnel Records is accessible to hiring managers during pre-offer file reviews.

### NOTICE AND EMPLOYEE STATEMENTS

-182 The Employee has the right to submit a statement(s) concerning negative evaluative reports for inclusion in the Official Personnel Record(s). Brief statements may be submitted for inclusion in the Employee's Official Personnel Record(s).

# **PAST DISCIPLINARY ACTION**

-183 Upon an Employee's written request to MSU Human Resources, any records of disciplinary action which occurred more than eighteen (18) months prior to the request shall be removed from the Official Personnel Record(s), if the Employee's performance has been satisfactory within the past eighteen (18) months except as required by Title VII, Title IX and other state or federal civil rights law. The time frame in the previous sentence shall be six (6) years in cases of discipline arising from violations of the University Policy on Relationship Violence and Sexual Misconduct and Title IX Policy and/or the Anti-Discrimination Policy. This section may not be used to remove performance evaluations from the Official Personnel Record(s).

### PAST COUNSELING MEMORANDUMS

-184 Upon an Employee's written request formal counseling memoranda which occurred more than eighteen (18) months prior to the request, shall be removed from the Official Personnel Record(s) if the Employee's performance has been satisfactory within the past eighteen (18) months except as required by Title VII, Title IX and other state or federal civil rights laws. This section may not be used to remove performance evaluations from the Official Personnel Record(s). The time frame in the previous sentence shall be six (6) years in cases of counseling arising from violations of the University Policy on Relationship Violence and Sexual Misconduct Title IX Policy and/or the Anti-Discrimination Policy.

### **ABSENCES**

### **PROCEDURE**

-185 When absent from work, the Employee must make every effort to notify their supervisor of the reason prior to the beginning of a scheduled workday. If the absence is to continue beyond the first day, the Employee must notify their supervisor on a daily basis unless otherwise arranged and specifically approved by their supervisor. Failure to comply with this provision for three (3) consecutive workdays will be cause for termination except for extenuating circumstances acceptable to the Employer.

### **ARTICLE 17**

### **LEAVES OF ABSENCE**

# ABSENCES WITHOUT PAY [TEN (10) DAYS OR LESS]

- -186 Excused absences without pay less than ten (10) days may be granted by the immediate supervisor but shall not exceed ten (10) consecutive days unless approved as a leave of absence. Normally excused absences without pay will not exceed ten (10) working days in each fiscal year.
- -187 Excused absences without pay will not require the use of accrued paid time (excluding sick time).

# ABSENCES WITHOUT PAY INCLUDING LAYOFF [EXCEEDING TEN (10) DAYS]

- -188 Non-medical leaves of absence must be approved by the supervisor, administrative head of the unit and MSU Human Resources. Medical leaves or absence shall require a notification to the Employee's immediate supervisor, but shall be submitted to, and shall be subject to the approval of, MSU Human Resources. They may be taken for reasons as specified below.
- -189 During an unpaid leave of absence or layoff, an Employee will not accrue vacation or sick leave nor be eligible for any payments for time off work provided by this Agreement (except excused absences without pay).
- -190 Unless otherwise specifically provided for by this Agreement, seniority shall accumulate during leaves of absence or extensions and layoffs.

-191 The Employee must consult with MSU Human Resources about maintaining status in Employee benefit programs during leaves of absence without pay subject to and consistent with these program conditions.

# **USAGE**

- -192 With the approval of their supervisor(s) and/or MSU Human Resources, eligible employees may be authorized to take an unpaid leave for up to two (2) years for the following:
  - A. Sickness and disability.
  - Settlement of an estate.
  - C. Serious illness of a member of the Employee's family as defined under the funeral leave provisions of this Agreement.
  - D. Childcare when the Employee is the parent or designated guardian.
    - 1. Parent or guardian must provide evidence that the child needs special care.
    - 2. Evidence demonstrating that only the parent or guardian can deliver this special care.
    - 3. Such special care would require absence from work.
  - E. Governmental service, if elected to a full-time term of office and if holding an elective office. Subsequent elections shall extend to this leave.
  - F. Educational leave after two (2) years of employment.
  - G. To accompany spouse when spouse accepts University reassignment from MSU.
  - H. Extended vacation after two (2) years of employment.
  - I. Employees who become parents of or who adopt a child shall be entitled to parental or adoption leave of up to three (3) months, with job return rights, to commence on or before the date of birth or the date of adoption as determined by the Employee. This provision shall only apply to employees who do not qualify for paid parental leave as provided through the letter of agreement between the parties.
  - J. Other reasons deemed appropriate by the Employer.

- -193 The Employer, at its option and without cost to the Employee, may require that a designated physician(s) examine the Employee before returning the Employee to active employment.
- -194 During an involuntary leave of absence without pay, the Employee's position shall not be considered vacant and the Employee shall be entitled to return to the position if such return is within ninety (90) days of the commencement of the leave. An involuntary leave is defined as a leave required because of illness or incapacitation medically certified.

### **EDUCATIONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR VETERANS**

- -195 Employees who are reinstated in accordance with the Universal Military Training act, as amended, and other applicable laws and regulations, will be granted leaves of absence for a period equal to their seniority, but not to exceed two (2) years (without pay) in order to attend school full-time under applicable federal laws in effect on the date of this Agreement.
- -196 An Employee who fails to notify the Employer of their intent to return to work within thirty (30) calendar days of the expiration of a leave of absence in excess of one (1) year duration, will be given written notice by the Employer within twenty-one (21) calendar days prior to the expiration of said leave that the leave of absence will end twenty-one (21) days thereafter.
- -197 Upon application, a military leave of absence (without pay) will be granted to Employees who are employed in other than temporary positions. This applies to Employees who are inducted through a selective service system of voluntary enlistment, or if the Employee is called through membership in the National Guard or reserve component into the Armed Forces of the United States.

### **COMPENSATION PROGRAMS**

### **SALARY INCREASE**

- -198 Effective October 1, 2023, October 1, 2024, October 1, 2025, October 1, 2026 general salary increase funds calculated on the total salary base as of September 30 of the prior year will be made available for all Employees, the amount of which will be based on the current Memorandum of Understanding between Michigan State University and the Coalition of Labor Organizations, (MSU/Coalition Memorandum) which was separately ratified and signed by the Association.
- -199 The Employer agrees that within thirty (30) days of distribution of raise funds, it will present to the Association documentation of the complete expenditure of the general increases that were required to be expended on the APSA membership.

### SALARY PROGRESSION PROGRAM

- -200 Progression increases will be given to Employees who have completed at least one (1) year of University service on each January 1, or upon satisfactory completion of one (1) year's service; whose current performance is determined to be not less than satisfactory; and whose salary is less than one hundred twenty-five (125%) percent of the minimum hiring level.
- -201 For the term of this Agreement, eligible Employees have an opportunity to reach one hundred twenty-five (125%) percent of the minimum hiring rate for their level. Attainment of the one hundred twenty-five (125%) percent level will be achieved in increments of three (3%) percent up to the one hundred twenty-five (125%) percent level. Employees will not receive progression increases if they have less than a satisfactory overall rating on the latest Employee evaluation. The salary progression program is not available to the Sergeants since their step increases occur on their anniversary dates following promotion.
- -202 Special increases, either lump-sum or to the base salary, for merit or other reason deemed appropriate by the University may be granted during the budget year with appropriate Employer approvals.

# MINIMUM HIRING LEVELS

-203 Minimum hiring levels will be determined by the Employer.

### **NEW MINIMUM RATES**

- -204 Employees who are below the new minimum for their classification level will be brought to the new minimum. The new minimum rates are effective as of October 1, 2023.
- -205 Effective for each October 1 of this agreement, the Minimum Hiring Rates will increase by the percentage of the October 1, general salary increases respectively.

# **EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 1, 2023 (REFLECTS 1% + 3%)**

<b>GRADE LEVEL</b>	<u>MINIMUM</u>	<b>AUTOMATIC PROGRESSION LEVEL</b>
8	\$39,360	\$49,200
9	\$42,529	\$53,161
10	\$45,911	\$57,389
11	\$49,606	\$62,008
12	\$53,566	\$66,958
13	\$57,833	\$72,291
14	\$62,455	\$78,069
15	\$67,454	\$84,318
16	\$72,845	\$91,056
17	\$78,674	\$98,343

# **EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2024 (REFLECTS 1. 9%)**

<b>GRADE LEVEL</b>	<u>MINIMUM</u>	<b>AUTOMATIC PROGRESSION LEVEL</b>
8	\$40,108	\$50,135
9	\$43,337	\$54,171
10	\$46,783	\$58,479
11	\$50,549	\$63,186
12	\$54,584	\$68,230
13	\$58,932	\$73,665
14	\$63,642	\$79,553
15	\$68,736	\$85,920
16	\$74,229	\$92,786
17	\$80,169	\$100,211
88	\$49,264	N/A

### **OVERTIME**

- -206 Bargaining unit Employees in grade levels APSA 8, 9, 10, and 11, will receive overtime payment or compensatory time off at the rate of time and one-half (1-1/2) for scheduled hours worked in excess of forty (40) in a work week. Employees shall have the right to indicate their preference for pay or compensatory time for overtime worked. If an Employee wishes to receive compensatory time, the request must be approved by the Unit Administrator.
- -207 In health care delivery facilities where biweekly work schedules of eighty (80) hours are maintained, overtime pay or compensatory time off will be given for any scheduled hours worked in excess of eighty (80) hours in a biweekly period.
- -208 All holiday hours paid will be considered as time worked for the purpose of overtime computation. If an Employee has an unexcused absence on either their regularly scheduled working day immediately preceding or their regularly scheduled working day immediately following the holiday, the holiday hours will not be considered time worked for the purposes of overtime. Overtime premium shall not be pyramided, compounded or paid twice for the same time worked.
- -209 Employees who are called upon to perform special services not usually a part of their regular duties and/or responsibilities and who perform these services outside of their normal work schedules will receive payment in accordance with policies of the Employer. Unit Administrators or designees are responsible for the approval of overtime prior to the performance of overtime work. Approval means time worked as directed by the Employee's supervisor and does not include casual or unscheduled time spent at work beyond the normal workday or workweek.
- -210 Employees at grade level APSA 12 and above are not eligible for overtime pay. However, where unusual staffing and work requirements exist, the Unit Administrator may approve compensatory time off not to exceed the number of overtime hours worked. \*

### **LONGEVITY PAY**

- -211 A longevity pay plan to recognize long term employment is provided after six (6) years of continuous service with the University to regular staff working half time or more.
- -212 The longevity year is the twelve (12) month period beginning October 1 of each year, and ending September 30. The last date of hire will be used as the longevity date. The Employee must be engaged in active employment for thirty-nine (39) calendar weeks (273 calendar days) and be on the payroll as of October 1 of the longevity year. Six (6) years or more of continuous service as of October 1 of the longevity year is required for eligibility.
- -213 Eligible Employees who have periods of inactive service totaling ninety-three (93) days or more during a longevity year will not receive a longevity payment that year and will have the longevity date adjusted for future years.
- -214 Military leave of absence will not adjust the longevity date.
- -215 Full-time Employees who terminate prior to October 1 who are sixty-five (65) years of age and have five (5) or more years of full-time service, or who meet the minimum University retirement requirements will receive a prorated longevity payment.
- -216 Employees who are not on the active payroll due to layoff, but who otherwise meet the eligibility criteria, will receive a longevity payment.
- -217 Employees who are on leave of absence on October 1, but otherwise meet the eligibility criteria, will receive a longevity payment upon return to work. Payment is scheduled annually on the first working day of December and is computed as a percentage of the Employee's annual base rate of pay as of September 1 of the calendar year in which the longevity payment is made. Base rate of pay shall not include overtime or premium pay.
- -218 If an Employee is not on the payroll September 1, the rate to be used is the Employee's rate of pay upon their return. Longevity pay shall not exceed the longevity pay schedule.

<sup>\*</sup> Refer to Letter of Agreement Page 125

# -219 **PAYMENT SCHEDULE**:

# Annual Longevity Pay % of First \$9,500 of

Years of Continuous Service	Annual Wage
6 through 9 years	2%
10 through 13 years	3%
14 through 17 years	4%
18 through 21 years	5%
22 through 25 years	6%
26 or more years	8%

- -220 Three-quarter (3/4) time Employees: Percentage of first \$7,125 of annual wage.
- -221 One-half (1/2) time Employees: Percentage of \$4,750 of annual wage.

### **BENEFIT OVERVIEW**

- -222 This section presents a broad overview of the various benefit plans, education and retirement programs available to Employees and eligible dependents. Each benefit plan is described briefly on the following pages. Complete information and descriptive details of benefits may be obtained from the Benefits Office or the referred division within MSU Human Resources. If there is any misunderstanding regarding any of the programs described below, the provisions of the governing plan documents on file will prevail.
- -223 Wherever the term "full-time Employee" is used, this is understood to include those Employees on flexible appointments.

### **HEALTH BENEFITS**

## **HEALTH CARE COVERAGE**

- -224 New Employees and Employees newly appointed to an eligible status have thirty (30) days from the date of appointment to enroll. If enrollment does not occur within thirty (30) days, the Employee must wait until the next annual enrollment period.
- -225 Health care is subject to the January 1, 2022 December 31, 2025 Memorandum of Understanding between Michigan State University and the MSU Coalition of Labor Organizations (MSU/Coalition Memorandum) separately ratified and signed by the Administrative Professional Supervisors Association. A summary of benefits can be found on the MSU Human Resource website. In the event the parties to the Health Care Memorandum of Understanding are unable to reach an agreement, either the Association or the Employer may demand to bargain individually regarding health benefits coverage upon expiration of the January 1, 2022 December 31, 2025 Memorandum of Understanding.

# A. Prescription Drug.

- 1. Prescription drug benefits shall be provided to Employees represented by the Association, regardless of the University health plan in which they are enrolled.
- 2. The prescription drug program implemented pursuant to the Agreement shall be as specified in the MSU/Coalition Memorandum.
- 3. The appropriate premiums for the prescription drug program shall be paid by the University for full-time Employees and proportionately for part-time Employees.
- B. Base and optional programs. Subject to the MSU/Coalition Memorandum, the PPO and HMO shall continue to be offered to Employees. The University's contribution toward the cost of either program shall be the amount of the program having the lower rates in each plan year. This will be known as the base plan. In each of the aforementioned plan years, the cost of the base plan shall be borne in accordance with the 2022-2025 MSU/Coalition Memorandum by the University for full-time Employees and proportionately for part-time Employees. Employees electing to enroll under a plan other than the base plan will receive the applicable University single, two-person or family base plan contribution toward the plan cost, with the difference, if any, payable by the Employee through payroll deduction.

#### **DENTAL PLAN**

- -226 The University offers a choice of two dental plans: fee for service (traditional plan) or Dental Maintenance Organization (DMO) for all regular full-time and part-time Employees and official Michigan State University retirees.
- -227 Dental coverage is for eligible Employees, retirees, survivors of retirees, and eligible dependents. The fee for service plan pays fifty (50%) percent of usual and customary charges for most dental services as defined in the governing plan document.
- -228 Full-time and part-time Employees must enroll within thirty (30) days of initial employment or during a scheduled open enrollment. Coverage terminates at the end of the month employment terminates unless the Employee is an official Michigan State University retiree.
- -229 Benefit payments on the fee for service plan are limited each calendar year to Six Hundred (\$600.00) Dollars for each person. Orthodontic services are covered for persons under age nineteen (19) and are limited to a separate lifetime maximum of Six Hundred Dollars (\$600.00). Under the current provisions, the University pays the entire cost of the plan for full-time Employees, with a proportional contribution for part-time Employees.
- -230 Coverage for the DMO must be provided through one of their participating centers. Some benefits, such as diagnostic, preventive and minor restorations are no cost to the Employee and other benefits are provided with a fixed dollar copay. Orthodontic services are covered for under age nineteen (19) and over age nineteen (19) with a fixed dollar copay.
- -231 Dependent coverage terminates as above. In addition, certain changes in dependent status will terminate coverage for dependents. No conversion is possible for either of the dental plans.
- -232 Regular Employees will have the option to select a managed dental care plan. Information about the plan is available through MSU Human Resources. The Employer's cost for the managed care dental plan shall be no greater than the traditional dental plan cost. Should the managed care dental plan cost more than the traditional plan, the Employee shall pay all additional costs.

#### EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

-233 Without detracting from the existing rights and obligations recognized in other provisions of this agreement, the Employer and the Union agree to referring and encouraging Employees to participate in a coordinated program directed to objectives of employee assistance. Upon request, Employees shall be provided management released time to attend up to six (6) employee assistance program appointments annually.

#### **INSURANCE PROGRAMS**

#### **EMPLOYEE PAID LIFE PLAN**

- -234 The University provides an optional Employee-paid life program for regular full-time and part-time staff. The benefit is payable in the event of death.
- -235 Eight "salary indexed" levels of coverage are offered based on annual salary. Benefits may also be selected for eligible dependents. The benefit is decreasing term with no cash or loan value. The program is entirely funded from Employee contributions and rates are subject to future group experience.
- -236 Employees may enroll within thirty (30) days of initial employment or during a scheduled open enrollment period.

#### ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT

-237 The University provides an Accidental Death and Dismemberment option for regular full-time and part-time staff. The benefit is payable, in whole or in part, in the event of accidental death, dismemberment, or loss of sight. Benefit coverage may be selected in varying amounts depending on the plan selected. Accidental Death and Dismemberment may also be selected for eligible dependents in the following manner:

Spouse coverage: Forty (40%) percent of Employee coverage (50% if on the date of the accident the insured has no dependent children insured).

Children coverage: Five (5%) percent of Employee coverage (10% if on the date of the accident the Employee has no spouse insured).

- -238 The program is entirely funded from Employee contributions, and rates are subject to future group experience.
- -239 Employees may enroll within thirty (30) days of initial employment or during a scheduled open enrollment period.

#### **BASIC LIFE PLAN**

-240 The University provides a Basic Employee Life Plan for regular full-time staff. The benefit is payable in the event of death. The benefit is an amount of insurance equal to the Employee's base annual salary. The maximum benefit is Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000). The University pays the entire cost of the coverage and no application is necessary. Coverage is automatic and effective the first work day of employment.

### TRAVEL ACCIDENT PLAN

- -241 The University provides a Travel Accident program for all Employees. The benefit is payable in the event of accidental death, dismemberment, or loss of sight while traveling on or off-campus on University business.
- -242 The maximum benefit is fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000). The University pays the entire cost of the benefit. Coverage is automatic upon employment and will terminate on the Employee's last day of active employment. No conversion is possible.

# **RETIREE/OVER 65 LIFE PLAN**

- -243 The University provides a death benefit of two thousand dollars (\$2,000) for regular full-time staff who were insured under the Employee-paid life plan prior to July 1, 1976, and have maintained continuous coverage in that program.
- -244 Eligible staff shall have a death benefit of two thousand dollars (\$2,000) upon attainment of age sixty-five (65) or at official University retirement, whichever occurs first. The University pays the cost of the benefit. Coverage is automatic once the participation requirements are met.

#### **LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITH PAY**

# **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

- -245 The University grants eligible Employees leave of absence with pay in accordance with provisions as stated here. The types of leaves of absence with pay are: bereavement leave, holidays, jury duty, military duty, personal leave, sick leave and vacation.
- -246 While on leaves of absence with pay, the Employee will retain all previously earned benefits, and will continue to accrue vacation and sick leave credits. Compensation will be at the Employee's base rate of pay as of the Employee's last day of active work. Group insurance benefits and University contributions to benefits programs will continue during leaves of absence with pay.
- -247 See sections on benefits for details on types of leaves.

#### BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

- -248 The University grants eligible Employees paid time off to attend the funeral and/or make necessary arrangements when a death occurs in the Employee's immediate family.
- -249 Regular staff working half-time or more are eligible for bereavement leave upon the date of hire, rehire, or change to regular status of half-time or more.
- -250 Up to five (5) bereavement days will be allowed in the case of death of the Employee's:

Spouse Other Eligible Individual Parent/Stepparent

Child/Stepchild Grandchild

-251 Up to three (3) bereavement days will be allowed in the case of death of the Employee's:

Grandparents Parent-in-law Grandparent in-law

Sibling/Half-Sibling/Stepsibling Child-in-law Sibling-in-law

- -252 One (1) day will be allowed in the case of death of an Employee's or an Employee's spouse's parents' siblings, siblings' children or a member of the Employee's household.
- -253 With supervisory approval, additional days of accrued vacation, personal leave, personal observance days or compensatory time may be used in the case of the death of a member of the Employee's household. Should such leave be exhausted, unpaid leave may be used.
- -254 The supervisor may require proof of death and relationship to the deceased before approving payment. A maximum of eight (8) hours' pay may be made for each day of absence. Each hour paid to an Employee shall be paid at the Employee's straight time base rate of pay, and

shall not include shift premium or other premium payment. This benefit is payable only to active Employees whose absence from work is due solely to the death in the Employee's family and will not be paid in lieu of other types of paid leave.

- -255 Part-time Employees will be paid only for the hours scheduled to work but not worked because of the death.
- -256 Allowed bereavement leave may be taken any time during the period including the day of death and the day following the funeral.
- -257 The supervisor may grant permission to a reasonable number of Employees to attend the funeral or serve as pallbearers for a deceased Employee or former Employee, without loss of pay.

### **HOLIDAYS**

-258 The University grants eligible Employees paid holidays from work with no loss in pay. Regular staff working half-time or more, and temporary staff working half-time or more and scheduled to work receive the following ten (10) days as holidays:

New Years (2 days) Thanksgiving

Memorial Day Friday after Thanksgiving

Independence Day Christmas (2 days)

Labor Day Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day

The University reserves the rights to designate additional holidays.

- -259 Each year the University designates the dates on which the holidays are to be observed. The additional days at Christmas and New Years are observed either before or after the legal holiday.
- -260 An Employee is eligible for the holiday pay at the date of hire, rehire, or change to regular status of half-time or more. The Employee must be on active status at the time the holiday occurs. The benefit is not payable to Employees who are on leave of absence without pay, regular Workers' Compensation (not supplementing with accruals), layoff or disciplinary action. Holiday pay is not payable if the Employee has an unexcused absence on either the day before or the day after the holiday.
- -261 A maximum of eight (8) hours' pay may be received for each holiday. Each hour paid to an Employee shall be paid at the Employee's base rate of pay, and shall not include any other premium payment.
- -262 When a holiday falls during an Employee's vacation or paid sick leave, the Employee will receive holiday pay and no charge will be made to accrued sick leave or vacation time. Part-time Employees will be paid only for the hours scheduled to work but not worked because of the

holiday. When a holiday falls on an Employee's non-work day and no other day is designated by the University, an alternate day off will be given. Time and one-half (1-1/2) is paid for those who are required to perform work with prior approval of their supervisor, on the observance date of the holiday, and not on the calendar date of the holiday, if different. In addition, an alternate day off will be given.

### **JURY DUTY PAY**

- -263 The University recognizes the civic responsibility of Employees to serve on jury duty and makes provision for eligible Employees to perform such duty without loss of pay. Employees who are called to testify pursuant to court-issued subpoenas will receive jury duty pay in that event also.
- -264 Benefit begins on date of hire, rehire, or change to regular status of half-time or more. The Employee must notify supervision of the call to jury duty as soon as the information is known and must provide proof of the call to jury duty and proof of jury duty pay. The Employee is expected to report for regular University duty when temporarily excused from attendance at court. When called to testify, the Employee must provide proof of subpoena, and proof of witness fee, or proof that no witness fee was provided.
- -265 Employees serving on jury duty, who are absent from work for eighty (80) continuous hours or less, will receive their regular pay and will not be required to submit proof of jury duty payment to the University. They must, however, still submit proof of jury duty service to their supervisor.
- -266 Employees serving on jury duty who are absent from work for more than eighty (80) continuous hours will be required to submit proof of jury duty payment to their supervisor to facilitate the offset and adjustment of their regular, straight-time base pay by jury duty payments or witness fees received from the court.
- -267 If the Employee is otherwise eligible for holiday pay, holiday pay may be made if jury duty is interrupted by a legal holiday recognized by the University.
- -268 Part-time Employees will be paid the difference in pay only for the hours scheduled to work but not worked because of jury duty.

#### **MATERNITY LEAVE**

-269 Initially, the Employee must submit a letter from a physician giving the projected delivery date. MSU Human Resources will not require further medical documentation covering absences for a pregnancy when they occur within a period of four (4) weeks before the projected delivery date and eight (8) weeks following the delivery date. Beyond these periods, a statement will be required from the Employee's physician stating the reasons for the requested leave extension. Leaves associated with pregnancy may be either with or without pay, depending on accumulated

sick leave or vacation leave. The leave shall run concurrently with any leave under the Family Medical Leave Act.

### **MILITARY DUTY PAY**

- -270 The University recognizes the value of the military reserve and makes provision for eligible Employees to attend short term military duty without loss of pay.
- -271 The University will pay the difference between the Employee's military pay and base pay, if the Employee's military pay is less, for up to fifteen (15) calendar days when ordered to active duty for training, and for up to ten (10) additional calendar days, when ordered to active duty for the purpose of handling civil disorders, per fiscal year.
- -272 Eligibility begins on date of hire, rehire, or change to regular status of half-time or more. The Employee must notify supervision of the call to military duty as soon as the information is known and must provide proof of the call to military duty and proof of military pay.
- -273 For each full work day of absence, the Employee will receive the difference in pay between:
  - A. Regular military pay less any amounts specifically received for meals, housing, or travel, and
  - B. Eight (8) hours of regular pay at the base rate of pay excluding shift premium or other premium payment.
- -274 An Employee may use accrued vacation time in addition to receiving military duty pay. Part-time Employees will be paid the difference in pay between the total military duty pay received and the Employee's base pay for the total hours scheduled to work but not worked because of the military duty, if the military duty pay is less. An approved leave of absence for military service will not be counted as a break in the Employee's service record when determining their vacation allowance under the vacation plan, or any other benefits that are provided based on months of employment with the University.

### **PERSONAL LEAVE DAYS**

-275 The University grants eligible Employees paid time off in order to attend to personal matters. Employees on the payroll as of July 1, will be credited with twenty-four (24) hours of personal leave for use during the fiscal year (July 1 - June 30). Employees who are hired, rehired, or change to regular status of half-time or more during the fiscal year will be credited with personal leave as follows:

On the Payroll	<u>Full-Time</u>	<u>3/4 Time</u>	<u> 1/2 Time</u>
July 1 - December 31	24	18	12
January 1 - March 31	12	9	6
April 1 - May 31	6	4. 5	3
June 1 - June 30	0	0	0

Personal Leave may be reported in full hour or tenth of an hour (6 minute) increments.

-276 Eligibility begins on date of hire, rehire, or change to regular status of half-time or more. Personal leave days are subject to approval by the Employee's supervisor, and should be requested in advance if possible. Personal leave is to be taken and reported in tenths of an hour increments. A maximum of eight (8) hours' pay may be made for each day of absence; may vary for persons on a flexible appointment. Each hour paid to an Employee shall be paid at the base rate of pay and shall not include shift premium or other premium payment. The Employee may use all personal leave days before commencing a leave of absence without pay. Personal leave days may be used to supplement Workers' Compensation up to a maximum of eight (8) hours' total pay for each day of absence. Personal leave days may not be used to provide payment for absence due to disciplinary suspension.

-277 Part-time Employees will be paid only for the hours scheduled to work but not worked because of the approved absence. Personal leave credits may not be carried forward to the next fiscal year. No payment for unused personal leave credits will be made when the Employee terminates.

## **SICK LEAVE**

### **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

- -278 The University grants regular staff working half-time or more and temporary staff working half-time or more, paid time off due to illness. Employees accrue sick leave credits in accordance with the following requirements.
- -279 Employees begin earning sick leave credits upon hire or rehire. Full-time Employees accrue sick leave at the rate of four (4) hours for each completed two (2) weeks of service (104 hours annually). Service includes work time and "Leave of Absence with Pay" time, but does not include:

Leave of absence without pay.

Regular Workers' Compensation.

Layoff.

Disciplinary suspension.

- -280 Sick leave is credited at the end of each month and may be accumulated to a maximum of one thousand four hundred (1,400) hours.
- -281 Sick leave with pay may be used for the following reasons:
  - A. Personal illness or incapacity over which the Employee has no reasonable control which prohibits the performance of the duties of the Employee's job.
  - B. Absence from work because of exposure to contagious disease which, according to public health standards, would constitute a danger to the health of others by the Employee's attendance at work.
  - C. To complete appointments for medical or dental treatment when it is not possible to arrange such appointments for non-duty hours.
  - D. An Employee may use accrued sick leave credits not to exceed eighty (80) hours in a fiscal year for the illness of a member of the immediate family as defined in Paragraph 250 & 251. This eighty (80) hour limit is waived if the Employee has approved FMLA leave to care for a family member.
  - E. Illness or incapacity associated with pregnancy (see Maternity Leave Section).
- -282 A physician's statement may be required prior to approval of payment of sick leave. Payment of sick leave is authorized in full hour or tenth of an hour (6 minute) increments.
- -283 A maximum of eight (8) hours pay may be made for each day of absence; this may vary for persons on a flexible appointment. Each hour paid to an Employee shall be paid at the base rate of pay, and shall not include shift premium or other premium payment.

### **COORDINATION WITH OTHER TYPES OF PAY OR BENEFITS**

- -284 Employees must utilize any accrued sick leave credits, and optionally may thereafter use vacation, personal observance days, compensatory time and personal leave day credits, prior to being placed on an unpaid leave of absence due to illness/disability.
- -285 The University, for cause, may direct an Employee to go on sick leave.
- -286 Employees may be required to obtain a health provider's clearance before returning to work.
- -287 Workers' Compensation benefits will be supplemented by accrued sick leave credits as necessary to maintain the Employee's total income at an amount equivalent to eight (8) hours of pay at the base rate of pay for each day of absence.

-288 University designated holidays falling within an Employee's paid sick leave will not be charged to sick leave.

# **FULL-TIME/PART-TIME STATUS CONSIDERATIONS**

- -289 Part-time Employees scheduled to work twenty-six (26) hours per week but less than thirty-six (36) shall be credited with seventy-five (75%) percent of the sick leave accruals shown above for full-time Employees.
- -290 Part-time Employees scheduled to work twenty (20) hours per week but less than twenty-six (26) shall be credited with fifty (50%) percent of the sick leave accruals shown above for full-time Employees.
- -291 Part-time Employees will be paid only for the hours scheduled to work but not worked because of the sick leave.

## **OTHER PROVISIONS**

- -292 An Employee will not receive payment for unused sick leave when terminating, except when retiring as stated below.
- -293 Full-time Employees meeting the University's minimum retirement requirements shall be paid for fifty (50%) percent of unused sick leave, but not to exceed a maximum of fifty (50%) percent of up to one thousand four hundred (1,400) hours, as of the effective date of retirement.
- -294 Full-time Employees who do not meet the University's minimum retirement requirements but have at least five (5) years, but less than ten (10) years of continuous service, and have attained sixty-five (65) years of age at the time of separation, shall be paid fifty (50%) percent of unused sick leave as of the effective date of separation.
- -295 Full-time Employees who do not meet the University's minimum retirement requirements but have at least ten (10) years of continuous service, and have attained sixty-five (65) years of age at the time of separation, shall be paid one hundred (100%) percent of unused sick leave as of the effective date of separation.

#### **VACATION PAY**

# -296 Accrued Vacation Leave Carryover

# **Grade Levels Up To and Including 11**

Service Months	Earning Rate	Annual <u>Accrual</u>	Maximum <u>Accrual</u>
Completion of First 6 Months of Service	48 hours		
7 <sup>th</sup> Month through 60th Month	8 hours/month	96 hours	240 hours
61st Month through 120th Month	12 hours/month	144 hours	240 hours
121st Month	16 hours/month	192 hours	240 hours

# **Grade Levels 12 and Above**

Service Months	Earning Rate	Annual <u>Accrual</u>	Maximum <u>Accrual</u>
Completion of First 6 Months of Service 7 <sup>th</sup> Month	96 hours 16 hours/month	192 hours	240 hours

- -297 Employees at grade levels 12 and above will be credited with ninety (96) hours upon Employee completion of the first six (6) months of employment. Thereafter, vacation will accrue at the rate of sixteen (16) hours per month.
- -298 Employees accrue vacation pay credits at the rate shown above for each completed month of service. Service includes work time and "Leave of Absence with Pay" time, but does not include:
  - A. Leave of absence without pay.
  - B. Regular Workers' Compensation.
  - C. Layoff.
  - D. Disciplinary suspension.

## **USAGE REQUIREMENTS**

- -299 An Employee may take vacation at any time during the year with permission of the supervisor and in accordance with departmental requirements.
- -300 Vacation may be taken and reported in tenth of an hour (6 minute) increments.

- -301 A maximum of eight (8) hours pay may be made for each day of vacation. May vary for persons on a flexible appointment or flexible schedule.
- -302 Each hour paid to an Employee shall be paid at the base rate of pay, and shall not include shift premium or other premium payments.
- -303 University designated holidays falling within the Employee's vacation will not be charged to accrued vacation.
- -304 While on vacation, an Employee may not change usage for time taken for other forms of paid leave except for a documented illness.
- -305 The Employee will normally use all vacation before commencing a leave of absence without pay, except for sickness or disability.
- -306 Vacation may be used to supplement workers' compensation up to a maximum of eight (8) hours total pay for each day of absence.
- -307 Part-time Employees scheduled to work twenty-six (26) hours per week but less than thirty-six (36) shall be credited with seventy-five (75%) percent of the vacation accruals shown above for full-time Employees.
- -308 Part-time Employees scheduled to work twenty (20) hours per week but less than twenty-six (26) shall be credited with fifty (50%) percent of the vacation accruals shown above for full-time Employees.
- -309 Part-time Employees will be paid only for the hours scheduled to work but not worked because of vacation.
- -310 Employees are expected and encouraged to take their annual vacation accrual each year. An Employee may continue to accrue vacation up to the Maximum Accrual shown under the Accrual Schedule section. Further accrual beyond this Maximum Accrual is not possible and the Employee will receive no further vacation credit for months of service completed until the Employee reduces vacation credits.
- -311 An Employee will receive payment for unused vacation when terminating employment.

### **EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS**

## **EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE**

-312 The University provides assistance to enhance an Employee's educational and career development needs and goals for regular full-time and part-time staff.

# -313 Purpose

- A. The purpose is to provide Employees an opportunity to gain knowledge and develop skills which will improve proficiency on the present job and/or enhance job opportunities within the University.
- B. Determination of job relatedness. Courses, either with or without credit, are considered "job related" when any one of the following primary goals is met:
  - 1. To improve skills and/or update the technology involved in the present work assignment,
  - 2. To provide knowledge, skills and understandings which relate to more responsible, higher-level University positions to which the Employee may reasonably aspire,
  - 3. To enhance basic skills in written and/or oral communications and/or mathematics,
  - 4. To enroll in a college degree program in which the entire curriculum is directly related to the field of the Employee's current job assignment,
  - 5. To enroll in a college degree program in which the entire curriculum is designed to lead to a more responsible University position to which the Employee may reasonably aspire, or
  - 6. To enroll in individual college courses which are directly related to the field of the Employee's current job assignment, even though such courses might be components of a total degree program which is not related to the current job assignment.

#### **TUITION REIMBURSEMENT**

- -314 Tuition from MSU will be waived/reimbursed for credit courses for up to fourteen (14) credits per MSU academic year upon successful completion of the course(s) as follows:
  - A. For undergraduate credit courses taken through MSU, the tuition fee up to ninety percent (90%) of the MSU undergraduate maximum tuition rate per credit taken, not to exceed 14 semester credits per academic year.
  - B. For graduate credit courses taken through MSU, the tuition fee up to seventy-five percent (75%) of the MSU graduate tuition rate per credit taken, not to exceed 14 semester credits per academic year.
  - C. Registration fees, course fees, lab fees, books and other course materials charged by MSU are the responsibility of the student.
  - D. Tuition fees in excess of fourteen (14) credit hours per academic year are the responsibility of the student.
- -315 Tuition from a Michigan-based accredited educational institution, other than MSU, will be waived/reimbursed for up to sixty percent (60%) of the MSU undergraduate maximum tuition rate per credit taken, not to exceed fourteen (14) semester credits (20 term credits) per MSU academic year upon successful completion of the course(s). Part-time Employees shall be eligible for tuition waiver/reimbursement on a proportional basis. A grade of 2. 0 or better (or "CR" credit) is required for a credit course.
- -316 Reimbursement for credit courses taken through primarily online institutions and non-Michigan based institutions shall not be covered.
- -317 Application for educational assistance must be submitted to MSU Human Resources prior to the start of classes at the institution where class(es) will be taken. Only fees per credit will be reimbursed.
- -318 If the Employee is covered by benefits such as scholarship or fellowship aid, government aid, GI benefits, or similar assistance, waiver/reimbursement will be made only for that portion of the tuition which exceeds the amount of those benefits.

### **RELEASE TIME**

-319 Release time may be granted for up to five (5) hours per week.

#### **ELIGIBILITY**

- -320 The Employee becomes eligible upon the completion of twelve (12) full-time equivalent service months prior to the start of the class(es) being applied for. The Employee must have permission of their supervisor and/or the department/unit administrator.
- -321 The Employee must be admitted to the educational institution where the course work will be taken.
- -322 To receive reimbursement for MSU courses, the Employee shall submit the completed Educational Assistance form with departmental approval to MSU Human Resources. For the waiver to appear as a credit on the first billing by the Student Accounts Office, the Employee must submit the educational assistance form to MSU Human Resources at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of the first billing. Applications for educational assistance received after this deadline may result in late fees being assessed by Enrollment Services according to MSU registration policies. Payment of late fees will be the responsibility of the Employee.
- -323 To receive reimbursement for non-MSU courses, the Employee shall submit the completed educational assistance form with departmental approval to MSU Human Resources thirty (30) days prior to the start of class and send evidence that they have successfully completed the course within fifteen (15) days of the receipt of such evidence.
- -324 Employees who have had their tuition waived will authorize MSU Human Resources to verify completion of approved courses with the Registrar's Office upon application for waiver. In cases where tuition waivers are withdrawn (e. g. , terminated Employee, non-approved course, unsuccessful completion), the University will attempt to payroll deduct the waived tuition. If the University is unable to make collection through payroll deduction, the Association agrees to be responsible for the outstanding debt(s) up to fourteen (14) credits for each Employee.

### **TUITION WAIVER**

- -325 Bargaining unit members eligible for educational assistance shall be eligible for a tuition waiver program. This tuition waiver program will be applicable only to those MSU courses enrolled in through the University's on-campus enrollment procedure. As a condition of tuition waiver, an Employee must sign an agreement authorizing payroll deduction for the amount of tuition waived to be used in the event she/he does not successfully complete the course(s).
- -326 Employees interested in utilizing the tuition waiver program must submit their educational assistance application complete with departmental approval to MSU Human Resources thirty (30) days prior to the semester billing date set by the Fees and Scholarships Office. The application must be marked with a request for tuition waiver.

- -327 If the above timelines are met and the educational assistance application is approved, MSU Human Resources will forward a list of Employees eligible for tuition waiver to the Fees and Scholarship Office and to the Association.
- -328 For MSU credit courses Employees will be responsible for all charges in excess of the Matriculation Fee and in excess of the following:
  - A. For undergraduate credit courses taken through MSU, the tuition fee up to ninety percent (90%) of the MSU undergraduate maximum tuition rate per credit taken, not to exceed 14 semester credits per academic year.
  - B. For graduate credit courses taken through MSU, the tuition fee up to seventy-five percent (75%) of the MSU graduate tuition rate per credit taken, not to exceed fourteen (14) semester credits per academic year.
  - C. Registration fees, course fees, lab fees, books and other course materials charged by MSU are the responsibility of the student
  - D. Tuition fees in excess of fourteen (14) credit hours per academic year are the responsibility of the student.

MSU Human Resources will supply the Student Accounts Office with the total credits available for tuition waiver for each eligible Employee. In the event the approved course(s) is/are unavailable at the time of registration, other appropriate course(s) may be substituted and the application amended subject to the approval of the department administrator or designee and MSU Human Resources.

-329 Employees who have had their tuition waived will authorize MSU Human Resources to verify completion of approved courses with the Registrar's Office upon application for waiver. In cases where tuition waivers are withdrawn (e. g. , terminated Employee, non-approved course, unsuccessful completion), the University will attempt to payroll deduct the waived tuition. If the University is unable to make collection through payroll deduction, the Union agrees to be responsible for the outstanding debt(s).

# **NON-CREDIT COURSES**

- -330 Full and part-time Employees are immediately eligible and may apply for reimbursement and release time for non-credit courses.
- -331 Only job-related non-credit courses which are offered through MSU Human Resources, Outreach (e.g., Lifelong Education, Continuing Education, Evening College), MSU Computing and Technology Training Programs, Davenport University, Lansing Community College, and High School Adult Education Programs or other MSU Human Resource approved Educational/Training Programs are reimbursable.

- -332 Part-time Employees shall be eligible for job-related non-credit courses on a basis proportional to their employment status. Part-time Employees shall not be eligible for release time.
- -333 Non-credit course reimbursement will not exceed Nine Hundred (\$900. 00) Dollars per academic year.
- -334 If non-credit courses are taken during the same academic year as credit courses, the total reimbursement and/or waiver will not exceed ninety percent (90%) of the MSU undergraduate maximum tuition rate for up to fourteen (14) credit hours.
- -335 Employees must document their successful completion of non-credit courses by submitting either (1) a certificate from the course signed by the instructor, or (2) a form provided by MSU Human Resources signed by the instructor.

## **COURSE FEE COURTESY POLICY**

- -336 It is understood by both parties to this Agreement that the Course Fee Courtesy Policy herein described, shall be identical in all respects, except for the time period for eligibility as described below, to the Course Fee Courtesy Policy in effect for MSU faculty as approved by the MSU Board of Trustees.
- -337 Any changes or improvements to the faculty program shall be parallel at the same time in the Administrative Professional Supervisory program.

# **COURSE FEE COURTESY PROGRAM**

- -338 Dependent children and spouses/other eligible individuals of regular full-time Employees who have been continuously employed by MSU for a period of sixty (60) full-time equivalent service months, and who are employed prior to the second week of a semester or summer session will be entitled to a course fee courtesy. The course fee courtesy consists of the credit of one-half (1/2) of the applicable resident undergraduate course fees.
- -339 Dependent children shall be defined as (a) all legally dependent children of eligible staff; and (b) such children who have eligible staff as their legal guardians.
- -340 Dependent spouse/other eligible individual shall be defined as the legally recognized spouse of a staff member.
- -341 Course fees shall be defined as the amount associated with credit hour enrollment and shall not include the registration fee or such fees, taxes and charges as may be collected for third parties.

- -342 The course fee courtesy will be granted through the semester in which the 120th credit is attempted provided the dependent child or spouse is registered as a student in good academic standing at Michigan State University in a curriculum leading to the first baccalaureate degree or to a certificate in the Agricultural Technology program. For undergraduate students with transferable credits, the course fee courtesy is granted through the semester in which the combination of transferable credits and Michigan State University credits attempted equals 120. The course fee courtesy is available only to students enrolled through the on-campus registration process.
- -343 The course fee courtesy for dependent children and spouses will be discontinued at the conclusion of the semester or summer session at which the employment of the eligible staff member is terminated. If the dependent child or spouse is enrolled at the time of the eligible staff member's retirement in accordance with the Michigan State University retirement policy, commencement of University long term disability, or death, the course fee courtesy will continue in accordance with the provision contained above.
- -344 If the dependent child or spouse/other eligible individual drops courses or withdraws from school during the refund period, any refund applicable to the course fee courtesy will revert to the University.
- -345 Dependent children and spouses of eligible staff on approved leave of absence will be eligible for the course fee courtesy.
- -346 The dependent children and spouse/same sex domestic partner of eligible staff members who retire in accordance with Michigan State University's retirement policy will be eligible for the course fee courtesy as long as they meet the other eligibility requirements of the course fee courtesy policy.
- -347 This program also covers the surviving dependent children and spouses of eligible staff and retirees.
- -348 Application may be made for the entire undergraduate degree (120 credits attempted), unless the student leaves the University and readmission as a student is required.
- -349 Student eligibility is based upon the following criteria:
  - A. Student applicants must be admitted or readmitted to Michigan State University in accordance with the normal requirements for admission or readmission.
  - B. The student must be enrolled in Agricultural Technology or a degree granting program leading to a first baccalaureate degree (No Preference students are eligible).
  - C. Credits attempted must total less than 120. Credits attempted will be calculated by adding to the student's total credits earned (which includes transfer credits, P

grades and CR grades) the total of credits for repeated courses and/or for courses in which the student received Deferred, Incomplete, N, No Credit and 0. 0.

- -350 As a scholarship award the Course Fee Courtesy will be considered in determining eligibility for additional financial assistance for those students who also apply for financial aid at Michigan State University. All eligible student applicants will receive the Course Fee Courtesy. However, if other forms of financial aid have been awarded to attend Michigan State University, the aid will be adjusted to reflect the Course Fee Courtesy. Depending on the types of awarded aid as well as when the Office of Financial Aids is informed of eligibility for the Course Fee Courtesy, the adjustment may be made to awarded grants, loan or work eligibility according to the guidelines of the Office of Financial Aid and the student shall be so informed.
- -351 Eligibility for other tuition-specific awards (such as the Michigan Competitive Scholarship, Kodak Scholarship or Engineering Cooperative Award) will reduce the Course Fee Courtesy award so that the awards in combination will not exceed assessed tuition.
- -352 If the student drops courses or withdraws from school during the refund period, any refund applicable to the Course Fee Courtesy will revert to the University.
- -353 Course fees covered through the Course Fee Courtesy Program will be limited to courses published in the Schedule of Courses and its supplements.
- -354 Requests for application forms or questions regarding the Course Fee Courtesy Program should be directed to MSU Human Resources.
- -355 Any changes to the current practices set forth in Paragraphs 336-354 shall be subject to negotiations.

#### RETIREMENT BENEFITS

- -356 The University provides a contributory 403(b) Base Retirement Program for regular staff working half-time or more. It is part of the MSU 403(b) Retirement Plan, which is a defined contribution plan operated under section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. The benefit provides income during retirement and benefit payments in the event of death prior to retirement. Contributions from the Employee and the University are paid into an individual contract between the Employee and the eligible vendor.
- -357 Employees hired prior to July 1, 2010 and meeting the minimum retirement requirements will remain eligible to maintain group dental and health plans and receive the Employer's proportional contribution (see "FTE Service Months" language). Retirees are required to enroll in both Parts A and B of Medicare, and pay the required premium when eligible. University coverage will become supplemental to Medicare.

### **CONTRIBUTIONS**

- -358 Employee contributions are five (5%) percent and University contributions are ten (10%) percent of the Employee's base salary or wage and any overtime.
- -359 The University's contribution is made on a tax-deferral basis, i. e. , the Employee does not report the University contribution as earned income when filing income tax returns for the calendar year. After retirement, the Employee does pay taxes on the amounts received.
- -360 An additional portion of the Employee's salary may be contributed to the MSU 403(b) Supplemental Retirement Program and/or MSU 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan by the Employee on a tax-deferred basis, through payroll deduction, subject to Internal Revenue Service limitations.
- -361 Regular Employees are eligible for participation in the MSU 403(b) Base Retirement Program in accordance with the following policies:
  - A. The program is optional to Employees at the time of employment or who are over age sixty-two (62) at the time of employment.
  - B. The program is required as a condition of employment for Employees who have attained the age of thirty-five (35).
  - C. Once required participation commences, the Employee must continue contributing to the MSU 403(b) Base Retirement Program while employed at the University.

#### OTHER RETIREMENT INFORMATION

- -362 Additional MSU 403(b) Retirement Plan Contribution for Employees hired on or after July 1, 2010.
- -363 For regular Employees hired on or after July 1, 2010, the Employer will make additional contributions to the MSU 403(b) Retirement Plan as set forth below.

Effective January 1, 2016, for benefits eligible Employees whose most recent hire date is on or after July 1, 2010 the University will, upon hire, contribute 0. 5 % (one-half percent) of the Employee's retirement eligible earnings into a separate Employer contribution account within the MSU 403(b) Retirement Plan on a pay period basis until one hundred twenty (120) vacation service months are reached; after one hundred twenty (120) vacation service months the University's contribution increases to 0. 75% per pay period (three-quarter percent) of retirement eligible earnings.

- A. MSU's contributions will be deposited into a default investment fund initially at an MSU designated retirement vendor; the Employee can redirect to fund(s) of their choice by selecting from core options available in the 403(b) Retirement Plan including the brokerage accounts. Additional information on the default and optional investments is available at MSU Human Resources Website.
- B. The accumulated account balance will become 100% vested immediately.

# -364 Retiree Access to MSU Health Care and Dental Plan

For Employees hired on or after July 1, 2010, upon official retirement from MSU (age 62 with at least 15 years of service credit or 25 years of service credit at any age), an official retiree may then enroll (or continue enrollment) in the health care and dental plan coverage available to MSU retirees at the Employee's expense. Enrollment in MSU health care and dental plan coverage may be continued for any eligible spouse, Other Eligible Individual and/or dependent(s) if the official MSU retiree pays the full applicable premium cost for the coverage.

#### -365 Other Provisions

- A. Continuous service months are calculated as the period beginning at the date of active employment. The Employee must be actively employed for each month.
- B. Periods of inactive service will adjust the calculation for reaching the continuous service requirement.

#### WORKERS' COMPENSATION AND DISABILITY

## **WORKERS' COMPENSATION**

- -366 A regular full-time Employee with ninety (90) days of continuous service who suffers injury compensable under the Workers' Compensation Act shall continue to receive their regular rate for time lost during the first seven (7) days not covered by the Workers' Compensation Act, provided they follow the instructions of the University physician, and provided they return to work not later than the time recommended by the University physician. In the event of dispute, the medical dispute clause of this Agreement shall apply as regards the settlement of such dispute. Following the first seven (7) days, such seniority Employee shall be paid the difference between their regular wages and payment received under provisions of the Act, to be deducted from accumulated sick leave until their sick leave is exhausted.
- -367 Employees who have exhausted their sick leave credits, but are still unable to return to work, may as an option continue to receive their pay against any unused vacation, personal observance days, compensatory time and personal leave credits.

# **WORKERS' COMPENSATION (LONG TERM)**

-368 An Employee who is receiving regular Workers' Compensation for a period in excess of six (6) months shall receive, at the Employer's expense, Employee-paid life and health care coverage for the period covered by Workers' Compensation. If it is determined by the Benefits Office that the injured Employee will be off work in excess of six (6) months, the above benefit may be implemented upon such determination without requiring premium payments from the affected Employee.

#### **EXTENDED DISABILITY LEAVE**

- -369 The University provides an interim income protection plan for regular full-time staff with at least sixty (60) continuous FTE service months and who are expected to receive long term disability benefits. The benefit provides full pay as defined in the long term disability master contract, for a period of up to one hundred eighty (180) days from the Employee's last day of active work. The benefit commences upon the expiration of all accrued sick, vacation, and personal leave.
- -370 Determination of whether a case is expected to result in total disability can sometimes be made by the University designated physician based on information received from the Employee's physician and other medical reports. A lack of conclusive medical evidence may delay approval of the extended disability leave on a retroactive basis. In these cases, it is necessary for the

Employee to maintain benefit payments. Reimbursement will be made for University contribution amounts upon approval for Extended Disability Leave.

- -371 Employees expected to return to work within one hundred eighty (180) days will not qualify for this benefit. Authorization to pay extended disability leave benefits will be made by the Benefits Office. The University pays the cost of the benefit. No application is necessary for enrollment. The benefit becomes effective upon completion of sixty (60) full-time equivalent service months. The benefit terminates on the last day of employment. Conversion of coverage is not possible.
- -372 The Association acknowledges that an Employee may enter into repayment agreement with the University requiring the Employee to repay the University all Extended Disability Leave benefits paid if the Employee does not receive Long-Term Disability benefits. Such agreements shall include a statement that Employee, at their option, may consult with Association or other representative prior to signing this Agreement.

### **LONG TERM DISABILITY PLAN**

- -373 The University provides income protection through the long term disability plan for regular full-time staff.
- -374 The benefit is payable to Employees who become totally disabled as defined in the LTD master contract and are unable to work due to sickness or bodily injury. In addition, the University makes the regular contribution for health care coverage and pays the complete cost for dental and the Employee-paid life plan.
- -375 The University pays the entire cost of the LTD benefit. Coverage is automatic and becomes effective the first day of the month following or coinciding with completion of twelve (12) full-time equivalent service months. Long term disability coverage will terminate on the Employee's last day of active employment.

#### **SPECIAL PROVISIONS**

-376 The following special provisions apply only to Employees classified as Sergeants and Lieutenants employed by the Department of Police and Public Safety at Michigan State University except where limited below. Where these special provisions are in conflict with the other general provisions of this Agreement, these special provisions shall take precedence.

#### **SCHEDULING**

#### -377 Definition

Because Employees are required to work regardless of calendar weekends, i. e. , Saturdays and Sundays, the Employer schedules days off in lieu thereof and refers to those days as "Pass Days."

# -378 Scheduling

The use of Pass Days, pursuant to Article 25, Paragraphs 384, 385, 386 may be requested and may be taken subject to management direction or approval.

## -379 Overtime

Overtime and call-back time shall be authorized at the discretion of management. A regular scheduled shift shall be posted once each month to determine the normal workday.

-380 Schedule Deviation Applies to Sergeants and Patrol Lieutenants

For personnel excepting investigative and task force personnel, if there is a deviation from the normal work scheduled, a five (5) day notice shall be given. If a five (5) day notice is not given, those hours worked outside of the posted schedule shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half.

# -381 Changing

Employees covered hereby, may change a pass day after the schedule has been posted, if they receive permission from the supervisor(s) of the shift(s) involved.

-382 Trading Shifts Applies to Patrol Sergeants and Patrol Lieutenants

### Individual Shifts

Employees may trade individual shifts with another Employee of equal rank, subject to

the approval of management, providing the change does not cause the payment of overtime. Management approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

# Shift Cycles

Employees may trade shift cycles with another Employee of equal rank, subject to the approval of management, providing the change does not cause the payment of overtime. Management approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Notice of the requested trade must be submitted by the affected Employees at least 28 days in advance of the effective date of the shift cycle affected by the trade. The duration of the trade will be for the entire shift period. Disputes arising under this provision shall be reduced to a grievance beginning at Step 1 of the grievance procedure. If a Step 2 meeting is thereafter required, the Office of Employee Relations will respond to the grievance at this meeting. The Association will decide whether to arbitrate the dispute and the parties will select the arbitrator the same day. The dispute shall be submitted to immediate expedited binding arbitration with a bench decision being rendered by the arbitrator the same day of the arbitration hearing.

## **ON-CALL**

-383 The term "on-call" means that situation where an off-duty Employee is officially advised by a designated representative that they should be prepared to return to duty. The Employee being so informed shall then remain at home, or at a location no further from their home to the station and which is made known to the department, and be in full control of their faculties if ordered to return to duty. The on-call status will be terminated by a return telephone call to the individuals placed on call. Employees who are placed on an on-call status shall be credited at the rate of one-half (1/2) hour compensatory time for each hour or portion of an hour they remain on the on-call status. On-call compensations shall not apply to those Employees assigned to task forces and/or investigations.

#### **SHIFTS**

-384 Normal Work Cycle: Applies to Patrol Sergeants and Patrol Lieutenants

A normal work cycle for regular Employees, not including Employees with an active K-9, shall consist of three consecutive (3) twenty-eight (28) day cycles. During two of these consecutive twenty-eight (28) day cycles, an Employee will be required to work thirteen (13), twelve (12) hour days with fifteen (15) days as designated pay days. The remaining twenty-eight (28) day cycle, the Employee will be required to work fourteen (14) days, with 14 days as designated pass days.

-385 The cycle where the Employee will work 14 days instead of 13 days, will be the right of Management to determine. A Patrol Sergeant or Patrol Lieutenant will only be required to work one (1) cycle of 14 days in a three (3) twenty-eight (28) day cycle.

- -386 Patrol Sergeants and Patrol Lieutenants assigned to the K-9 unit who require two (2) training days during each twenty-eight (28) day cycle, will be required to work twelve (12) shifts consisting of twelve (12) continuous hours, and two (2) shifts of eight (8) continuous hours. The two (2) designated eight (8) hour shifts are for training purposes. There will be no less than two pass days granted consecutively unless requested by the Employee and approved by the Employer.
- -387 Normal Work Day: Patrol Sergeants and Patrol Lieutenants:

  A normal workday for regular full-time Employees shall be twelve (12) hours, unless regularly scheduled otherwise, including meal periods.
- -388 Overtime Overtime compensation shall continue to be due for time worked in excess of a normal scheduled work day (as noted in Paragraph 398).
- -389 Hours Worked—The starting and quitting times of the twelve (12) hour shift will be:

Days: 5:30 to 17:30 Midnights: 17:30 to 5:30

- -390 Eight (8)-Hour and Ten (10) hour shifts
  - a) Normal Work Cycle a normal work cycle for regular full-time Employees shall include five (5) eight (8)-hour shifts, or four (4) ten (10) hour shifts, scheduled Monday through Friday, per work week.
  - b) Normal Work Day a normal work day for regular full-time Employees shall be eight (8) hours, or ten (10) hours, unless regularly scheduled otherwise, not including meal period.
  - c) Hours Worked the starting and quitting times of eight (8) hour and ten (10) hour shifts will generally be between 0700 to 1700.
- -391 Both parties understand that this does not limit or change the rights of management to establish starting and quitting times and work schedules, with notification to the Association President.
- -392 Training Days Training days are normally scheduled on an eight (8) hour day basis. Both parties recognize that an Employee may need to finish their duty day on shift after their eighthour training ends at eight (8) hours. (This will most likely occur when training is scheduled at the Department of Police and Public Safety. ) If an Employee is scheduled for a training day, the Employee may be allowed, upon Management approval, to offset the time lost by:

- A. Using accumulated time such as, comp time, vacation, personal, exclusive of sick leave, for each of the scheduled training days, or:
- B. Use one (1) less leave day for the work cycle if training consists of three (3) or 8-hour days in a 28-day cycle.
- C. Employees who are active members of the K-9 unit will work twelve (12) shifts of twelve (12) hours and two (2) training days of eight (8) hours during a twenty-eight (28) day work cycle.
- -393 Special Event Coverage There may be times when Management will supplement Special Event positions with Employees working on shift. This arrangement will be at the discretion of Management.
- -394 Generally speaking, only the following circumstances shall relieve a Sergeant or Lieutenant from the Special Event assignment process:
  - 1. If a position working a twelve (12)-hour shift, has been granted leave, and the position has used three (3) paid leave days (other than sick) and the total consecutive days off is eight (8) or greater.
  - 2. If a position, working an eight (8)-hour shift, has been granted leave, and the position has used three (3) days (other than sick) and the total consecutive days off is five (5) or greater.
  - 3. If a Sergeant or Lieutenant working a ten (10)-hour shift, has been granted leave, and the position has used three (3) paid leave days (other than sick) and the total consecutive days off is five (5) or greater.
- -395 Neither Management nor any Employee should be unduly enriched or hindered by an adjustment based on the schedule change.
- -396 Overtime. Hours worked by Employees covered hereby for purposes as determined by management in excess of the normal tour of duty shall be compensated as described in Paragraphs 398-399.
- -397 Time and One-Half the Straight Hourly Rate
  - A. Any extension of the Employee's normal work day shall be compensated at the one-and-one-half rate. Examples of such work include, but are not limited to, complaint investigations, follow-up investigations, etc.
  - B. All hours worked during an emergency situation as declared by the Unit Administrator or their designee. (Example: Riots, demonstrations, on and off

Campus; tornados and tornado warnings; power failures; snowstorms; floods, or any other declared emergency.)

- 1. In those situations where an Employee is called back and where they have not been notified in advance and the call-back is not continuous with their regular work period, the Employee shall receive not less than three (3) hours pay at the time and one-half rate.
- 2. In those situations where an Employee is required by the Employer to remain at the University because of an emergency situation, the Employee shall receive time and one-half compensation for the time they are required to remain at the University.
- C. Routinely scheduled events such as Employees' meetings, qualification shoots, training sessions and other Special Events such as football, basketball, registrations, etc., shall be compensated for at the rate of time and one-half for only the actual time the Employee is required to be in attendance or work.
- D. Those individuals designated by the Department to instruct in recruit schools or other duly authorized training sessions, while off duty, shall be compensated at the rate of time and one-half for only the actual time they are scheduled to instruct, unless reimbursement is provided to the individual by the training agency.
- E. Employees subpoenaed or directed into court including Probate Court and official hearings, during off-duty hours shall be compensated at the rate of time and one-half their regular hourly rate for the time they actually spend in court. Employees regularly scheduled for their regular shift and slated to appear within twelve (12) hours before or after their shift is due to terminate, shall receive a three (3) hour minimum overtime guarantee; all other Employees shall receive a two (2) hour minimum overtime guarantee. Where witness fees are provided, such fees shall be submitted to the Employer.
- F. Employees scheduled to work overtime shall be given a minimum four (4) hours notification if the overtime event is to be canceled. If less than four (4) hours notice is given, the Employee shall be paid one (1) hour at the rate of time and one-half. Notice will be considered given with verification that the department attempted to call to give the four (4) hours notice.
- G. Employees who are called into duty as the result of their status as a member of a specialized unit, (i. e. crime scene investigator, accident investigator, special response team, emergency manager, hostage negotiator, etc. ), where an immediate off-duty response is required, and where they have not been notified

in advance and the call-back is not continuous with their regular work period shall receive not less than three (3) hours pay at the time and one-half rate.

- -398 Time and One-Half Compensatory Time Rate or Time and One-Half Straight Hourly Rate
  - A. All hours worked due to call-back immediately preceding the Employee's normal work day for only such time actually worked.
  - B. Employees who are required to obtain complaints and warrants and validate complaints while off duty shall be compensated at the rate of time and one-half for a minimum of two (2) hours. However, in those instances where an Employee is required to obtain complaints and warrants and validate complaints immediately preceding or following their tour of duty, they shall be compensated at the rate of time and one-half for only the actual time worked.
  - C. Employees may request time and one-half compensatory time in lieu of time and one-half pay for overtime hours worked as listed under Paragraph 398. These requests must be made through the Unit Administrator or their designee and are subject to their designee's approval.

## -399 Approval of Overtime

- A. All overtime shall be authorized by that shift supervisor who is in charge of the department during the period of time when the overtime is actually worked or the individual Employee's immediate supervisor.
- B. The individual Employee's immediate supervisor shall have the responsibility of communicating the overtime authorized to the shift supervisor who is in charge of the department during the period when the overtime is actually worked.
- -400 Pyramiding. Payment for overtime, call-back time, and court appearances (Paragraph 397, E.) shall not be duplicated for the same hours worked as heretofore provided.

### **FALLEN OFFICER LEAVE**

-401 If scheduling permits, permission will be granted to a maximum of one (1) on-duty Employee for one (1) regularly scheduled day, utilizing a Department vehicle if available, to attend the funeral of a police officer killed in the line of duty anywhere in the State of Michigan.

## **HOLIDAYS/SPECIAL PASS DAYS**

-402 If the Employee works on a University designated holiday as set forth in Paragraph 258 they shall be paid double time for all hours worked and in addition thereto, be granted a "special pass day" to be scheduled at another time.

-403 When a University designated holiday falls on a Monday or Friday, Employees not scheduled to work that holiday shall also be scheduled off for the weekend, which immediately precedes or follows the holiday itself to the extent practicable as determined by the Shift Commander.

## **AUTOMOBILES AND EQUIPMENT**

-404 In the procurement of motor vehicles for patrol purposes the Employer shall secure automobiles and other duty equipment of quality, design and construction commensurate with the function and responsibility to be performed and reasonably related to the safety of the officer involved.

### **UNIFORMS**

- -405 In the selection, procurement and issuance of uniforms, the Employer will give due consideration to the items, numbers, materials and quality consistent with the needs, use, function and responsibility of the Employee.
- -406 The Employer will supply all Employees with "Uniform Boots." These "Uniform Boots" shall be replaced or resoled by the Employer as needed consistent with the procedures for replacement of other Employer supplied equipment.
- -407 The University will be responsible for and pay for the dry cleaning of issued uniforms.

## **MISCELLANEOUS**

- -408 Any member of the negotiating committee who is unable to obtain sufficient sleep between scheduled duty time due to negotiating, may request of the shift supervisor to be excused from the shift, until sufficient sleep can be acquired at which time the Employee may be rescheduled to make up the time lost.
- -409 Should the University, for whatever reason, deem it necessary to specify an off-duty handgun, the University will issue such a gun. However, an Employee must use their own ammunition outside of University approved training.
- -410 Police Lieutenants shall not be subject to the salary progression provisions below. Lieutenants shall be eligible for the general salary increase funds, the amount of which will be based on the current Memorandum of Understanding between Michigan State University and the Coalition of Labor Organizations which is separately ratified and signed by the Association.
- -411 When it becomes necessary to provide Employees with meals because of the nature of their particular work assignment, the Employer shall compensate Employees for meals purchased, not to exceed 1/4 hour of the Employee's overtime rate for six (6) hours or more of

overtime worked and an additional 1/4 hour at the Employee's overtime rate for ten (10) hours or more of overtime worked.

- -412 The Employer will pay a special clothing allowance of \$400. 00 to an Employee who officially notifies the Employer of pregnancy and remains on duty to within four weeks of the projected delivery date. This payment will be made when the Employee receives a light duty assignment. Exceptions may be made to this provision for reasons acceptable to the Employer.
- -413 Sergeants in specialty positions not generally scheduled to work 12-hour shifts shall receive a temporary supplement to their annual base salary in the amount of \$2,000 for the duration of their specialist assignment.
- -414 Education bonus. Sergeants who possess a relevant post-graduate degree shall receive a \$1,000 per year supplement to their base salary. Degrees must be applicable to law enforcement or administration.
- -415 Shift differential. Patrol Sergeants and Patrol Lieutenants shall receive a temporary supplement to their annual base salary in the amount of \$2,080 during the period they are assigned to a midnight shift for a shift cycle. The shift differential does not apply to an Employee that works individual midnight shifts while assigned to a day shift cycle assignment.

#### SALARY PROGRESSION

-416 Sergeants shall initially be placed at Level I and shall advance to Levels II, III and IV on their anniversary dates.

Effective October 1, 2023 the base salary for Employees in pay grade I, II, III, IV shall be:

Level	SGT
I	\$87,027
П	\$91,486
Ш	\$93,631
IV	\$96,000

Sergeants who, immediately prior to assuming the rank of sergeant, were at the highest salary level for MSU police officers shall initially be placed in level II. All other new sergeants shall be placed at level I upon joining the unit.

-417 Effective October 1, 2023, October 1, 2024, October 1, 2025 and October 1, 2026, general salary increase funds will be made available to all Sergeants, the amount of which will be based on the January 1, 2022 – December 31, 2025 Memorandum of Understanding between Michigan State University and the Coalition of Labor Organizations which is separately ratified and signed by the Association.

#### **ONE-TIME BONUS**

-418 Lieutenants and Sergeants shall receive a one-time, lump-sum payment of (\$500) as soon as administratively feasible upon ratification of this agreement. The special payment will not be subject to salary-based benefits.

#### **CAPTAIN OVERTIME**

-419 Captains shall receive time and one-half (1  $\frac{1}{2}$ ) their hourly rate while working overtime at athletics special events.

Letter of Agreement
Between
Michigan State University
The Employer,

#### And

# Administrative Professional Supervisors Association, The Union

## Re: Posting of New and/or Vacant APSA Positions within MSU Police and Public Safety

As a result of discussions between the parties, the following is hereby agreed:

- 1. Declared vacant positions in MSU Police and Public Safety ("the Department") may be filled through Article 10 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement or through the procedures set forth in this Letter of Agreement.
- 2. In cases where Article 10 is not used, positions shall be filled as follows:
  - a. Declared vacant positions shall be posted on an internal Police and Public Safety list to which all MSU Police and Public Safety employees have access.
  - b. The University shall promptly give notice via email of such postings to the APSA President.
  - c. The University shall follow the terms of ADM 11, (as may be amended), and any other process, procedure, policy, rule, or regulation it promulgates or amends regarding the placement of employees into new and/or vacant Police and Public Safety APSA positions. The University shall promptly notify APSA of any such new or amended terms of ADM 11.

- 3. The University shall retain the right to assign employees to different assignments, shifts, and roles within a given rank.
- 4. The terms of this LOA shall be incorporated into Article 25 of the successor CBA with the express acknowledgement that these terms apply to all Police and Public APSA positions which provide promotional opportunities for members of the APSA bargaining unit.
- 5. In filling declared vacant positions under this Letter of Agreement, the University will comply with Paragraph 4 of the 2019 to 2023 Collective Bargaining Agreement.
- 6. The Union hereby withdraws grievances 8-21 (dated 10/19/21) and 1-22 (dated 2/2/22) as well as any accompanying demands for arbitration. The parties agree to evenly split any cancelation fee charged by the arbitrator.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE UNION	
Amy B. Holda, Interim Director Office of Employee Relations	Jose Martin Garza, President APSA	
Date	Date	

#### SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR COMMUNITY DIRECTORS

- -420. The position of Community Director will be included under the terms of the CBA, with the following exceptions:
  - a. The "Residence Education and Housing Services Community Director Agreement" shall remain in use and have full effect, except as directly contradicted by the terms of the Collective Bargaining Agreement and as otherwise provided herein. The Residence Education and Housing Services Community Director Agreement shall continue to be used, as updated and with information applicable to individual employees. The Union will be given notice of revisions to the "Residence Education and Housing Services Community Director Agreement," and the University will bargain, following a demand from the Union, concerning any mandatory topics of bargaining in the Residence Education and Housing Services Community Director Agreement.
  - b. Scheduling of work shall be as provided in the Residence Education and Housing Services Community Director Agreement, rather than the Collective Bargaining Agreement. Community Directors will receive any pay/benefits pursuant to Holidays, paragraph 258 of the collective bargaining agreement.
  - c. The following shall apply to Article 7, Settlement of Disputes, Arbitrator's Powers:

The arbitrator shall have no power to change any decision by the University concerning the provision of housing or a meal plan to an employee in the position of Community Director, or to any guest or other person associated with the Community Director. In the event of a termination of employment, the arbitrator will have authority to order the University to pay the pro rata share of the cost of University housing and meal plan based on the time remaining in the Community Directors annual off-date appointment.

- d. The Community Director position shall not be included in the layoff/bypass process. APSA members on layoff shall not be able to bypass into any Community Director position.
- e. The University shall be able to designate the Community Director position, or any individuals in that position, as an off-date position.
- f. The position shall be included in the terms of Association Security as soon as practicable given the need to make programing and systems changes.

- 2) Compensation Effective as soon as practicable, the University will create a new, FLSA-exempt salary level 88, with a minimum salary of \$49,263. 37, exclusive of housing and food. This will increase each year with the general increase pursuant to the CLO Memorandum of Understanding.
- 3) Automatic Progress Level (APL) and progression increases, shall not apply to the Community Director position. In place of APL and progression increases, the University will make lump-sum payments in July of each year to those Community Directors who are on an annual off-date appointment and who receive another consecutive off-date appointment as a Community Director. The lump-sum payments shall be in the following amounts:
  - a. \$750 for the first renewal;
  - b. \$1,000 for the second renewal;
  - c. \$1,250 for the third renewal and
  - d. \$1,500 for the fourth renewal.

These payments shall not be included in the base salary, nor shall the University make contributions to any retirement plan based on these lump-sum payments.

# 4) Notices

- a. By April 1 of each year, Community Directors must give the University notice of their desire to return to the Community Director position for the following year. Absent such notice, the University shall be entitled to conclude the employee will not be returning to the position for the following year.
- b. By May 15 of each year, the University will provide notice of its intent to offer another appointment as a Community Director to any employee who indicated a desire to return as a Community Director. The University's failure to give this notice will require the University to continue the employee for forty-five (45) calendar days after the time when the notice is given. For example, if notice is not given until June 1, the employee would be continued in the position until July 15. The University's failure to provide notice will not result in an automatic renewal of the agreement.

### APPENDIX I

The following classifications and grades are those in effect as of October 1, 2023.

The classification and the classification description for each job in effect as shown below shall continue in effect unless:

- A. The Employer changes the job content (requirements of the job as to training, skill, responsibility and/or working conditions).
- B. The job is terminated by the Employer or not occupied during a period of one (1) year, or
- C. The existing grade levels are changed by mutual agreement.

Classification	Pay Grade
	Level
Academic Orient. & Trans. Sr. Assoc Dir.	16
Academic Orientation Program Administrat	14
Academic Technology Coordinator/S	12
Accountant I/S	11
Accountant II/S	13
Acct Chief & Mgr of Financial Reporting	16
ADJB Coordinator/Freedom of Infor Ofcr	15
Administrative Assistant I/S	10
Administrative Assistant II/S	11
Administrative Assistant III/S	13
Administrative Associate I/S	14
Administrative Associate II/S	15
Administrative Business Manager/S	14
Administrative Business Professional/S	12
Admissions Assistant Director/S	14
Admissions Associate Director	15
Admissions Counselor/S	12
Admissions Senior Associate Director	16
Admissions Senior Counselor/S	13
Advisement/Recruitment Coordinator	14
Alumni and Donor Relations Coordinator/S	12
Alumni Programs Assistant Director/S	14
Alumni/Donor Records Manager	14
Anatomy Resources Manager	13
Applications & Maintenance Prog Mgr I	14
Applications & Maintenance Prog Mgr II	15
Architect Landscape II/S	12
Artist Level Piano Technician	13

	1
Asc. Dir. for Academic Initiatives Stdnt	17
Asc. Dir. for Res. Ed. & Housing Service	16
Assistant Chief of Police	17
Assistant Controller	16
Assistant Director Residence Education	15
Assistant Radiology Administrator	15
Assoc Dir Prev. Outreach & Education	16
Assoc Dir Office Civil Rights & Title IX	16
Assoc Dir. of Dean of Students	16
Associate Controller	17
Associate Director of Culinary Services	16
Asst Dir of Institutional Research/S	14
Asst Dir of OPB & Dir of Facil Pln Sp Mg	17
Asst Dir of OPB & Dir of Inst Research	17
Asst Dir of OPB & Dir of Univ Planning/S	17
Asst Dir of OPB & Univ Budget Officer	17
Asst Director of Collections/S	14
Asst to the VP for Stud Affairs & Svcs	15
Ast Dir of Univ Services-Procurement	17
Athletic Equipment Supervisor	12
Athletic Ticket Office Manager	14
Athletic Trainer III/S	14
Athletic Turf Manager	12
Athletics Equipment Manager	13
Audit Manager	15
Auditor/Information Systems I/S	13
Auditor/Information Systems II/S	14
Auxiliary Services Assistant Manager	13
Banquet/Catering Manager/S	12
Banquet/Catering Operations Manager	13
Biological Safety Officer/S	14
Biotechnologist I/S	11
Biotechnologist II/S	12
Biotechnologist III/S	13
Botanical Technologist II/S	11
Breslin Center Associate Director	15
Broadcasting Services Program Manager/S	14
Broadcasting Srvc Mgr Content Comm Eng	15
Broadcasting Svcs Asst Dir/Mktg & Dev	15
Brook Lodge Executive Chef	12
Brook Lodge Manager	14
Building Automation Specialist/S	13

Building Automation Systems Analyst I/S Building Automation Systems Tech I/S Building Automation Systems Tech II/S Building Automation Systems Tech II/S Building Performance Analyst I/S Building Performance Engineer/S Building Process Analyst Building Process Analyst Business Applications Analyst III/S Business Applications Analyst III/S Business Process Professional/S Buyer/S C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir C E RI Admin/Career Services Assistant Dir C E RI Admin/Career Services Marketing Director C E ANR Communications & Marketing Director C E Apital Project Delivery Manager 15 C E C E RI Admin/Career Services Assistant Director C E RI E Renewal Planning Manager/S 15 C E C E RI Manager II/S C E RI E R		
Building Automation Systems Tech II/S Building Performance Analyst I/S Building Performance Engineer/S Building Performance Engineer/S Building Process Analyst Business Applications Analyst III/S Business Process Professional/S Business Process Professional/S Business Process Professional/S Business Process Professional/S  E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir CE R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir Campus Living Asc Director  17 Campus Living Assistant Director 14 Campus Park And Planning Assistant Dir Campus Sustainability Director/S 16 CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director 17 CANR Communications & Marketing Director 18 Capital Project Delivery Manager 15 Capital Renewal Planning Manager/S 15 Cardiovascular Technologist II/S 12 Care Manager II/S 13 Career Information Coordinator/S 11 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator 15 Chemical Safety Officer 14 Chief Information Security Officer/S 16 Chief Preparator/S 16 Chief Preparator/S 16 CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin 14 CHM Security Director 13 Clinic Coordinator II/S 11 Clinic Manager I 11 Clinic Manager I 11 Clinic Manager I 11 Clinic Manager I 11 Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr 15 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 13 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 13 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13	Building Automation Systems Analyst I/S	13
Building Performance Analyst I/S Building Performance Engineer/S 14 Building Performance Engineer/S 14 Building Process Analyst 14 Business Applications Analyst III/S 14 Business Process Professional/S 12 Buyer/S 10 C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir 15 Campus Living Asc Director 17 Campus Living Assistant Director 14 Campus Park And Planning Assistant Dir 16 Campus Sustainability Director/S 16 CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director 17 Capital Project Delivery Manager 15 Careial Project Delivery Manager 15 Carediovascular Technologist II/S 12 Care Manager II/S 13 Career Information Coordinator/S 11 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 Chemical Safety Officer 14 Chief Information Security Officer/S 16 Chief of Staff/S 16 Chief Preparator/S 17 Chief Real Estate Officer/S 18 Clinic Coordinator II/S 19 Clinic Coordinator II/S 10 Clinic Coordinator II/S 11 Clinic Manager II 11 Clinic Manager II 12 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 13 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 13 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13	Building Automation Systems Tech I/S	11
Building Performance Engineer/S  Building Process Analyst  Business Applications Analyst III/S  Business Process Professional/S  Buyer/S  C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir  C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir  C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir  Campus Living Asc Director  Campus Living Assistant Director  Campus Park And Planning Assistant Dir  Campus Sustainability Director/S  CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director  15  CANR Communications & Marketing Director  Capital Project Delivery Manager  15  Cardiovascular Technologist II/S  Care Manager II/S  Career Information Coordinator/S  11  Career Services Assistant Director  14  Career Services Assistant Director  14  Career Services Coordinator/S  12  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  12  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  12  Chemical Safety Officer  14  Chief Information Security Officer/S  16  Chief of Staff/S  Chief Preparator/S  Chief Preparator/S  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager II  Clinic Manager II  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13	Building Automation Systems Tech II/S	12
Building Process Analyst Business Applications Analyst III/S Business Process Professional/S Buyer/S 10 C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir 15 Campus Living Asc Director 17 Campus Living Assistant Director 18 Campus Park And Planning Assistant Dir Campus Sustainability Director/S 19 CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director 19 Canpus Living Assistant Director 19 CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director 19 CANR Communications & Marketing Director 19 Capital Project Delivery Manager 19 Capital Renewal Planning Manager/S 19 Care Manager II/S 10 Career Information Coordinator/S 11 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator 15 Chemical Safety Officer 14 Chief Information Security Officer/S 16 Chief of Staff/S 16 Chief Preparator/S 17 Chief Real Estate Officer/S 18 CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin 19 CHM Security Director 10 Clinic Coordinator II/S 11 Clinic Manager I 11 Clinic Manager I 12 Clinic Manager I 11 Clinic Manager I 12 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13	Building Performance Analyst I/S	11
Business Applications Analyst III/S Business Process Professional/S Buyer/S 10 C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir 15 Campus Living Asc Director 17 Campus Living Assistant Director 18 Campus Park And Planning Assistant Dir Campus Sustainability Director/S 16 CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director 15 CANR Communications & Marketing Director 16 Capital Project Delivery Manager 15 Capital Renewal Planning Manager/S 15 Caree Manager II/S 12 Caree Manager II/S 13 Career Information Coordinator/S 11 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator 15 Chemical Safety Officer 14 Chief Information Security Officer/S 16 Chief of Staff/S 16 Chief Preparator/S 17 Chief Real Estate Officer/S 18 Clinic Coordinator II/S 19 Clinic Coordinator II/S 10 Clinic Coordinator II/S 11 Clinic Manager I 11 Clinic Manager I 12 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13	Building Performance Engineer/S	14
Business Process Professional/S Buyer/S 10 C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir 15 Campus Living Asc Director 17 Campus Living Assistant Director 14 Campus Park And Planning Assistant Dir Campus Sustainability Director/S 16 CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director 15 CANR Communications & Marketing Director 16 Capital Project Delivery Manager 15 Caridial Renewal Planning Manager/S 15 Cardiovascular Technologist II/S 12 Care Manager II/S 13 Career Information Coordinator/S 11 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator 15 Chemical Safety Officer 14 Chief Information Security Officer/S 16 Chief of Staff/S 16 Chief Preparator/S 17 Clinic Coordinator II/S 10 Clinic Coordinator II/S 11 Clinic Manager II 11 Clinic Manager II 12 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 12 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 13 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13	Building Process Analyst	14
Buyer/S C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir Campus Living Asc Director 17 Campus Living Assistant Director 14 Campus Park And Planning Assistant Dir Campus Sustainability Director/S 16 CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director 15 CANR Communications & Marketing Director 16 Capital Project Delivery Manager 15 Caridiovascular Technologist II/S 12 Care Manager II/S 13 Career Information Coordinator/S 11 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator 15 Chemical Safety Officer 14 Chief Information Security Officer/S 16 Chief of Staff/S 16 Chief Preparator/S 17 CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin 14 CHM Security Director 13 Clinic Coordinator II/S 11 Clinic Manager I 11 Clinic Manager I 12 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 12 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 13 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 13 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13	Business Applications Analyst III/S	14
C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir  Campus Living Asc Director  Campus Living Assistant Director  Campus Park And Planning Assistant Dir  Campus Sustainability Director/S  CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director  CANR Communications & Marketing Director  CANR Communications & Marketing Director  Capital Project Delivery Manager  Capital Renewal Planning Manager/S  Cardiovascular Technologist II/S  Care Manager II/S  Care Manager II/S  Career Information Coordinator/S  Career Services Assistant Director  14  Career Services Coordinator/S  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  Chemical Safety Officer  Chemical Safety Officer  Chief Information Security Officer/S  Chief Of Staff/S  Chief Preparator/S  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager I  Clinic Manager II  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S	Business Process Professional/S	12
Campus Living Asc Director Campus Living Assistant Director Campus Park And Planning Assistant Dir Campus Sustainability Director/S 16 CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director 15 CANR Communications & Marketing Director 16 Capital Project Delivery Manager 15 Capital Renewal Planning Manager/S 15 Cardiovascular Technologist II/S 12 Care Manager II/S 13 Career Information Coordinator/S 11 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator 15 Chemical Safety Officer 14 Chief Information Security Officer/S 16 Chief of Staff/S 16 Chief Preparator/S 17 CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin 19 CHM Security Director 10 Clinic Coordinator II/S 11 Clinic Manager I 11 Clinic Manager I 12 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 12 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 13 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13	Buyer/S	10
Campus Living Assistant Director  Campus Park And Planning Assistant Dir  Campus Sustainability Director/S  CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director  CANR Communications & Marketing Director  CANR Communications & Marketing Director  Capital Project Delivery Manager  Capital Renewal Planning Manager/S  Cardiovascular Technologist II/S  Care Manager II/S  Care Manager II/S  Care Information Coordinator/S  11  Career Services Assistant Director  14  Career Services Coordinator/S  12  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  12  CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator  15  Chemical Safety Officer  14  Chief Information Security Officer/S  Chief Preparator/S  Chief Preparator/S  12  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  16  CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  14  CHM Security Director  13  Clinic Coordinator II/S  11  Clinic Manager I  12  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13	C E R I Admin/Career Services Asc Dir	15
Campus Park And Planning Assistant Dir Campus Sustainability Director/S CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director CANR Communications & Marketing Director CANR Communications & Marketing Director Capital Project Delivery Manager 15 Cardiovascular Technologist II/S Care Manager II/S Care Manager II/S Care Information Coordinator/S 11 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator 15 Chemical Safety Officer 14 Chief Information Security Officer/S 16 Chief Preparator/S 17 Chief Real Estate Officer/S 18 CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin 19 CHM Security Director 10 Clinic Coordinator II/S 11 Clinic Manager I 11 Clinic Manager I 12 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13	Campus Living Asc Director	17
Campus Sustainability Director/S  CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director  CANR Communications & Marketing Director  Capital Project Delivery Manager  Capital Renewal Planning Manager/S  Cardiovascular Technologist II/S  Care Manager II/S  Care Manager II/S  Career Information Coordinator/S  Career Services Assistant Director  Career Services Coordinator/S  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  Chemical Safety Officer  Chemical Safety Officer  Chief Information Security Officer/S  Chief of Staff/S  Chief Preparator/S  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  CHM Security Director  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager I  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Laboratory Manager  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S	Campus Living Assistant Director	14
CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director  CANR Communications & Marketing Director  Capital Project Delivery Manager  Capital Renewal Planning Manager/S  Cardiovascular Technologist II/S  Care Manager II/S  Care Manager II/S  Career Information Coordinator/S  11  Career Services Assistant Director  14  Career Services Coordinator/S  12  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  12  CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator  15  Chemical Safety Officer  14  Chief Information Security Officer/S  Chief Of Staff/S  Chief Preparator/S  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  16  CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  14  CHM Security Director  13  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager II  11  Clinic Manager II  12  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13	Campus Park And Planning Assistant Dir	16
CANR Communications & Marketing Director  Capital Project Delivery Manager  Capital Renewal Planning Manager/S  15  Cardiovascular Technologist II/S  Care Manager II/S  Care Manager II/S  Career Information Coordinator/S  11  Career Services Assistant Director  14  Career Services Coordinator/S  12  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  12  CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator  15  Chemical Safety Officer  14  Chief Information Security Officer/S  16  Chief of Staff/S  16  Chief Preparator/S  12  CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  14  CHM Security Director  13  Clinic Coordinator II/S  11  Clinic Manager I  11  Clinic Manager II  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13	Campus Sustainability Director/S	16
Capital Project Delivery Manager  Capital Renewal Planning Manager/S  Cardiovascular Technologist II/S  Care Manager II/S  Care Manager II/S  Career Information Coordinator/S  11  Career Services Assistant Director  Career Services Coordinator/S  12  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  12  CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator  Chemical Safety Officer  Chief Information Security Officer/S  Chief of Staff/S  Chief Preparator/S  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  16  CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  CHM Security Director  13  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager I  Clinic Manager II  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Laboratory Manager  14  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  12  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13	CANR Comm & Marketing Assoc Director	15
Capital Renewal Planning Manager/S  Cardiovascular Technologist II/S  Care Manager II/S  Care Manager II/S  Career Information Coordinator/S  11  Career Services Assistant Director  14  Career Services Coordinator/S  12  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  12  CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator  15  Chemical Safety Officer  14  Chief Information Security Officer/S  16  Chief of Staff/S  16  Chief Preparator/S  12  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  16  CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  14  CHM Security Director  13  Clinic Coordinator II/S  10  Clinic Coordinator II/S  11  Clinic Manager I  11  Clinic Manager I  12  Clinical Laboratory Manager  14  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13	CANR Communications & Marketing Director	16
Cardiovascular Technologist II/S  Care Manager II/S  Career Information Coordinator/S  11  Career Services Assistant Director  14  Career Services Coordinator/S  12  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  12  CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator  15  Chemical Safety Officer  14  Chief Information Security Officer/S  Chief of Staff/S  16  Chief Preparator/S  12  CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  14  CHM Security Director  13  Clinic Coordinator II/S  11  Clinic Manager II  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13	Capital Project Delivery Manager	15
Care Manager II/S Career Information Coordinator/S 11 Career Services Assistant Director 14 Career Services Coordinator/S 12 Catering And Sales Coordinator/S 12 CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator 15 Chemical Safety Officer 14 Chief Information Security Officer/S 16 Chief of Staff/S 16 Chief Preparator/S 12 Chief Real Estate Officer/S 16 CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin 14 CHM Security Director 13 Clinic Coordinator II/S 11 Clinic Manager I 12 Clinical Laboratory Manager 14 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 12 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13 Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S 13	Capital Renewal Planning Manager/S	15
Career Information Coordinator/S  Career Services Assistant Director  Career Services Coordinator/S  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator  Chemical Safety Officer  Chief Information Security Officer/S  Chief of Staff/S  Chief Preparator/S  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  CHM Security Director  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager I  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  12  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13  Career Services Assistant Director  14  15  16  Career Services Assistant Director  15  16  CHM Sale State Coordinator II/S  10  Clinic Coordinator II/S  11  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  12  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13	Cardiovascular Technologist II/S	12
Career Services Assistant Director  Career Services Coordinator/S  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator  Chemical Safety Officer  Chief Information Security Officer/S  Chief of Staff/S  Chief Preparator/S  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  CHM Security Director  Clinic Coordinator I/S  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager I  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Laboratory Manager  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  12  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13  Career Services Assistant Director  15  16  Chamistrator  16  Chemical Safety Officer  16  Chemical Safety Officer  16  Chief Preparator/S  16  Chief Preparator/S  16  Chief Preparator/S  16  Chief Preparator/S  10  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  11  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  12  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  13  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13	Care Manager II/S	13
Career Services Coordinator/S  Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator  Chemical Safety Officer  Chief Information Security Officer/S  Chief of Staff/S  Chief Preparator/S  Chief Preparator/S  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  CHM Security Director  Clinic Coordinator I/S  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager I  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Laboratory Manager  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  14  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  15  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  16  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  17  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  18  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S	Career Information Coordinator/S	11
Catering And Sales Coordinator/S  CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator  Chemical Safety Officer  Chief Information Security Officer/S  Chief of Staff/S  Chief Preparator/S  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  CHM Security Director  Clinic Coordinator I/S  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager I  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Laboratory Manager  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  12  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  15  Chamistratory  16  Chief Preparator/S  10  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  10  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  11  Chief Real Estate Officer/S  12  Clinical Chief Research Coordinator III/S  13  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13	Career Services Assistant Director	14
CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator Chemical Safety Officer Chief Information Security Officer/S Chief of Staff/S Chief of Staff/S Chief Preparator/S Chief Real Estate Officer/S CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin CHM Security Director Clinic Coordinator I/S Clinic Coordinator II/S Clinic Manager I Clinic Manager I Clinical Laboratory Manager Clinical Research Coordinator II/S Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13 Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S 13	Career Services Coordinator/S	12
Chemical Safety Officer14Chief Information Security Officer/S16Chief of Staff/S16Chief Preparator/S12Chief Real Estate Officer/S16CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin14CHM Security Director13Clinic Coordinator I/S10Clinic Coordinator II/S11Clinic Manager I11Clinic Manager II12Clinical Laboratory Manager14Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr15Clinical Research Coordinator III/S12Clinical Research Coordinator III/S13Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S13	Catering And Sales Coordinator/S	12
Chief Information Security Officer/S16Chief of Staff/S16Chief Preparator/S12Chief Real Estate Officer/S16CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin14CHM Security Director13Clinic Coordinator I/S10Clinic Coordinator II/S11Clinic Manager I11Clinic Manager II12Clinical Laboratory Manager14Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr15Clinical Research Coordinator II/S12Clinical Research Coordinator III/S13Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S13	CGA/Sponsored Projects Sr Administrator	15
Chief of Staff/S16Chief Preparator/S12Chief Real Estate Officer/S16CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin14CHM Security Director13Clinic Coordinator I/S10Clinic Coordinator II/S11Clinic Manager I11Clinic Manager II12Clinical Laboratory Manager14Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr15Clinical Research Coordinator II/S12Clinical Research Coordinator III/S13Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S13	Chemical Safety Officer	14
Chief Preparator/S12Chief Real Estate Officer/S16CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin14CHM Security Director13Clinic Coordinator I/S10Clinic Coordinator II/S11Clinic Manager I11Clinic Manager II12Clinical Laboratory Manager14Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr15Clinical Research Coordinator II/S12Clinical Research Coordinator III/S13Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S13	Chief Information Security Officer/S	16
Chief Real Estate Officer/S  CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  CHM Security Director  Clinic Coordinator I/S  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager I  Clinic Manager II  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Laboratory Manager  Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13	Chief of Staff/S	16
CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin  CHM Security Director  Clinic Coordinator I/S  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager I  Clinic Manager II  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Laboratory Manager  Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13	Chief Preparator/S	12
CHM Security Director 13  Clinic Coordinator I/S 10  Clinic Coordinator II/S 11  Clinic Manager I 11  Clinic Manager II 12  Clinical Laboratory Manager 14  Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr 15  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 12  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S 13	Chief Real Estate Officer/S	16
Clinic Coordinator I/S  Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager I  Clinic Manager II  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Laboratory Manager  Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  10  11  12  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13	CHM Facilities Planner and Project Admin	14
Clinic Coordinator II/S  Clinic Manager I  Clinic Manager II  Clinic Manager II  Clinical Laboratory Manager  Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  11  12  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S  13	CHM Security Director	13
Clinic Manager I 11  Clinic Manager II 12  Clinical Laboratory Manager 14  Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr 15  Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 12  Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13  Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S 13	Clinic Coordinator I/S	10
Clinical Laboratory Manager 14 Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr 15 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 12 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13 Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S 13	Clinic Coordinator II/S	11
Clinical Laboratory Manager 14 Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr 15 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 12 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13 Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S 13	Clinic Manager I	11
Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr 15 Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 12 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13 Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S 13	Clinic Manager II	12
Clinical Research Coordinator II/S 12 Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13 Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S 13	Clinical Laboratory Manager	14
Clinical Research Coordinator III/S 13 Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S 13	Clinical Res Management System Proj Mgr	15
Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S 13	-	12
	Clinical Research Coordinator III/S	13
Clinical Research Informatics Tech III/S 13	Clinical Research Coverage Analyst/S	13
	Clinical Research Informatics Tech III/S	13

Collections Manager/Beal Bot Garden/S	13
Collections Manager/MSU Museum/S	12
College Alumni Coordinator/S	12
College of Human Med Operations Admin	15
College of Social Science Chief Of Staff	16
College Records Officer I/S	11
College Records Officer II/S	13
Communications Coordinator/S	10
Communications Manager I/S	12
Communications Manager II/S	14
Community Director Residence Education	88
Community Liaison Coordinator/S	12
Community Liaison Manager/S	15
Community Relations Administrator/S	13
Community Relations Manager/S	14
Compliance Auditor/S	13
Compliance Officer/S	15
Computer Laboratory Division Manager	17
Computer Shift Operations Supervisor	11
Conference Coordinator/Kellogg Bio Sta/S	10
Conference Mgr/Kellogg Bio Station	14
Conference Sales and Services Mgr	14
Consortium Coordinator I/S	13
Consortium Coordinator II/S	14
Construction and Maintenance Asst Mgr	16
Construction Contract Administrator/S	14
Contract & Grant/Spons Pgms Asst Dir	17
Contract & Grant/Sponsored Pgms Ad III/S	13
Contract & Grant/Sponsored Pgms Adm I/S	11
Contract & Grant/Sponsored Pgms Adm II/S	12
Contract & Grant/Sponsored Pgms Mgr	15
Core Facilities Assistant Director	14
Counseling Center Associate Director	16
Counseling Services Assistant Director	14
Counselor/S	12
Cowles House Manager	13
Culinary Services Retail & Events Mgr	14
Curator/S	12
Curriculum Administrator/S	13
Curriculum Assistant I/S	11
Curriculum Assistant II/S	12
Curriculum Coordinator I/S	11
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Curriculum Coordinator II/S	12
Custodial Service Manager	14
Custodial Supervisor	12
Cytogenetic Laboratory Technologist II/S	11
Dairy Plant Manager	13
Dairy Plant Operations Supervisor	11
Data Integrity Manager I/S	12
Data Integrity Manager II/S	13
Data Resource Analyst II/S	14
Data Resource Analyst/S	13
Data Resources Administrator/S	13
Deputy Chief of Police	16
Deputy Dir of Management Svcs Bureau	16
Development Assistant/S	10
Development Officer I/S	12
Development Officer II/S	14
Development Officer III/S	15
Development Officer IV	17
Development Research Manager	13
Dining Services Assistant Director	16
Dining Services Assistant Manager	10
Dining Services Complex Manager I	13
Dining Services Complex Manager II	15
Dining Services Manager I	11
Dining Services Manager II	12
Dining Services Sous Chef	10
Director of Multicultural Student Serv/S	16
Distribution & Photo Services Asst Mgr	14
Donor Recognition Coordinator/S	11
Donor Relations Assistant Manager	13
Donor Relations Manager	14
EBSP Director/Information Tech Asc Dir	17
Editor II/S	11
Editor III/S	13
Educ & Retreat Ctr Mgr/Kellogg Bio Sta	12
Education Program Coor I/S	11
Education Program Coor II/S	12
EIS Associate Director	16
EIS Data Resources Administrator/S	15
EIS Systems Analyst	13
Electron Microscopist III/S	13
Emp Assistance Counselor/S	13

Employee Assistance Coordinator	14
Employee Assistance Program Director/S	17
Employee Relations Assistant Director	15
Employee Relations Manager/S	15
Engagement Center Manager	14
Engineer V	17
Engineer/Architect II/S	12
Engineer/Architect III/S	14
Engineer/Architect IV/S	16
Engineering/Physicist Accelerator II/S	12
Engineering/Physicist Accelerator III/S	14
Engineering/Physicist Accelerator IV/S	15
Enrollment Services Assistant Director/S	14
Environmental Compliance Officer/S	14
Environmental Health/Safety Inspector/S	13
Environmental Health/Safety Supervisor	14
Equity Inclusion & Compl Sr Analyst I/S	14
Executive Assistant/S	12
Executive Chef/S	13
Executive Development Center Manager	15
Executive Secretary II/S	10
Executive Sous Chef/S	12
Executive Staff Assistant/S	11
Executive Staff Asst To The President/S	12
Exhibitions Manager/S	12
Facilities Coordinator/S	12
Facilities Planning Space Mgm Asst Dir/S	14
Facility Conference/Event Coordinator/S	12
Facility Manager/S	13
Faculty Organizational Dev AD/S	14
Farm Assistant Manager/S	12
Farm Manager I/S	13
Farm Manager II/S	14
Farm Manager III	15
FERPA Compliance Officer/S	12
Field Career Services Coordinator/S	13
Fin Pers & Info Sys Mgr/Physical Plant	17
Finance Assistant Manager/Analyst/S	12
Finance Manager	15
Finance Sr Asst Manager/Analyst/S	13
Financial Aid Assistant Director/S	14
Financial Aid Associate Director	15

	1
Financial Aid Officer II/S	12
Financial Aid Officer III/S	13
Financial Aid Senior Associate Director	16
Financial Analyst I/S	11
Financial Analyst II/S	13
Fire & Occupational Safety Inspector	13
Fire Marshal	15
FOIA Analyst/S	11
Food and Beverage Manager	14
Food Supervisor Trainee	9
Football Technology Manager	13
Forester Resident I	13
Forester Resident II	14
FRIB Business Operations Manager	13
FRIB Chief of Staff/S	16
FRIB Export Control & Compliance Mgr/S	15
FRIB Finance & Contracts Manager	14
FRIB Fiscal Officer	15
FRIB Human Resources Manager	15
FRIB Integration Engineer II/S	12
FRIB Integration Engineer III/S	14
FRIB Manufacturing Engineer/S	14
FRIB Material Handling Coordinator/S	12
FRIB Operations Accelerator Engr II/S	12
FRIB Operations Accelerator Engr III/S	14
FRIB Physical Security manager/S	14
FRIB Project Coordinator II/S	12
FRIB Senior Business Operations Manager	15
FRIB Senior Procurement Manager	15
FRIB Sr Environment Safety & Health Mgr	15
FRIB Sr Exprt Ctl & Trade Sanct Comp Mgr	15
FRIB Sr. Communications Manager	15
FRIB Sr. Information Technology Manager	15
FRIB Talent Manager	14
Genetics Counselor/S	13
Geospatial Space Analyst/S	12
Gift & Member Services Manager	13
Golf Course Maintenance Supervisor	12
Golf Course Manager	14
Golf Course Operations Manager/S	12
Golf Course Superintendent	14
Governmental Affairs Res/Comms Officer/S	16

Graphic Artist II/S	11
Graphic Artist III/S	12
Greenhouse Manager I/S	11
Greenhouse Manager II/S	12
Grounds Maintenance Manager	17
Guest Services Conference Manager	12
Hazardous Waste Coordinator/S	14
Head Athletic Trainer	15
Health Care Quality Project Coor II/S	14
Health Center Associate Director/Clinic	17
Health Education Service Assistant Dir	14
Health Physicist II/S	13
Health Promotion Administrator/S	13
Health Promotion Svcs Integration Coor	14
Health Team Chief Financial Officer	16
Healthcare Simulation Operations Manager	13
Histology Technician III/S	10
Horticulturist/S	12
Hospitality Services Sales Manager	15
House Manager/Performing Arts	13
Housekeeping Supervisor	10
Housing Operations Asst Complex Mgr I	10
HR Assistant Director/Benefits	15
HR SC Customer Service Manager	14
HRPP Compliance Analyst/S	13
Hum Res Assist Director/Solution Center	15
Hum Res Asst Dir/Human Resource Dev	15
Hum Res Asst Dir/Information Systems	15
Human Research Protection Prog Manager	14
Human Resources Analyst/S	12
Human Resources Assistant Director	15
Human Resources Associate Director	16
Human Resources Manager	14
Industrial Hygienist II/S	13
Information Technologist I/S	12
Information Technologist II/S	13
Information Technologist III/S	14
Information Technologist IV/S	15
Information Technologist Prof/S	11
Information Technology Associate Dir	17
Information Technology Asst Director	16
Information Technology Services Director	17

Information Technology/Chief Info Ofcr	16
Informational & Statistical Analyst II/S	12
Institution Ethics & Compliance Asst Dir	15
Institutional Equity Assistant Director	15
Inst'l Space Planning & MGT Assoc Dir	16
Institutional Review Board Admin I/S	11
Institutional Review Board Admin II/S	12
Institutional Review Board Admin III/S	13
Instruc Technology Support Services Mgr	14
Instructional Laboratory Coordinator/S	12
Intellectual Property Administrator/S	12
Intellectual Property Officer/S	13
Interior Designer IV/S	14
Internal Audit Assistant Director	16
International Business Ctr Asst Dir	14
International Student/Scholar Advsr I/S	12
International Student/Scholar Advsr II/S	13
Internl Students & Scholars Off Asc Dir	14
InternI Students & Scholars Off Asst Dir	13
Internl Students & Scholars Office Mgr	16
Intramural Sports Assistant Director/S	14
Intramural Sports Associate Director	15
Investment Operations Manager	15
Investments & Financial Mgmt Asc Dir	16
IPF Sustainability Project Manager/S	14
Kellogg Center Assistant Manager	14
Kellogg Center Engineering Svcs Manager	13
Kellogg Center General Manager	15
Kellogg Center Operations Manager	12
Kellogg Center Rooms Division Manager	13
Kellogg Center Senior Sales Manager/S	13
Laboratory Preparation Supervisor	10
Laboratory Technologist Manager	13
Laboratory Technologist Supervisor	12
Landscape Services Coordinator	13
LBGT Resource Center Manager	14
Learning Exp. Designer/Researcher/S	13
Library Assistant III/S	10
Library Assistant IV/S	12
Library Assistant V/S	13
Licensed Practical Nurse Supervisor	10
Management Analyst/S	14

Management Education Center Manager	14
Manager/Hidden Lake Gardens	14
Managmt Educ Ctr Operations/S	12
Manor House Director/Kellogg Bio Sta	12
Marketing & Communications Manager	14
Marketing and Sales Assistant/S	10
Marketing and Sales Coordinator/S	12
Marketing and Sales Manager/S	14
Marketplace Dining Services Manager	14
Marketplace Executive Chef	12
MAU Financial Officer/S	16
MAU Safety and Security Manager/S	14
Meat Laboratory Manager	13
Medical Laboratory Manager	13
Medical Records Service Manager	11
Medical Technologist III	12
Microcomputer Hardware/Software Coor/S	11
Minority Student Affairs Manager	15
MRI Service Manager	13
MSU Health Team Compliance Officer/S	14
MSU Health Team Contract Administrator	14
MSU Health Team Operations Administrator	15
MSU Union Facilities Manager	14
MSU Union Manager	14
Multicultural Development Coordinator/S	14
Munn Arena Assistant Manager	13
Munn Arena Mgr	14
Museum Registrar	12
Network Communications Manager	15
Night Manager/S	11
Nutritionist/S	12
Occupational Safety Compliance Officer/S	14
Occupational Therapist II/S	13
Ofc Of The Prov Budget & Personnel Ofcr	16
Off-Campus Grounds Manager	13
Off Campus Maintenance Manager	13
Office Of Clin Res Operations Admin Mgr	15
Office Supervisor I	10
Office Supervisor II	11
Office Supervisor III	12
OPB Assistant Budget Officer/S	14
Operations and Production Assistant Mgr	12

Operations and Safety Coordinator/S	12
Operations Forester/S	11
Operations Manager/Breslin Center	14
Operations Supervisor I	10
Operations Supervisor II	11
Operations Supervisor III	12
Performing Arts Assistant Director	14
Performing Arts Associate Director	15
Pest Management Supervisor	13
Pharmacist I/S	13
Pharmacist II	15
Physical Plant Human Resources Manager	15
Physical Therapist II	13
Physical Therapist III	14
Planetarium Manager	15
Planner/Inspector/Analyst I/S	11
Planner/Inspector/Analyst II/S	13
Planner/Inspector/Analyst III/S	14
Police Captain	15
Police Inspector	15
Police Lieutenant	14
Police Sergeant	89
Police Social Worker/S	14
Preparator/S	11
Procurement Coor/Contract Admin I/S	11
Procurement Coor/Contract Admin II/S	13
Producer/Director Of Photography/S	13
Production and Operations Manager/S	14
Programmer Analyst/S	11
Project Administrator/S	12
Project Manager/S	13
Project/Event Coordinator/S	11
Psychologist I/S	14
Psychologist II	15
Pub Rel Asst Dir/Sports Information/S	15
Public Safety Operations Director	17
Publications Design Coordinator/S	13
Purchasing Agent/S	12
Quality & Risk Mgt Administrator/S	14
Quality Management Coordinator/S	13
Radiation Safety Officer/S	14
Radiation Therapist/S	12

	<del></del>
Radiation/Chemical/Biological Safety Mgr	17
Radio Station Manager	15
Radio Station Program Manager/S	14
Radiologic Computer Systems Manager	15
Radiology Administrator	16
Radiology Service Manager	13
Real Estate Asset Administrator/S	15
Recruitment/Placement Asst Director/S	14
Registrar Assistant Supervisor	13
Registrar Associate	15
Registrar Senior Associate	16
Registrar Systems Manager	14
Rehabilitation Clinic Coordinator	14
Res/Instructional Equipment Tech II/S	12
Research Admin Information Tech Manager	16
Research Administration Manager/S	14
Research Administrative Associate/S	15
Research Administrator I/S	11
Research Administrator II/S	12
Research Administrator III/S	13
Research Assistant I/S	11
Research Assistant II/S	12
Research Assistant III/S	13
Research Biocontainment Facil Engineer/S	13
Research Biocontainment Facility Coor	12
Research Coordinator/S	13
Research Quality Assurance Officer/S	13
Residence Life Associate Director	15
Residence Life/Assistant Director I	14
Residential Life/Ast Director II/S	15
Respiratory Therapist/Pulm Func Tech/S	11
Respondent Advisor/S	14
Restaurant Chef	13
RHS Assignment Manager	14
RHS Chief Communications Officer	16
RHS Chief of Staff	16
RHS Concessions Operations Mgr	14
RHS Construction & Maintenance Manager	17
RHS Creative Services Manager	14
RHS Dietician	13
RHS Facilities Assistant Manager	12
RHS Facilities Manager I	13

RHS Facilities Manager II  RHS Facilities Supervisor  RHS Human Resources Manager  RHS Planner/Inspector/Analyst/S  RHS Planning & Projects Manager  RHS Senior Executive Chef  RHS Strategic Initiatives Implment Mgr/S  RHS Support Services Manager  16  RHS Sustainability Officer/S  RHS System Chief Information Officer  Risk Management & Insurance Asst Dir  Risk Mgmt and Insurance Manager  15  15  16  16  17  18  18  19  19  10  10  11  11  12  13  14  15  16  16  16  17  18  18  18  18  18  18  18  18  18
RHS Human Resources Manager  RHS Planner/Inspector/Analyst/S  RHS Planning & Projects Manager  RHS Senior Executive Chef  RHS Strategic Initiatives Implment Mgr/S  RHS Support Services Manager  RHS Sustainability Officer/S  RHS System Chief Information Officer  Risk Management & Insurance Asst Dir  Risk Mgmt and Insurance Manager  15  15  16  16  16  17  18  18  19  19  10  10  11  10  11  11  11  12  13  14  15  15  16  16  17  18  18  18  18  18  18  18  18  18
RHS Planner/Inspector/Analyst/S  RHS Planning & Projects Manager  RHS Senior Executive Chef  RHS Strategic Initiatives Implment Mgr/S  RHS Support Services Manager  16  RHS Sustainability Officer/S  RHS System Chief Information Officer  Risk Management & Insurance Asst Dir  Risk Mgmt and Insurance Manager  15
RHS Planning & Projects Manager 16 RHS Senior Executive Chef 15 RHS Strategic Initiatives Implment Mgr/S 16 RHS Support Services Manager 16 RHS Sustainability Officer/S 14 RHS System Chief Information Officer 16 Risk Management & Insurance Asst Dir 16 Risk Mgmt and Insurance Manager 15
RHS Senior Executive Chef  RHS Strategic Initiatives Implment Mgr/S  RHS Support Services Manager  RHS Sustainability Officer/S  RHS System Chief Information Officer  Risk Management & Insurance Asst Dir  Risk Mgmt and Insurance Manager  15
RHS Strategic Initiatives Implment Mgr/S  RHS Support Services Manager  RHS Sustainability Officer/S  RHS System Chief Information Officer  Risk Management & Insurance Asst Dir  Risk Mgmt and Insurance Manager  15
RHS Support Services Manager 16 RHS Sustainability Officer/S 14 RHS System Chief Information Officer 16 Risk Management & Insurance Asst Dir 16 Risk Mgmt and Insurance Manager 15
RHS Sustainability Officer/S 14  RHS System Chief Information Officer 16  Risk Management & Insurance Asst Dir 16  Risk Mgmt and Insurance Manager 15
RHS System Chief Information Officer 16 Risk Management & Insurance Asst Dir 16 Risk Mgmt and Insurance Manager 15
Risk Management & Insurance Asst Dir 16 Risk Mgmt and Insurance Manager 15
Risk Mgmt and Insurance Manager 15
3
RN Practice Plan Manager 13
Safe Place Director 17
Safe Place Manager 13
Safety Manager/S 14
Sci Instrument Facility Supervisor 13
Scientific Instrument Facility Supervisor 13
Scientific Instrument Facil. Coord/S 13
Senior Admin. Business Professional/S 13
Senior Communications Manager/S 15
Senior Controller/Manager 16
Senior Finance Officer/S
Senior Human Resources Professional I/S 13
Senior Human Resources Professional II/S 14
Senior Purchasing Agent/S 14
Senior Supply Chain Analyst 12
Service Learning Center Asst Director 14
Service Manager I 11
Service Manager II 12
Service Manager III 13
Service Manager IV 15
Service Manager V 16
Sexual Assault Program Assoc Director/S 15
Sexual Assault Program Director/S 17
Sexual Assault Safety Program Coor/S 13
Shooting Range Manager 14
Skilled Trades Supervisor 14
SLE Chief Financial Officer 16
Capial Manham/C
Social Worker/S 12
Sous Chef/S 12 Spartan Hospitality Group Manager 17

Cura a da Tharra wist II	12
Speech Therapist II	13
Sports Performance Professional/S	11
Sr University Academic Event Planner/S	13
Sr. Assoc. Dir. of Broadcast Operations	16
Sr. Assoc. Dir. Education & Housing Serv	17
Sr. Associate Director Culinary Services	17
Sr. Communications and Marketing Officer	15
Sr. Learning Exp. Designer Researcher/S	13
Sr. Marketing and Communications Officer	16
Staff Physician/S	16
Sterilization Unit Supervisor	13
Strategic Contracts Manager	15
Strategic Initiatives Implement Mgr/S	16
Stud-Athlete Life Skills/Acadc Ctr Mgr	13
Student Behavior/Conflict Resolution Adm	14
Student Employment Assistant Director	14
Student Employment Coordinator/S	11
Student Life Assistant Director/S	14
Student Life Manager	15
Student Services Assistant I/S	10
Student Services Assistant II/S	12
Student Services Coordinator/S	14
Study Abroad Assistant Director	14
Study Abroad Associate Director	15
Study Abroad Program Administrator/S	13
Study Abroad Program Coordinator/S	12
Study Abroad Travel Security Admin/S	14
Supply Chain Analyst I/S	10
Supply Chain Analyst III/S	12
Systems Analyst I/S	12
Systems Analyst II/S	13
Systems Analyst III/S	14
Systems Programmer II/S	13
Systems Programmer III/S	14
Technical Facilities Mgr/Performing Arts	14
Technical Services Chief Engineer	16
Telecomm Production/Operations Manager	15
Telecomm Technical Services Manager	15
Telecommunications Operations Manager/S	13
Telecommunications Senior Producer	15
Telecommunications Systems Manager	17
Television Assistant Program Manager/S	13
	10

	1
Television Producer/Director I/S	13
Television Producer/Director II/S	14
Television Station Manager	15
Tennis Facility Manager	13
Testing Services Manager	13
Ticket Office Assistant Manager/S	11
Ticket Office Associate Manager/S	12
Ticket Office Manager	13
Training Program Developer III/S	12
Training Program Developer IV/S	13
Transportation Services Asst Manager	14
Unit Human Resources Administrator I/S	12
Unit Human Resources Administrator II/S	13
Unit Human Resources Coordinator/S	10
Unit Information Systems Manager/S	14
Univ Advancement Computer Systems Mgr	15
Univ Advancement Systems Mgr	17
Univ Development Research Coor	12
Univ Communications Multimedia SVCS Mgr	14
Univ Development Research Analyst/S	12
University Activities Board Manager	13
University Apartments Assistant Manager	14
University Apartments Manager	15
University Communications Assoc Dir	16
University Communications Asst Dir/S	15
University Curriculum Administrator	14
University Development Researcher I/S	10
University Development Researcher II/S	11
University Events Coordinator/S	13
University Licensing Manager	14
University Management Analyst/S	16
University Police Support Unit Admin	15
University Press Editor/S	11
University Services Asst Dir-Logistics	17
University Services Dir- Procurement	17
University Travel Manager	14
User Experience Designer/S	13
Veterinarian/Clinical/S	15
Veterinary Laboratory Technologist III	12
Veterinary Technician III	12
Veterinary Technician IV/S	13
Virtual Univ Design & Technology Mgr	15

Vocational Rehabilitation Counselor II	14
Waste Reduction Coordinator/S	12
Worklife Services Admin Manager/S	14



# LETTER OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY, THE EMPLOYER, AND MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY ADMINISTRATIVE-PROFESSIONAL SUPERVISORS ASSOCIATION

As a result of discussions between the parties the following is hereby agreed.

1. For the purposes of Overtime, Employees classified as

<u>Custodial Supervisor</u> - located within the Infrastructure, Planning and Facilities
<u>Skilled Trades Supervisor</u> - located within the Infrastructure, Planning and Facilities
<u>FRIB Operations Accelerator Engineer II/III/S</u> - located within the Facility for Rare Isotope
Beams

<u>Golf Course Maintenance Supervisor</u> - located within Landscape Services Department <u>Landscape Services Coordinator</u> - located within Landscape Services Department

shall be eligible for overtime consideration as follows:



### Human Resources

**Employee Relations** 

Michigan State University 1407 S. Harrison, Suite 240 East Lansing, MI 48823-5239

> 517-353-5510 Fax: 517-353-3523 www. hr. msu. edu

Overtime is defined as scheduled hours worked, in excess of forty (40) hours in an Employee's work week for which the Employee will receive payment or compensatory time off at the rate of time and one-half (1-1/2).

Employees shall have the right to indicate their preference for pay or compensatory time for overtime worked. If the Employee wishes to receive compensatory time, the request must be approved by the Unit Administrator.

Compensatory time off shall be mutually arranged between the Employee and Unit Administrator.

For the purpose of computing overtime, holiday hours paid will be considered time worked. If an Employee has an unexcused absence on either their regularly scheduled working day immediately preceding or their regularly scheduled working day immediately following the holiday, the holiday hours will not be considered time worked for the purposes of overtime. Overtime premium shall not be pyramided, compounded or paid twice for the same time worked.

Unit Administrators, or their authorized representatives, are responsible for the approval of overtime work prior to the performance of overtime work. Approval means time worked as

directed by the Administrator and does not include casual or unscheduled time spent at work beyond the normal work day or work week.

- 2. In certain emergency or unusual situations, consideration may be given for overtime pay to those Employees who are called to render special services not usually a part of their regular duties or responsibilities. In those cases, it will be necessary to obtain the approval of the administrative head and MSU Human Resources before authorizing overtime pay. Application of this provision is at the sole discretion of the Employer.
- 3. For purposes of Emergency Duty, Call-back, Employees classified as Skilled Trades Supervisor and located within Infrastructure, Planning and Facilities shall be eligible for call-back consideration as follows:

An Employee reporting for emergency duty at the Employer's request for work which they had not been notified of in advance and which is outside of and not contiguous with their regular work period, shall be guaranteed three (3) hours pay, and three (3) hours work, at the rate of time and one-half (1-1/2).

4. For purposes of Late Work Hours, (defined as any shift that begins between the hours of 3:00 PM and Midnight) Employees classified as Custodial Supervisor and located within the Infrastructure, Planning and Facilities Division, Skilled Trades Supervisor and located within the Infrastructure, Planning and Facilities Division and Employees working in the Residential and Hospitality Services Division shall be eligible for Late Work Hour consideration (other classifications having regularly scheduled late work hours will be added upon mutual agreement of the parties) as follows:

Employees who work Late Work Hours shall receive an additional One Thousand Forty (\$1,040. 00) Dollars added to their annual base salary while regularly assigned to that shift. This shall be removed from the employee's base salary when the employee moves to a shift that does not begin between the hours of 3:00 PM and Midnight.

Disputes regarding this provision to be raised in special conference.

- 5. The parties agree to meet at request of either party relative to matters directly pertaining to this Agreement.
- 6. Standby Pay
- A. Standby is a situation in which an off-duty bargaining unit Employee is officially advised and scheduled by their supervisor to be available to return to work during a specified period of time.
- B. Employees in grade levels 9, 10, and 11 who are assigned and scheduled to "standby" status shall be paid one (1) hour of pay at straight time or its equivalent in compensatory time (by mutual

agreement) for every twenty-four (24) hour period that they are is scheduled on standby. Employees assigned to standby status are required to be available for duty by leaving word at their homes or with their supervisors where they can be reached by phone and to be in a position to report to work immediately when called. A standby assignment which results in a call to report to work is not eligible for standby pay. Upon reporting to work, Employees shall be paid for the actual time worked at the rate of time and one-half, or a minimum of two (2) hours, whichever is greater.

7. This Letter of Agreement will remain in effect until September 30, 2027, for Employees within classifications specifically identified above. Additions, deletions, or modifications may be made with the mutual agreement of the parties.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE ASSOCIATION
Amy B. Holda, Interim Director office of	Jose Martin Garza, President
Employee Relations	Administrative Professional Supervisors Association
Date:	Date:



### Letter of Agreement between Michigan State University, the Employer, and

Michigan State University Administrative Professional Supervisors
Association, the Association

The Employer shall maintain electronic copies of the Agreement on its website and Employees shall be permitted to print a copy of the Agreement at the workplace.

	FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE ASSOCIATION
	Amy B. Holda, Interim Director Office of Employee Relations	Jose Martin Garza, President Administrative Professional
CAN 5	Date:	Supervisors Association  Date:

### Human Resources

**Employee Relations** 

Michigan State University 1407 S. Harrison, Suite 240 East Lansing, MI 48823-5239



### LETTER OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY, THE EMPLOYER, AND MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY ADMINISTRATIVE-PROFESSIONAL

SUPERVISORS ASSOCIATION

The purpose of paid parental leave is to enable the Employee to care for and bond with a newborn or a newly adopted or newly placed child. The Employer will maintain a policy minimally containing the following negotiated components:

### Eligibility

To be eligible for paid parental leave, Employees must meet the following criteria:

- Have been continuously employed with Michigan State University on a full-time basis, for at least 24 consecutive months prior to commencement of the leave.
- Have worked at least 1,250 hours during the 12 consecutive months immediately preceding the date the leave would begin.
- Be a full-time regular employee (part-time, temporary employees and on call are not eligible for this benefit).
- Meet one of the following:
  - Be the parent of a newborn and to care for the newborn child; or
  - Be the parent of a child under the age of 18, that is newly added to the household through adoption, legal guardianship, or foster care child; or
- This policy applies to a child that is newly added to the household through adoption, guardianship or foster care and not a child who is already a member of the household.
- An Employee will not receive more than six (6) weeks of paid parental leave in any twelve-month period, regardless of whether more than one birth, adoption, guardianship or foster placement occurs.
- In situations where the University employs both parents of a newborn/adopted child
  as eligible support staff, each may have the stated amount of paid parental leave
  under this policy. Parents employed in the same department or unit should plan the
  timing of their leaves in consultation with the chairperson, director, manager,
  supervisor, or dean.



### Human Resources

### Employee Relations

Michigan State University 1407 S. Harrison, Suite 240 East Lansing, MI 48823-5239

> 517-353-5510 Fax: 517-353-3523 www. hr. msu. edu

### **General Information**

Time Frame and Compensation:

- Paid parental leave is compensated at 100 percent of the Employee's regular, base pay. Paid parental leave will be paid on regularly scheduled payroll dates.
- Paid parental leave is intended to be taken as a single, continuous block of time.

- Paid Parental leave shall be taken, and completed, within twelve (12) months of the qualifying event.
- Paid parental leave must be used upon commencement of the leave, or for birthing parents, at the time of the birth. Other applicable quotas may be applied, following the paid parental leave, prior to the leave of absence becoming unpaid.
- Upon termination of the individual's employment at Michigan State University, the Employee will not be paid for any unused paid parental leave for which they were eligible.

### **Coordination With Other Policies**

- Paid parental leave taken under this policy will run concurrently with leave under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA); the time off will be counted toward the 12 weeks of available FMLA. All other requirements and provisions under the FMLA will apply.
   In no case will the total amount of leave whether paid or unpaid granted to the Employee under the FMLA exceed 12 weeks during the 12-month FMLA period.
   Please refer to the family and medical leave policy for further guidance on the FMLA.
- Upon a child's birth, the birthing parent must begin a qualifying medical leave of absence by using available paid parental leave. Once paid parental leave is exhausted, the birthing parent may then use sick quotas. If sick quotas are exhausted, it is optional to use vacation, personal, or personal observance quotas prior to becoming unpaid.
  - o If the birthing parent is placed on a medical leave of absence before the child's birth, then the birthing parent must begin a qualifying medical leave of absence by using available sick quotas. If sick quotas are exhausted, it is optional to use vacation, personal, and/or personal observance quotas prior to becoming unpaid, if the birthing parent has not yet given birth.
    - If quotas are exhausted, and the parent has given birth, then paid parental leave must be exhausted before beginning unpaid leave of absence.
  - Per MSU's sick time policy, birthing parents could qualify for an additional four (4) weeks of maternity leave. Sick leave quotas may not be used to cover this time; the employee may use vacation, personal, personal observance, or unpaid time. Please see the support staff sick time policy for further details.
- Upon a child's birth, non-birthing parents, must begin their leave of absence by using paid parental leave. Once parental leave is exhausted, they may use family sick quotas. If family sick is exhausted, it is optional to use vacation, personal, and/or personal observance quotas, prior to becoming unpaid.
- Upon placement of a child via either adoption, guardianship, or foster care, parent must begin their leave of absence by using paid parental leave. Once parental leave is exhausted, they may use family sick, vacation, personal, and/or personal observance quotas, prior to becoming unpaid.
- Michigan State University will maintain all employer paid benefits for which employees are eligible during the paid parental leave period Employees will remain responsible for any employee premiums, contributions, or other required costs.

- If a University holiday occurs while the employee is on paid parental leave, such day will be charged to holiday pay; however, such holiday pay will not extend the total paid parental leave entitlement.
- An Employee who takes paid parental leave that does not qualify for FMLA leave will be afforded the same level of job protection for the period of time that the employee is on paid parental leave as if the employee were on FMLA-qualifying leave.

### Return To Work:

- MSU Human Resources or the department may require an Employee to report periodically on their status and intent to return to work.
- An Employee needs to notify MSU Human Resources in writing of return-to-work date at least two business days in advance but does not need to provide a note from health care provider.

FOR THE UNIVERSITY	FOR THE ASSOCIATION
Amy B. Holda, Interim Director Office of Employee Relations	Jose Martin Garza, President Administrative Professional Supervisors Association
Date:	Date:



### Letter of Agreement Between Michigan State University, The Employer And

MSU Administrative Professional Supervisors Association, The Association

RE: Additional Pay for Non-Standard Schedules

It is recognized that the Facility for Rare Isotope Beams (FRIB) operates continuously most days of the year. While it has the sole authority to schedule employees, the FRIB wishes to attract and retain employees to schedules outside of standard daytime schedules and therefore compensates those with additional pay. As a result of discussions between the parties the following is hereby agreed:

- 1. Employees in the classifications FRIB Operations Accelerator Engineer II/III/S regularly scheduled to begin work on or after 3:00pm but before 11:00pm and on or after 11:00am but before 11:00pm during weekends shall receive an additional five percent (5%) pay per hour per date actually worked. This does not include someone regularly scheduled to begin work at another time that reports to work early or works past their regular ending time.
- 2. Employees in the classifications FRIB Operations Accelerator Engineer II/III/S regularly scheduled to work the shift beginning on or after 12:00am but before 8:00am shall receive an additional ten percent (10%) pay per date actually worked. This does not include someone regularly scheduled to begin work at another time that reports to work early or works past their regular ending time.
- 3. The additional pay will not be received during times of paid time off including but not limited to sick, vacation, compensatory time, funeral leave, etc.



### Human Resources

Employee Relations

Michigan State University 1407 S. Harrison, Suite 240 East Lansing, MI 48823-5239

For the Employer	For the Association
Amy B. Holda, Interim Director Office of Employee Relations	Jose Martin Garza, President Administrative Professional Supervisors Association
Date	Date



### Letter of Agreement Between Michigan State University, The Employer And MSU Administrative Professional Supervisors Association, The Association

Re: Drug Testing for Safety-Sensitive Positions

The Employer will develop a drug and alcohol testing program for those employed in safety-sensitive positions to include random, periodic, reasonable suspicion, post-accident testing at a minimum.

After development and prior to implementation, the Employer and the Association will discuss the final policy/program and will bargain over mandatory topics of bargaining on the policy/program, which differ from the draft presented to the association on 10/20/23.



The program will be implemented as needed and not necessarily across the University.

### Human Resources

**Employee Relations** 

Michigan State University 1407 S. Harrison, Suite 240 East Lansing, MI 48823-5239

For the Employer	For the Association
Amy B. Holda, Interim Director Office of Employee Relations	Jose Martin Garza, President Administrative Professional Supervisors Association



## Letter of Agreement Between Michigan State University, The Employer And MSU Administrative Professional Supervisors Association, The Association

Re: DPPS Scheduling

The Employer and the Association agree to meet, upon request, during the term of the Agreement to discuss police scheduling models. Both parties retain their respective rights under the terms of the collective bargaining agreement.



### Human Resources

**Employee Relations** 

Michigan State University 1407 S. Harrison, Suite 240 East Lansing, MI 48823-5239

For the Employer	For the Association		
Amy B. Holda, Interim Director Office of Employee Relations	Jose Martin Garza, President Administrative Professional Supervisors Association		



### Letter of Agreement Between Michigan State University, The Employer MSU Administrative Professional Supervisors Association, The Association

**RE: Classification Review** 

Whereas, the University has informed the Union of its intention to conduct a broad review of the classification system for support staff employees;

And whereas, the parties anticipate this classification review will be a significant effort that will last for an unknown duration,

The Parties have agreed as follows:

- 1. The Union recognizes the University's right to institute a review and revision of its current classification system, and to make changes to the current system or to replace the current system entirely.
- 2. The following shall apply:
  - a. The University shall inform the Union when it begins any broad review of the classification system as a whole, and will meet with the Union at least once a month while such a review is on-going to solicit the Union's input on this process.
  - b. The University agrees to meet with the Union upon demand to bargain in good faith over the impacts of this review upon wages and other mandatory subjects of bargaining. The University is willing to consider the concept of "redlining" Employees impacted by the results of the review but cannot guarantee that outcome.
- 3. This Letter of Agreement does not apply to routine reviews of classifications as have occurred in the past.



**Employee Relations** 

Michigan State University 1407 S. Harrison, Suite 240 East Lansing, MI 48823-5239

For the Employer	For the Association
Amy B. Holda, Interim Director Office of Employee Relations	Jose Martin Garza, President Administrative Professional Supervisors Association
Date	Date

### **ALPHABETICAL INDEX**

Article		Page
16	ABSENCES	65
	Absences Without Pay [Ten (10) Days or Less]	65
	Absences Without Pay Including Layoff [Exceeding Ten (10) Days]	65
	Accidental Death and Dismemberment	75
	Additional Pay for Non-Standard Schedules	126
	Agreement	9
	Aid to Other Labor Organizations	25
	APPENDIX I	109
	Arbitration	30
	Arbitrator's Powers	30
	Association Assistance	28
	Association-Employer Meetings	31
	Association President	22
4	ASSOCIATION RECOGNITION	18
	Association Representative	23
5	ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	21
6	ASSOCIATION SECURITY	24
	Automobiles and Equipment (Special Provisions)	103
	Bargaining Committee	23
	Bargaining Unit Work	21
	Basic Life Plan	76
	Benefit Overview	72
	Bereavement Leave	77
	Certified and/or Recognition of the Association	18
	Check-off	24
11	CLASSIFICATION/RECLASSIFICATION OF POSITIONS	57
18	COMPENSATION PROGRAMS	68
	Computation of Back Wages	27
	Contributions (Retirement Benefits)	93
	Coordination with Other Types of Pay or Benefits	82
	Course Fee Courtesy Policy	90
	Course Fee Courtesy Program	90
	Definition (Flexible Appointments)	33
	Definition (Seniority)	62
	Definition of Grievance	28
	Definition of Terms	15
2	DEFINITIONS	12
	Demotion	59
	Dental Plan	74
	Disputes Concerning Compliance	25

	Education Assistance	86
	Educational Leave of Absence for Veterans	65
22	EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS	86
	Effective Date	10
	8 Hour Work Days (Sergeants)	99
	Election Committee	23
	Electronic Copies of Agreement (Letter of Agreement)	128
	Eligibility (Educational Programs)	88
	Employee Paid Life Plan	75
	Employee Rights	26
	Employment Status	12
	Excluded From Arbitration	31
	Expedited Disputes	37
	Extended Disability Leave	95
	Fallen Officer Leave (Special Provisions)	102
10	FILLING VACANT POSITIONS	55
	Finality of Decisions	31
8	FLEXIBLE APPOINTMENTS	33
	Flexible Appointments	33
	Flexible Positions	34
	Formal Grievance Procedure	29
	Fringe Benefits	35
	Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Service Months	13
	Full-Time Part-Time Status Considerations	83
	General Provisions (Flexible Appointments)	34
	General Provisions (Leaves of Absence With Pay)	77
	General Provisions (Reduction in Force)	38
	General Provisions (Sick Leave)	81
	Grievance Committee	26
	Grievance Definition and Procedure	28
	Grievances Concerning Discipline	28
	Group Grievance	28
19	HEALTH BENEFITS	73
	Health Care Coverage	73
	Holidays	78
	Holidays/Special Pass Days (Sergeants)	102
	Hours of Employment Status	13
	Hours Worked Records	37
20	INSURANCE PROGRAMS	75
	Interviews	56
	Job Classifications and Levels	109
	Jury Duty Pay	79
	Layoff Transition Adjustment	52

17	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	65
21	LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITH PAY	77
	Long Term Disability Plan	96
	Longevity Pay	71
	Loss of Seniority	62
	Lost Time	23
	Management Rights	16
3	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND SECURITY	17
	Management Security	17
	Maternity Leave	79
	Medical Disputes	32
	Membership	24
	Military Duty Pay	80
	Minimum Hiring Levels	68
	Miscellaneous (Sergeants)	103
	New Classifications and Rates	57
	New Minimum Rates	69
	No Discrimination	21
	Non-Credit Courses	89
	Notice and Employee Statements (Official Personnel Folder)	63
	Notice Requirements	37
15	OFFICIAL PERSONNEL FOLDER(S)	63
	On-Call (Sergeants)	97
	Other Agreement	25
	Other Employment	36
	Other Provisions (Sick Leave)	83
	Overtime	70
	Overtime, Call Back, Shift Differential (Letter of Agreement)	125
	Parental Leave (Letter of Agreement)	129
	Past Counseling Memorandums (Official Personnel Folder)	64
	Past Disciplinary Action (Official Personnel Folder)	63
	Patrol Sergeants-Uniform Division-Twelve (12) Hour Work Shifts	97
	Payment Schedule (Longevity Pay)	69
	Personal Leave Days	80
	Position Maintenance	37
	Probationary Period	60
	Probationary Periods	36
13	PROBATIONARY/TRIAL PERIOD	60
	Procedure (Absences)	65
	Procedure (Filling Vacant Positions)	54
	Procedure (Official Personnel Folders)	63
	Promotion	59
12	PROMOTION/DEMOTION	59

	Proportional Benefits	15
	PURPOSE AND INTENT	9
	Recall from Layoff	51
	Reclassifications	57
	Recognition	18
9	REDUCTION IN FORCE	38
	Release Time (Association Rights)	22
	Release Time (Educational Programs)	87
	Representation	26
	Reprimand, Suspension or Discharge	27
	Retiree/Over 65 Life Plan	76
23	RETIREMENT BENEFITS	93
	Return to Active Employment	36
	Revocation Cards	25
	Rights	21
	Right to Examine	63
	Rules and Regulations	21
	Salary Increase 2023	69
	Salary Increase 2024	69
	Salary Increase 2025-2026	69
	Salary Payments	37
	Salary Progression (Sergeants)	104
	Salary Progression Program	69
	Salary Rate	57
	Scheduling (Sergeants)	97
14	SENIORITY	62
7	SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES	26
	Sick Leave	81
	Special Conferences	31
25	SPECIAL PROVISIONS	97
26	SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR COMMUNITY DIRECTORS	107
	Status of Employment	12
	Step 1	29
	Step 2	29
	Step 3	30
	Step 4	30
	Successor Negotiations	10
	Termination	53
1	TERMS OF AGREEMENT	9
	Time Limits	27
	Travel Accident Plan	76
	Trial Period	60
	Tuition Reimbursement	87

	Tuition Waiver	88
	Uniforms (Sergeants)	103
	Units	40
	Unused Sick Leave Credits	54
	Usage (Leaves of Absence)	66
	Usage Requirements (Vacation Pay)	84
	Vacation Pay	84
	Waiver of Grievance Steps	27
	Worker's Compensation	95
24	WORKER'S COMPENSATION AND DISABILITY	95
	Worker's Compensation (Long Term)	96
	Written Evaluations	60